## THE UNIVERSITY OF HULL

## Impact of Dietary Manipulation on Cardiac Hypertrophy

being a Thesis submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in the University of Hull

by

Thomas J. Butler BSc (Hons)

February, 2012

## Abstract

Left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) is a significant risk factor for the development of heart failure (HF), the incidence of which is increased by obesity. Diets high in fat and sugar have been linked with the development of the metabolic syndrome and obesity, and may expose the heart to a unique environment via the differential actions of dietary macronutrients. The main objectives of this study were to determine the effect of differing dietary regimens upon (i) the progression of LVH and whole organism morphology (ii) function and metabolism in the hypertrophied heart, and (iii) cardiac ceramide content.

Cardiac hypertrophy was surgically induced in male Sprague-Dawley rats via abdominal aortic constriction (AC). Animals were assigned to either a diet containing 5% sucrose/7% fat (standard diet, SD), 9 % sucrose/45 % fat (high-fat diet, HFD), or 14% sucrose/44% fat (western diet, WD) for 9 weeks. LVH was observed in all AC groups but was greatest in those fed a SD or WD. Both HFD and WD resulted in a significant increase in abdominal fat mass, which was positively associated with serum concentrations of leptin.

*In vitro* cardiac function was unaltered by any dietary regimen alone, but was significantly enhanced in hypertrophied hearts from HFD and WD-fed animals, consistent with a compensated phase of hypertrophic remodelling. This was accompanied by a small reduction in palmitate oxidation and increased reliance upon lactate, an effect which was exacerbated in hearts from WD-fed animals. In WD-fed animals, there was a substantial increase in cardiac triglyceride (TG), which was not affected by AC. PPARα protein was reduced following AC in the hearts of animals fed a SD or WD, whereas the HFD prevented this decline. CD36 protein expression was not different between control and AC animals, but was highest in those fed a WD.

In addition to elevated TG, WD hearts also exhibited a significant accumulation of long-chain ceramide species (C16-C24) compared with other dietary groups; consistent with metabolic remodelling. This effect was observed independent of AC. In order to simulate a model of HF, WD animals were treated with adriamycin (ADR), and cardiac ceramide content was further increased with the specific accumulation of C16 and C18 ceramide.

These findings suggest that dietary macronutrient composition can have a profound effect upon the progression of LVH. Furthermore, the enhanced ceramide content in WD hearts indicates that the macronutrient composition of this dietary profile is most deleterious to the hypertrophied heart. Prolonged exposure of the hypertrophied heart to the WD may lead to increased apoptosis and accelerate the transition to HF.

## Acknowledgments

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Anne-Marie Seymour and Dr. David Ashford for their constant support, patience and understanding throughout this work. In particular, I would like to thank David for all the time spent with me during the mass spectrometry experiments, and Anne-Marie for the supervision whilst writing the thesis.

I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to Mrs. Kath Bulmer for technical assistance. Kath, you have been a fantastic teacher and it seems appropriate to mention that the reason we in the lab are all so capable with heart perfusions and western blotting is because we all learned from you. In addition, I would like to thank Mrs. Jenny Foster, Laura Goodlass, and Mr. Mathew Sanderson for exceptional care of the experimental animals. I would especially like to thank Jenny and Laura for their care of the animals whilst receiving the adriamycin treatment.

To my family, thank you for always supporting and reminding me that it's OK to have a break every now and then. Rosie, your random science questions have brought much enjoyment after a long day at work. I should also like to thank my colleagues in the lab (past and present), David Semple, Katie Smith, David Taylor, and Amy Dawson for making my time there all the more enjoyable.

Furthermore, I owe a great deal of thanks to Amy Vickery for being my intermittent landlady over the last 3 years, companion in ranting at the world when experiments have not gone according to plan, and for showing me that a PhD stipend will stretch to late-night Sunday bowling and buying crumpets and jam.

Lastly, I am extremely grateful to The Hull and East Riding Cardiac Research Trust Fund who have supported this study, and also the University of Hull Clinical Biosciences Institute for my studentship for the last 3 years.

## Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgments	iii
Contents	iv
Figure list	ix
Table list	xi
Equations	xii
Abbreviations	xiii
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Cardiac metabolism in the healthy heart	2
1.1.1 Lipid uptake and metabolism	2
1.1.2 Glucose metabolism	5
1.1.3 Lactate metabolism	8
1.2 Control of cardiac metabolism	8
1.3 Cardiac hypertrophy	9
1.3.1 Stages of hypertrophy	10
1.3.2 Structural and cellular remodelling	10
1.3.3 Metabolic remodelling in left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH)	12
1.3.3.1 Fatty acid metabolism in the hypertrophied heart	13
1.3.3.2 Glucose metabolism in the hypertrophied heart	13
1.3.3.3 Endogenous substrates usage in the hypertrophied heart	14
1.3.4 Experimental models of LVH and failure	15
1.4 Obesity	16
1.4.1 Atherogenic effects of fatty acids	17
1.4.2 Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ	20
1.4.2.1 Leptin	22
1.4.2.2 Adiponectin	25
1.4.2.3 Insulin	26
1.4.3 Obesity and cardiac function	27
1.4.4 Genetic models of obesity and LVH	28
1.4.4.1 ob/ob and db/db mice	28
1.4.4.2 Zucker diabetic fatty (ZDF) rat (fa/fa)	29

1.5 Objectives	30
Chapter 2 Materials and methods	32
2.1 Materials	33
2.2 Methods	35
2.2.1 Surgical induction of pressure-overload hypertrophy	35
2.2.2 Dietary regimen	37
2.2.3 Preparation of Krebs-Henseleit (KH) buffer	38
2.2.4 Preparation of bovine serum albumin (BSA) buffer containing palmitate	38
2.2.4.1 Preparation of dialysis tubing	38
2.2.4.2 Preparation of 3% BSA buffer containing substrates	38
2.2.5 Isolated heart perfusion	39
2.2.5.1 Perfusion protocol	40
2.2.5.2 In vitro cardiac function	40
2.2.5.3 Myocardial oxygen consumption (MVO <sub>2</sub> )	41
2.2.5.4 Indices of cardiac hypertrophy	42
2.2.5.5 Assessment of model adiposity	42
2.2.5.6 Haematocrit and serum analysis	42
2.2.6 Metabolite assays	42
2.2.6.1 Tissue extraction of glycogen	42
2.2.6.1.1 Glucose assay	43
2.2.6.2 Tissue extraction of triglyceride and free fatty acids	44
2.2.6.2.1 Triglyceride assay	44
2.2.6.2.2 Free fatty acid assay	45
2.2.7 Mitochondrial enzyme assays	47
2.2.7.1 Medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (MCAD) assay	47
2.2.7.2 Citrate synthase (CS) assay procedure	48
2.2.7.3 Pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) assay	48
2.2.8 Hormones	49
2.2.8.1 Leptin	49
2.2.8.2 Insulin	50
2.2.9 <sup>13</sup> C Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy	51
2.2.10 Lipid histology	55
2.2.11 Western blotting	58
2.2.11.1 Sample preparation	58

2.2.11.2 Subcellular membrane isolation	58
2.2.11.3 SDS-PAGE and blotting	58
2.2.11.4 Visualisation using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)	59
2.2.12 Statistical analysis	59
Chapter 3 Characterisation of experimental hypertrophy	61
3.1 Introduction	62
3.1.1 Impact of diet upon morphology	62
3.1.2. Dietary modulation of cardiac hypertrophy	62
3.1.3 Objectives	63
3.2 Materials and Methods	64
3.2.1 Induction of LVH	64
3.2.2 Dietary Intervention	64
3.3 Results	65
3.3.1 Physiological data	65
3.3.2 Cardiac hypertrophy	71
3.3.3 Serum metabolic profile	73
3.4 Discussion	
3.4.1 Dietary impact upon body weight	
3.4.2 Liver physiology	77
3.4.3 Dietary regulation of cardiac hypertrophy	
3.4.4 Serum alterations following dietary treatment and AC	80
3.4.5 Leptin	81
3.4.6 Insulin	82
3.4.7 Summary	83
Chapter 4: In vitro cardiac function and metabolism	84
4.1 Introduction	85
4.1.1 Regulation of metabolism in cardiac hypertrophy	85
4.1.2 Impact of diet upon ventricular function	86
4.1.3 Dietary impact upon function in LVH	86
4.1.4 Dietary modification of hypertrophic metabolism	86
4.1.5 Lipotoxicity	87
4.1.6 Objectives	88
4.2 Materials and Methods	89

	4.2.1 Induction of LVH	89
	4.2.2 Dietary Intervention	89
	4.2.3 Experimental protocols	89
4	.3 Results	91
	4.3.1 In Vitro Cardiac Function	91
	4.3.2 <sup>13</sup> C NMR analysis of oxidative metabolism	94
	4.3.3. Metabolic protein expression	94
	4.3.4 Mitochondrial enzyme activity	98
	4.3.5 Myocardial glycogen and triglyceride content	99
	4.3.6 Determination of contractile and basal oxygen consumption	. 100
4	.4 Discussion	. 102
	4.4.1 In vitro functional response to dietary intervention	. 102
	4.4.2 Metabolic protein expression	. 105
	4.4.3 Modification of mitochondrial metabolism in LVH	. 107
	4.4.4 Changes in endogenous substrate in the hypertrophied heart	. 109
	4.4.5 Triglyceride accumulation in WD hearts	. 110
	4.4.6 Summary	. 111

Chapter 5 Cardiac lipotoxicity and ceramide content	112
5.1.1 Cardiac lipotoxicity	113
5.1.2 Palmitate as a mediator of cellular dysfunction	114
5.1.3 Ceramide synthesis	114
5.1.4 Location of sphingolipid generation	116
5.1.5 Ceramide and cardiomyocyte apoptosis	116
5.1.6 Objectives	117
5.2 Materials and methods	118
5.2.1 Identification of ceramide species	118
5.2.2 HPLC separation, LC-MS and LC-MS/MS of ceramide species	120
5.2.3 Quantitation of ceramide species	127
5.2.4 Experimental groups	129
5.2.5 Sample preparation for analysis of ceramides by LC-MS	129
5.3 Results	130
5.3.1 Cardiac ceramide content	130
5.3.2 Cardiac ceramide content in adriamycin-administered hearts	130
5.3.3 Total cardiac ceramide content	130

5.3.4 Physiological data of adriamycin-administered animals	133
5.4 Discussion	134
5.4.1 Cardiac ceramide changes following dietary intervention	134
5.4.2 Cardiac ceramide changes following dietary intervention and AC	136
5.4.3 Cardiac ceramide changes following adriamycin administration	137
5.4.4 Mechanisms for ceramide-induced cellular dysfunction	138
5.4.5 Summary	140
Chapter 6 Discussion and future directions	141
6.1 Discussion	142
6.2 Strengths and limitations	146
6.3 Future work	147
Publications	150
References	151

# **Figure list**

Chapter 1: Introduction

Chupt		
1.1	Cardiac fatty acid uptake and oxidation	3
1.2	GLUT4 trafficking pathways	6
1.3	Cardiac glucose transport and oxidation	7
1.4	Ventricular structure following physiological and pathological stimuli	11
1.5	Mechanisms for inducing cardiac hypertrophy	15
1.6	Regulation of feeding behaviour by leptin	23
1.7	Intracellular leptin signalling	24
1.8	Polymerisation of adiponectin	25
Chapt	er 2: Material and methods	
2.1	Surgical induction of cardiac hypertrophy	36
2.2	Isolated Langendorff heart perfusion	39
2.3	Perfusion protocol used in the current studies	40
2.4	Recording of cardiac function obtained during isolated heart perfusion	41
2.5	Glucose standard curve	43
2.6	Triglyceride standard curve	45
2.7	Free Fatty Acid standard curve	46
2.8	Leptin standard curve	50
2.9	Insulin standard curve	41
2.10	Profile of 3- <sup>13</sup> C lactate	54
2.11	Profile of U- <sup>13</sup> C palmitate	56
2.12	<sup>13</sup> C isotopomer labelling profile glutamate	57
Chapt	er 3: Characterisation of experimental hypertrophy	
3.1	Body weight changes over 9 week dietary intervention	66
3.2	Correlation between body weight and epididymal fat mass	68
3.3	Macroscopic liver appearance following 9 weeks of dietary intervention	69
3.4	Example Oil red O staining of lipid accumulation in liver tissue	70
3.5	Heart weight following 9 weeks of dietary intervention	71
3.6	Heart weight-to-tibia length ratio following 9 weeks of dietary intervention	72
3.7	Heart weight-to-body weight ratio following 9 weeks of dietary intervention	72
3.8	Leptin relationship with body weight and adiposity	75
Chapt	er 4: In vitro cardiac function and metabolism	
4.1	Mechanisms for cardiac lipotoxicity	87
4.2	Perfusion protocols used in the current studies	89
4.3	In vitro rate pressure product from control and aortic constricted hearts	92
	exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks	
4.4	Myocardial oxygen consumption from control and aortic constricted	93
	hearts exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks	
4.5	Cardiac efficiency from control and aortic constricted hearts exposed	93

4.5 Cardiac efficiency from control and aortic constricted hearts exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks

16	Percentage contribution of $^{13}$ C substrates to ovidative metabolism in	٩ı
4.0	perfused control and aortic constricted hearts exposed to different dietary	54
	regimens for 9 weeks.	
4.7	Western blot analysis of PPAR $\alpha$ from control and aortic constricted hearts exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks	95
48	Western blot analysis of CD36 from control and aortic constricted hearts	96
1.0	exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks	50
49	Subcellular isolation and expression of GLUT4 from control and aortic	97
115	constricted hearts exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks	57
4.10	Percentage active pyruvate dehydrogenase activity in control and aortic	98
	constricted hearts exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks	50
4.11	Rate Pressure Product from control and aortic constricted hearts exposed	101
	to either a HFD or WD for 9 weeks	
4.12	Mean myocardial oxygen consumption during contraction and arrest in	101
	hearts isolated from control or aortic constricted animals after 9 weeks	
	of dietary intervention	
Chapte	er 5: Cardiac lipotoxicity and ceramide content	
5.1	Consequences of increased cellular acyl-CoA	113
5.2	Principle pathways of sphingolipid synthesis and catabolism	115
5.3	Positive ESI-MS spectra of ceramide species	119
5.4	LC-MS total ion current (TIC) for C16, C17, and C18 ceramide species	121
5.5	Product ion scan of C16, C17 and C18 ceramide species	123
5.6	LC-MS TIC of ceramide standard mixtures separated on different	124
	HPLC columns	
5.7	LC-MS spectra for C20 and C24 ceramide	126
5.8	Product ion scan of C20 and C24	127
5.9	Example of LC-MS TIC mixture of ceramide standards	128
5.10	Example standard curve for C16 ceramide	128
5.11	Alterations to cardiac ceramide content following 9 weeks dietary	131
	intervention or aortic constriction	
5.12	Changes in the cardiac ceramide profile following dietary	132
	intervention and adriamycin administration	
5.13	Total cardiac ceramide (C16-C24) content following dietary	132
	intervention, aortic constriction, or adriamycin administration	
Chapte	er 6 Discussion and future directions	
6.1	Summary of main observation following dietary intervention or the	143
	combined effect of dietary manipulation and cardiac hypertrophy	

## Table list

UK dietary macronutrient profile	17
rial and methods	
ls and suppliers	33
constituents	37
and secondary antibodies, suppliers, and dilutions	60
cterisation of experimental hypertrophy	
gical changes following 9 weeks of dietary intervention	67
tissue and hepatic physiology	68
netabolites and hormone concentrations	73
insulin and blood glucose concentrations	74
o cardiac function and metabolism	
cardiac function	92
mitochondrial enzyme activity	99
nous storage substrates	100
ac lipotoxicity and ceramide content	
gical characteristics of adriamycin-administered animals	133
	e UK dietary macronutrient profile rial and methods ils and suppliers constituents and secondary antibodies, suppliers, and dilutions acterisation of experimental hypertrophy ogical changes following 9 weeks of dietary intervention e tissue and hepatic physiology metabolites and hormone concentrations insulin and blood glucose concentrations ro cardiac function and metabolism cardiac function mitochondrial enzyme activity nous storage substrates ac lipotoxicity and ceramide content ogical characteristics of adriamycin-administered animals

# Equations

Equation 1: Calculation for NaCl and CaCl <sub>2</sub> present per litre of BSA solution	38
Equation 2: Calculation for determining RPP	41
Equation 3: Calculation of myocardial oxygen consumption	41
Equation 4: Calculation of triglyceride concentration	.45
Equation 5: Calculation of free fatty acid concentration	.46
Equation 6: Calculation of enzyme activity	47

## Abbreviations

AC	. Aortic constriction
ACC	Acetyl-CoA carboxylase
ACO	. Acyl-CoA oxidase
ACS	. Acyl-CoA synthetase
ADR	. Adriamycin
AFE	. Atwater Fuel Energy
Akt	. Protein kinase B
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
АМРК	AMP-activated protein kinase
АТР	. Adenosine triphosphate
BMI	Body mass index
BSA	. Bovine Serum Albumin
Bpm	. Beats per minute
BW	. Body weight
CAT	. Carnitine acylcarnitine transferase
CE	Cardiac Efficiency
CFR	. Coronary flow rate
СоА	Co-enzyme A
СРТ	. Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase
CRP	. C-reactive protein
CS	. Citrate synthase
DCA	. Dichloroacetic acid
DHA	. Docosahexaenoic acid
DSS rat	Dahl salt-sensitive rat
DTNB	. 5,5 dithio-bis-2-nitrobenzoic acid
EAT	. Epididymal adipose tissue
ECM	. Extracellular matrix
EDP	. End diastolic pressure
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGTA	Ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
ER	. Endoplasmic reticulum
F1,6BP	. Fructose 1,6-bisphosphate
F2,6BP	. Fructose 2,6-bisphosphate
FA	. Fatty acid
FABP	. Fatty acid binding protein
FAO	Fatty acid oxidation
FAT	. Fatty acid translocase
FFA	. Free fatty acid
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GI	Glycaemic index
GLUT1/GLUT4	. Glucose transporter 1/4
HDL	. High-density lipoprotein

HF	. Heart failure
HFD	.High-fat diet
НК	. Hexokinase
HPLC	. High-performance liquid chromatography
HW	. Heart weight
ICM	Intracellular membrane
IL	. Interleukin
IR	. Insulin resistance
iv	Intravenous
JAK	Janus kinase
кн	.Krebs-Henseleit (buffer)
ко	.Knock out
LCAD	. Long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase
LCFA	Long-chain fatty acid
LC-MS	. Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry
LDL	. Low-density lipoprotein
LPL	. Lipoprotein lipase
LVDP	. Left ventricular developed pressure
LVH	. Left ventricular hypertrophy
МАРК	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MAT	. Mediastinal adipose tissue
MCAD	. Medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase
MCT	. Monocarboxylate transporter
MI	. Myocardial infarction
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MS	. Mass spectrometry
MUFA	Mono-unsaturated FA
NAD	. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
PCA	. Perchloric acid
OGDH	. Oxoglutarate dehydrogenase
ORO	. Oil Red O
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PDH	Pyruvate dehydrogenase
PDK	.PDH kinase
PDP	.PDH phosphatise
PEP	. Phosphoenol pyruvate
PFK	Phosphofructokinase
PGC-1	PPARy coactivator-1
РІЗК	. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
РКС	. Protein kinase C
PPAR	. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PPRE	Peroxisome proliferator response element
PUFA	.Poly-unsaturated FA
Retinoid-X-Receptor	.RXR
ROS	.Reactive oxygen species

RPAT	. Retroperitoneal + perirenal adipose tissue
RPP	. Rate pressure product
s/c	. Subcutaneous
SD	. Standard diet
SDS	. Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SFA	. Saturated FA
SHHF rat	. Spontaneously hypertensive heart failure rat
SL	Sphingolipid
SM	. Sphingomyelin
SNA	Sympathetic nerve activation
SOCS	. Suppressor of cytokine signalling
S1P	. Sphingosine-1-phosphate
SP	. Systolic pressure
SPT	Serine Palmitoyltransferase
SR	. Sarcoplasmic reticulum
SREBP1c	Sterol response element-binding protein-1c
SREBP1c STAT	Sterol response element-binding protein-1c . Signal transducer and activators of transcription
SREBP1c STAT TAC	Sterol response element-binding protein-1c . Signal transducer and activators of transcription . Transverse aortic constriction
SREBP1c STAT TAC TCA cycle	Sterol response element-binding protein-1c . Signal transducer and activators of transcription . Transverse aortic constriction . Tri-carboxylic acid cycle
SREBP1c STAT TAC TCA cycle TEP	Sterol response element-binding protein-1c . Signal transducer and activators of transcription . Transverse aortic constriction . Tri-carboxylic acid cycle . Triethyl phosphate
SREBP1c STAT TAC TCA cycle TEP TG	Sterol response element-binding protein-1c . Signal transducer and activators of transcription . Transverse aortic constriction . Tri-carboxylic acid cycle . Triethyl phosphate Triglyceride
SREBP1c STAT TAC TCA cycle TEP TG TIC	Sterol response element-binding protein-1c . Signal transducer and activators of transcription . Transverse aortic constriction . Tri-carboxylic acid cycle . Triethyl phosphate Triglyceride . Total Ion Current
SREBP1c STAT TAC TCA cycle TEP TG TIC TNFα	Sterol response element-binding protein-1c . Signal transducer and activators of transcription . Transverse aortic constriction . Tri-carboxylic acid cycle . Triethyl phosphate Triglyceride . Total Ion Current Tumour necrosis factor α
SREBP1c STAT TAC TCA cycle TEP TG TIC TNFα TOF	<ul> <li>Sterol response element-binding protein-1c</li> <li>. Signal transducer and activators of transcription</li> <li>. Transverse aortic constriction</li> <li>. Tri-carboxylic acid cycle</li> <li>. Triethyl phosphate</li> <li>. Triglyceride</li> <li>. Total Ion Current</li> <li> Tumour necrosis factor α</li> <li> Time of flight</li> </ul>
SREBP1c STAT TAC TAC TCA cycle TEP TG TIC TNFα TOF TPP	<ul> <li>Sterol response element-binding protein-1c</li> <li>. Signal transducer and activators of transcription</li> <li>. Transverse aortic constriction</li> <li>. Tri-carboxylic acid cycle</li> <li>. Triethyl phosphate</li> <li> Triglyceride</li> <li>. Total Ion Current</li> <li> Tumour necrosis factor α</li> <li> Time of flight</li> <li>. Thiamine pyrophosphate</li> </ul>
SREBP1c STAT TAC TAC TCA cycle TEP TG TG TIC TNFα TOF TPP TZD	<ul> <li>Sterol response element-binding protein-1c</li> <li>. Signal transducer and activators of transcription</li> <li>. Transverse aortic constriction</li> <li>. Tri-carboxylic acid cycle</li> <li>. Triethyl phosphate</li> <li>. Triglyceride</li> <li>. Total Ion Current</li> <li> Tumour necrosis factor α</li> <li> Time of flight</li> <li>. Thiamine pyrophosphate</li> <li>. Thiazolidinedione</li> </ul>
SREBP1c STAT TAC TAC TCA cycle TEP TG TIC TNFα TOF TOF TPP TZD UCP	<ul> <li>Sterol response element-binding protein-1c</li> <li>. Signal transducer and activators of transcription</li> <li>. Transverse aortic constriction</li> <li>. Tri-carboxylic acid cycle</li> <li>. Triethyl phosphate</li> <li>. Triglyceride</li> <li>. Total Ion Current</li> <li> Tumour necrosis factor α</li> <li> Time of flight</li> <li>. Thiamine pyrophosphate</li> <li> Thiazolidinedione</li> <li> Uncoupling protein</li> </ul>
SREBP1c STAT TAC TAC TCA cycle TEP TG TG TIC TNFα TOF TOF TPP TZD UCP VLCAD	<ul> <li>Sterol response element-binding protein-1c</li> <li>. Signal transducer and activators of transcription</li> <li>. Transverse aortic constriction</li> <li>. Tri-carboxylic acid cycle</li> <li>. Triethyl phosphate</li> <li>. Triglyceride</li> <li>. Total Ion Current</li> <li> Tumour necrosis factor α</li> <li> Time of flight</li> <li>. Thiamine pyrophosphate</li> <li> Thiazolidinedione</li> <li> Uncoupling protein</li> <li> Very long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase</li> </ul>
SREBP1c STAT TAC TAC TCA cycle TEP TG TG TIC TIC TNFα TOF TOF TPP TZD UCP VLCAD WD	<ul> <li>Sterol response element-binding protein-1c</li> <li>. Signal transducer and activators of transcription</li> <li>. Transverse aortic constriction</li> <li>. Tri-carboxylic acid cycle</li> <li>. Triethyl phosphate</li> <li>. Triglyceride</li> <li>. Total Ion Current</li> <li> Tumour necrosis factor α</li> <li> Time of flight</li> <li>. Thiamine pyrophosphate</li> <li> Thiazolidinedione</li> <li> Uncoupling protein</li> <li> Very long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase</li> <li>. Western diet</li> </ul>

**Chapter 1 Introduction** 

## 1.1 Cardiac metabolism in the healthy heart

Cardiac function is dependent upon a continuous, rapid supply of energy due to a very high ATP demand (Ingwall and Weiss, 2004). Furthermore, this ATP can be derived from the reactions of glycolysis, oxidative phosphorylation, and from the small but crucially important conversion of phosphocreatine (PCr) to creatine (Cr). The predominant source of energy in the healthy heart is derived from the oxidation of fatty acids (FAs) (van der Vusse et al., 2000), with other major contributions from carbohydrate, predominantly glucose and lactate (Stanley et al., 2005). The numerous substrates utilised liken the heart to a metabolic "omnivore" (Taegtmeyer and Salazar, 2004). As such, maintaining a high level of ATP turnover and the ability to metabolise different substrates permits metabolic plasticity, crucially important in maintaining cardiac performance (Stanley et al., 2005).

### 1.1.1 Lipid uptake and metabolism

Cardiac tissue is greatly dependent upon the concentration of circulating FAs in order to meet energetic demand. FAs exist as either albumin-bound complexes or esterified into the formation of triglyceride (TG) in circulating chylomicrons and lipoproteins (van der Vusse et al., 2000). For the heart to utilise these endogenous sources of FAs they must be liberated via the action of lipoprotein lipase (LPL) upon the surface of vascular endothelial cells, or be endocytosed followed by intracellular hydrolysis and release of free fatty acids (FFAs) (Goldberg, 1996). Indeed, recent studies have indicated the importance of chylomicron- and VLDL-derived TGs in working heart preparations (Hauton et al., 2001, Niu et al., 2004).

The fatty acid translocase (FAT) CD36 was identified as a key protein in the uptake of long chain fatty acid (LCFA) species by Abumrad et al. (1993). The evidence for the necessity of CD36 is derived from studies which show that CD36 knockout (KO) in mice reduces the rate of 15-(p-iodophenyl)-3-(R,S)-methyl pentadecanoic acid (BMIPP) uptake – a FA analogue – with the greatest impairment in highly oxidative muscle such as heart and diaphragm (Coburn et al., 2000). In humans, similar effects on LCFA uptake are observed with CD36 mutations (Hirano et al., 2003). In addition to CD36, intracellular LCFA transport requires heart-type fatty acid-binding protein (H-FABP) (Stremmel, 1988, Binas et al., 1999). Indeed, H-FABP-null cardiomyocytes exhibit reduced uptake of palmitate when electrically stimulated, even though the capacity for oxidation remains unchanged (Schaap et al., 1999). Thus, binding of FAs to FABPs is a crucial step for their intracellular transport and utilisation.

LCFAs are not freely permitted to cross the outer mitochondrial membrane and consequently rely upon a carnitine-dependent transport system involving carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 and 2 (CPT1 and 2), and carnitine acyltransferase (CAT) (figure 1.1).



**Figure 1.1 Cardiac fatty acid uptake and oxidation.** Fatty acids are transported across the plasma membrane via CD36. LCFAs intracellular transport relies on FABPs. The fatty acid species is converted to an acyl-CoA species via acyl-CoA synthetase (ACS). CPT1 replaces CoA with carnitine and transports the newly formed acyl-carnitine into the inter membraneous space. CAT transports the acyl carnitine into the mitochondrial matrix whereby the carnitine moiety is replaced by a CoA group via CPT2. The products of this reaction are an acyl-CoA species and carnitine, which is removed from the matrix via CAT. Adapted from Kodde et al. (2007).

CPT1 activity is regulated by malonyl CoA (McGarry et al., 1983, Murthy and Pande, 1987), as well as FAs through increased activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)  $\alpha$  (Brandt et al., 1998). These workers also showed that the level of muscle CPT1 (mCPT1) gene transcription was increased both by FA concentration and the length of the acyl chain, with longer chain lengths increasing transcription (Brandt et al., 1998). As an inhibitor of CPT1, elevated levels of malonyl-CoA inhibit the entry of long-chain acyl-CoA species into the mitochondria. During fasting, the intramuscular malonyl CoA concentration of the heart falls by 71%, facilitating increased mitochondrial oxidation of fatty acid species (McGarry et al., 1983). High levels of malonyl-CoA are maintained by the enzyme acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) in particular the ACC2 isoform. ACC is regulated by AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK). Increased activity of AMPK decreases the activity of ACC, and subsequently malonyl-CoA synthesis falls.

FA chain length dictates the first enzyme of  $\beta$ -oxidation due to chain-length specificity. Indeed, fatty acyl-CoA species with a FA chain length of 16 carbons or more are degraded by very long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (VLCAD) (Roe et al., 2002). Progressive shortening of the carbon chain leads to recruitment of additional dehydrogenases with varying chain length specificities., including, long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (LCAD) (maximal activity with 10-12 carbons), medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (MCAD) (maximal activity with 6-8 carbons), and short-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (SCAD) (maximal activity with 4-6 carbons) (Ghisla and Thorpe, 2004). Consequently, the numerous acyl-CoA dehydrogenases facilitate the oxidation of many different acyl-CoA species. Importantly, deficiency of VLCAD and LCAD have been shown to reduce  $\beta$ -oxidation dramatically and have been associated with the development of paediatric cardiomyopathy (Roe et al., 2002).

An often over-looked pathway of FAO is the peroxisomal  $\beta$ -oxidation pathway. VLCFAs have been demonstrated to be preferentially oxidised in peroxisomes, with hexacosanoic acid being oxidised only in peroxisomes (Wanders, 2004). Furthermore, 3-day starvation in mice leads to an increase in cardiac acyl-CoA oxidase (ACO) and catalase activity suggesting enhanced peroxisomal oxidation (Crescimanno et al., 1989). Additionally, peroxisomal  $\beta$ -oxidation in the heart has been shown to be an important source of acetyl moieties for malonyl-CoA synthesis (Reszko et al., 2004), and therefore endogenous FA synthesis. An important difference between mitochondrial and peroxisomal  $\beta$ -oxidation is the by-product of the initial reaction. Because the initial reaction of  $\beta$ -oxidation in the peroxisome is catalysed by ACO, large amounts of reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced in the form of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Schönfeld et al., 2009). To eliminate ROS species, peroxisomes contain the enzyme catalase. Acetyl-carnitine generated from peroxisomal  $\beta$ -oxidation is transported from the peroxisome via carnitine acetyltransferase (van Roermund et al., 1999), reconverted to acetyl-CoA via cytosolic CAT and transported into the mitochondria for oxidation in the tri-carboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, or the synthesis of FAs.

#### 1.1.2 Glucose metabolism

Glucose uptake is regulated by the transmembrane glucose concentration and the ability of glucose to cross the sarcolemmal membrane, mediated by glucose transporters (Stanley et al., 2005). The glucose transporter GLUT1 is important for the uptake of glucose under basal conditions due to its expression being insulin independent, and can it be stimulated to translocate from the intracellular pool to the plasma membrane in response to ischaemia and increased cardiac work (Young et al., 1997). GLUT4 expression is increased by contractile work (Till et al., 1997), ischaemia, and insulin (Young et al., 1997) which cause translocation of GLUT4 from the intracellular pool to the plasma membrane. Two models of the GLUT4 translocation have been proposed, including the "dynamic retention" and the "static retention" hypotheses. The former suggests that the rate of GLUT4 exocytosis is equal to endocytosis, and that this rate of cycling is increased by insulin, whereas the latter describes the movement of GLUT4 from an intracellular pool to the plasma membrane (figure 1.2) (Augustin, 2010).

Within the cell, glucose is rapidly converted to glucose 6-phosphate, mediated by hexokinase (HK). Binding of HK to the outer mitochondrial membrane has been shown to enhance activity when compared to the cytosolic enzyme (Russell et al., 1992). The first regulatory step in glycolysis is catalysed by phosphofructokinase (PFK)-1, catalysing the formation of fructose 1,6-bisphosphate (F1,6BP), and is activated by ADP, AMP, Pi, and fructose 2,6-bisphosphate (F2,6BP) (Schaftingen and Hers, 1981), and inhibited by ATP, citrate, and decreasing pH (Stanley et al., 2005). Indeed, F2,6BP has been demonstrated to be the main feed forward activator of PFK-1 (Depre et al., 1993).



**Figure 1.2 GLUT4 trafficking pathways.** During the static model hypothesis, the golgi storage vesicles are only translocated to the plasma membrane in response to insulin. The dynamic hypothesis suggest that GLUT4 containing Golgi storage vesicles are cycled between the endosomal pool and the golgi network in the absence of insulin. Adapted from Augustin (2010).

Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) is responsible for catalysing the reaction forming 1,3-diphosphoglycerate from glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate, liberating the NADH molecules associated with glycolysis. GAPDH is negatively regulated by increasing cytosolic NADH, with NAD<sup>+</sup> stimulating the reaction (Stanley et al., 2005). The final generation of pyruvate from phosphoenol pyruvate (PEP) is catalysed by pyruvate kinase, combining the phosphoryl group of PEP with ADP to liberate ATP and pyruvate. Pyruvate kinase represents an important enzyme in the glycolytic pathway due to its positive regulation by F1,6BP and PEP (Kiffmeyer and Farrar, 1991, Jurica et al., 1998), therefore facilitating coupling of increased glycolytic flux with pyruvate formation and avoiding glycolytic intermediate accumulation. Under aerobic conditions, pyruvate generated from glycolysis is converted to acetyl-CoA via the action of pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH), located within the mitochondrial matrix (figure 1.3). The flow of pyruvate through PDH is controlled in part by phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of PDH via the PDH kinases (PDKs) and PDH phosphatases (PDPs), respectively (Fuller and Randle, 1984). The inhibitory properties of the PDK isoenzymes (PDK1-4) vary, although all PDKs phosphorylate the active site within PDH (Kolobova et al., 2001).



**Figure 1.3 Cardiac glucose uptake and oxidation.** Glucose is transported across the plasma membrane via GLUT1 and GLUT4 and trapped within the cell as glucose 6-phosphate via the actions of hexokinase (HK). The reactions of glycolysis result in the production of pyruvate which is transported across the outer mitochondrial membrane via the monocarboxylate transporter (MCT). Pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) catalyses the formation of acetyl-CoA from pyruvate which can subsequently feed into the TCA cycle. Adapted from Kodde et al. (2007).

The PDK isoenzymes exhibit tissue-specific distribution, with 1,2, and 4 expressed in cardiac tissue (Sugden and Holness, 2003). PDKs are regulated by several cellular substrates, including pyruvate, CoA and NAD<sup>+</sup>, NADH, ATP, and ADP (Stanley et al., 2005). PDKs are stimulated by ATP, acetyl-CoA, and NADH, leading to phosphorylation and inactivation of PDH (Sambandam et al., 2002). Indeed, increased FAO leads to an elevated expression of PDK4 mRNA (Wu et al., 1998), and therefore would be anticipated to reduce the activity of PDH. Increases in cellular unbound CoA concentrations, NAD<sup>+</sup>, and pyruvate lead to inhibition of PDKs, reduced phosphorylation of PDH and subsequent enhanced pyruvate flux through PDH. Opposing the actions of PDK, PDP dephosphorylates and activates PDH in response to Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Denton et al., 1972, Depre et al., 1999). Consequently, the balance between phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of PDH determines the rate of the conversion of pyruvate to acetyl-CoA (Sambandam et al., 2002).

### 1.1.3 Lactate metabolism

Lactate is transported across the sarcolemmal membrane by the monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) (Baker et al., 1998). The oxidation of both glucose and lactate yield pyruvate and as such, the final metabolic pathway of glucose or lactate metabolism is the same. Studies have shown the importance of lactate as a substrate in the heart. Indeed, increased generation of lactate from skeletal muscle during exercise is reflected by heightened myocardial lactate consumption (Stanley, 1991), therefore demonstrating the intimate relationship between circulating lactate concentrations and the rate of oxidation. Furthermore, evidence suggests that lactate metabolism is compartmentalised within the heart, with exogenous lactate being oxidised and glycolytically derived lactate released (Chatham et al., 2001).

## 1.2 Control of cardiac metabolism

PPARs play an important role in the regulation of cardiac metabolism. PPARs belong a family of nuclear hormone receptors which share homology with thyroid hormone-, retinoic acid-, and vitamin D receptors (Aranda and Pascual, 2001). PPARs form a heterodimer with the retinoid-X-receptor (RXR), which facilitates binding to DNA, in particular regions labelled as peroxisome proliferator response elements (PPREs). The PPAR/RXR complex is known to be influenced by co-activators and co-repressors. Such co-activators include steroid receptor coactivator-1 (SRC-1), CREB binding protein (CBP)/p300 and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator-1 (PGC-1) (Viswakarma et al., 2010), in addition to FA species (Moya-Camarena et

al., 1999, van der Lee et al., 2000, Armstrong and Towle, 2001). Co-repressors of PPAR function include COUP transcription factor 2 (COUP-TF2) and nuclear receptor corepressor (NCoR) (Sack et al., 1997, Treuter et al., 1998, Yu et al., 2005).

PPARα expression is highest in tissues with enhanced FAO capacity such as heart, liver, and muscle (Escher et al., 2001). Increased activation of PPARα has been shown to augment the mRNA transcript levels of various PPAR responsive genes implicated in FAO, including H-FABP, ACS, and LCAD (Moya-Camarena et al., 1999, van der Lee et al., 2000), and CD36 (Akki and Seymour, 2009). Furthermore, loss-of-function models have shown that PPARα is a crucial determinant of cardiac metabolic gene expression (Watanabe et al., 2000, Muoio et al., 2002). Watanabe et al. (2000) demonstrated repression of CPT1, LCAD, MCAD, and ACO mRNA in hearts from PPARα KO mice, thus confirming the importance of PPARα in regulating FAO.

PPAR $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  have been less extensively researched in the heart. PPAR $\beta$  KO mice exhibit reduced basal rates of FAO (Cheng et al., 2004). This suggests that PPAR $\beta$  may have a similar role to PPAR $\alpha$ . Importantly, such hearts exhibit substantial lipid accumulation and lipoapoptosis despite being fed a normal, rodent chow. Unlike PPAR $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , PPAR $\gamma$  does not have a direct role in regulating cardiac FAO (Gilde et al., 2003). Furthermore, when cardiomyocytes are incubated with both palmitic and oleic acid no observable increase in PPAR $\gamma$  mRNA was observed, in contrast to PPAR $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  (Gilde et al., 2003). However, it is widely known that a class of drugs termed thiazolidinediones (TZDs) are PPAR $\gamma$  agonists, with their main effects being improving insulin sensitivity, lowering of circulating FAs, and the partitioning of FAs into the adipocyte (for review see Spiegelman, 1998). As consequence, modulating PPAR $\gamma$  in non-cardiac tissues may indirectly regulate myocardial metabolism due to altering blood metabolites.

## **1.3 Cardiac hypertrophy**

Mammalian hearts exhibit a limited response to stress, with the primary response being that of hypertrophy or enlargement. As such, the initial response is regarded as a beneficial adaptation to normalise wall tension and maintain stroke volume. Importantly, however, if the stress is chronic, the enlargement and accompanying remodelling can become maladaptive and decompensation can occur (Heineke and Molkentin, 2006). The decompensation of the hypertrophied heart reflects a decrease in the functional capability, compromising cardiac output and producing signs of heart failure (HF). Indeed, cardiac hypertrophy has long been recognised as a significant independent risk factor for the development of congestive HF (Levy et al., 1990, Carabello, 2006, Rame and Dries, 2007).

#### 1.3.1 Stages of hypertrophy

Experimentally, the development of pathological hypertrophy proceeds via 3 distinct stages. Initially, the sudden demand placed upon the heart can lead to a depression in myocardial function, or can alternatively lead to no change. However, there is marked increased protein synthesis, which is responsible for the transition into stage 2, the compensated phase. This second stage is characterised by ventricular remodelling with preserved or mild hyperfunction, potentially due to increased contractile protein synthesis. Progression of the underlying insult causes this compensated phase to eventually decompensate, whereby the heart is no longer able to maintain function due to death of myocytes. This final stage (stage 3) represents the decompensation observed HF (Wang et al., 2003).

### 1.3.2 Structural and cellular remodelling

Left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) was originally thought to be the only response as cardiomyocytes are believed to be terminally differentiated cells, although this has been challenged (Anversa and Kajstura, 1998). What is well-known is that there are two clear processes which occur in the heart in response to stress – concentric and eccentric remodelling. Classically, eccentric hypertrophy, whereby myocytes exhibit a disproportionate increase in cell length versus cell width due to sarcomere additions in series, is common in the left ventricle of post-myocardial infarction (MI) hearts and is associated with an increased end diastolic volume (EDV) and reduced stroke volume (Anversa et al., 1986, Kleaveland et al., 1988). Conversely, concentric remodelling is characterised by an increase in myocyte width relative to length, with sarcomeres being added in parallel. Such hearts show an increase in ventricular mass and a smaller ventricular cavity (Hein et al., 2003, Carabello, 2006). Pregnancy and chronic exercise increase cardiac dimensions uniformly (Shapiro, 1984, lemitsu et al., 2001), producing a physiological hypertrophy. This frequently referred to "athletic heart" remains compliant despite an increase in mass (figure 1.4) (Woodiwiss and Norton, 1995).



**Figure 1.4 Ventricular structure following physiological and pathological stimuli.** MI, myocardial infarction. Adapted from Heineke and Molkentin (2006).

It has been stated that such an increase in myocyte – and hence ventricular wall – thickness is beneficial and can be explained in part by the law of La Place, suggesting that wall tension is directly proportional to a given pressure and chamber radius, and inversely proportional to wall thickness (Katz, 2011). Although the remodelling processes for eccentric and concentric hypertrophy are different, macroscopic and ultrastructural changes have been well documented in both concentric and eccentric hypertrophy (Hess et al., 1984, Schaub et al., 1997), suggesting similarities between the two processes. In addition to changes in cardiomyocyte structure, remodelling also affects other components of the ventricular wall, most importantly collagen (Fujita et al., 2008, Moens et al., 2008), blood vessels (Shiojima et al., 2005, Miyachi et al., 2009), and hyperplasia of endothelium (Dämmrich and Pfeifer, 1983). Collagen in the heart is mainly comprised of type I (50-85%) and type III (10-45%) (Weber et al., 1993), referred to frequently as the extracellular matrix (ECM) and provides the scaffolding from which myocyte contraction is translated globally. Such collagens are extremely stable yet are increased in the hypertrophied human (Caspari et al., 1977), rat (Weber et al., 1990), and mouse heart (Bradshaw et al., 2009). The initial stage of hypertrophic remodelling is associated with an increase in type III collagen and a reduction in ventricular stiffness, whereas chronic hypertrophy is accompanied by an increase in necrosis and type I collagen content (Weber et al., 1988). Hein et al. (2003) have shown increased fibrosis in hearts from patients undergoing aortic valve replacement. Indeed, in this study patients were subdivided into 3 categories based on ejection fraction, the lowest of which being <30%. Fibrosis was significantly increased in patients with an ejection fraction of 30-50% and <30% compared to the control group, and was significantly correlated with the percentage of dead myocytes. This suggests that as myocytes are lost from the hypertrophied heart they can be replaced with collagen, impeding cardiac function.

In addition to increased accumulation of collagen in the hypertrophied heart, the rate of collagen degradation via the action of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) may also be important (Spinale, 2007). This process of degradation is important as changes to the rate of both collagen synthesis and proteolysis may contribute to the ventricular stiffness and dilated nature of diastolic HF and systolic HF, respectively. MMPs are regulated by their tissue inhibitors, termed tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) and therefore changes to the MMP/TIMP ratio will alter the ECM components. These alterations may be important in understanding the ECM changes observed in eccentric and concentric ventricular remodelling. Addressing this issue, Lopez et al. (2006) studied a small population of HF patients (16 systolic HF and 23 with diastolic HF) for changes in the distribution and process of collagen degradation by analysing MMP-1 and TIMP-1 in cardiac tissue. Using various approaches, they demonstrated that the profile of collagen deposition differed between systolic and diastolic HF, with a reduction in interstitial collagen fibres in the former group.

### 1.3.3 Metabolic remodelling in left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH)

Although the link between chronic LVH and HF is well known (Rame and Dries, 2007), the mechanisms which worsen the progression of LVH to failure remain largely incompletely understood. Importantly, the cardiac remodelling process during the development of hypertrophy is characterised by alterations in metabolism, principally of carbohydrate and fat.

Indeed, when adult hearts are unloaded, FAO declines (Depre et al., 1998) with this metabolic phenotype not being dissimilar to the hypertrophied heart. However, because hypertrophied hearts are still "loaded", the oxidation of carbohydrate is much greater in an attempt to provide sufficient ATP for contraction.

#### 1.3.3.1 Fatty acid metabolism in the hypertrophied heart

Metabolic remodelling is an early feature in the development of cardiac hypertrophy (Akki et al., 2008). Importantly, this metabolic remodelling is observable in both experimental models (Okere et al., 2006b, Chess et al., 2007, Akki et al., 2008) and patients with LVH and failure (Sack et al., 1996). Two major models of hypertrophy – the aortic constriction (AC) rat and the MI rat – exhibit decreased LCFA oxidation and increased reliance on glucose and an associated reduction in protein expression associated with FA uptake and oxidation (Akki et al., 2008, Rosenblatt-Velin et al., 2001).

In spontaneously hypertensive HF (SHHF) rats with LVH there is a specific down-regulation of the mRNA for LCAD and MCAD, which were matched by a significant decrease in respective enzyme activity at 16 months of age. Similarly Sack et al (1996) showed that the failing human ventricle was characterised by a decrease in the activity of MCAD and LCAD. Further remodelling has demonstrated reduced CD36 expression in pressure-overload hypertrophied hearts (Doenst et al., 2010), suggesting impairment to LCFA uptake. Indeed supplementing a diet with medium chain TG (MCTGs) improves function in the hypertrophied heart and reverses protein changes associated with hypertrophic remodelling (lemitsu et al., 2008). In addition, carnitine depletion may also limit the ability of the hypertrophied and failing heart to oxidise LCFAs (el Alaoui-Talibi et al., 1992, Allard et al., 1994a). Using octanoate in combination with palmitate, Allard et al. (2007) observed a significant increase in FAO rates in hypertrophied hearts when compared to hearts perfused with palmitate alone. Together, these observations suggest specific disruption to the uptake and oxidation of LCFA in the hypertrophied heart.

#### 1.3.3.2 Glucose metabolism in the hypertrophied heart

High rates of glucose uptake are achieved via an insulin-dependent translocation of GLUT4 from the sarcoplasmic vesicles. Although basal, non insulin-dependent glucose uptake is via GLUT1, cellular glucose uptake via this membrane transporter is upregulated during

hypertrophic growth (Montessuit and Thorburn, 1999), in part due to an impaired ability to increase GLUT4 expression suggesting reduced insulin sensitivity (Paternostro et al., 1999).

Metabolic activity associated with glycolysis is significantly higher in hypertrophied hearts and increased rates of glycolysis have been demonstrated by several groups (Bishop and Altschuld, 1970, Allard et al., 1994b, Wambolt et al., 1999, Leong et al., 2002, Nascimben et al., 2004), although this has been shown to be dependent upon the severity of LVH (Degens et al., 2006, Akki et al., 2008). However, an uncoupling of glycolysis and glucose oxidation has been suggested and may represent a left ventricular dysfunction (Lydell et al., 2002).

Increased oxidation of glucose would be speculated to be a compensatory response to decreased rates of FAO (Randle, 1986), and would be anticipated to be increased following higher rates of glycolysis. Thus, the observations of uncoupled glycolysis and deranged FAO may reflect substantial differences in the severity of experimental models used, as well as the duration of the experiment.

#### **1.3.3.3 Endogenous substrates usage in the hypertrophied heart**

Alternatively, substrates for the TCA cycle may be derived from anaplerosis. This mechanism of substrate generation is often overlooked in discussing cardiac metabolism in favour of exogenous glucose and FA metabolism, yet it is widely known that the heart has an endogenous store of both glycogen and TG. Gibala et al. (2000) provide an excellent review of the anaplerotic potential of the heart and skeletal muscle. What is striking from this is that the removal of the anaplerotic capabilities of the heart produces substantial and significant reductions in function, which can be improved by anaplerotic substrate (Gibala et al., 2000). Interestingly, Sorokina et al. (2007) demonstrated that in LVH with reduced palmitate oxidation there is a compensatory increase in anaplerosis. Importantly, it was observed that <sup>13</sup>C enrichment of glutamate proceeds despite no increase in the enrichment of acetyl-CoA derived from glycolytic pyruvate (Sorokina et al., 2007). Thus, anaplerotic substrate usage may be important in maintaining TCA cycle intermediates in the hypertrophied heart. This suggests that under normal conditions, anaplerosis may be an important source of TCA intermediates when PDH activity is reduced (Seymour and Chatham, 1997).

### 1.3.4 Experimental models of LVH and failure

Several key models have been used to study the development of LVH and transition to HF and have been reviewed extensively in terms of their advantages and limitations (Berry et al., 2007, Patten and Hall-Porter, 2009, Doggrell and Brown, 1998) (figure 1.5).



**Figure 1.5 Mechanisms for inducing cardiac hypertrophy.** Numerous pathways exploit the limited ability of the heart to respond to stress. IGF-1, insulin-like growth factor-1. Adapted from Berry et al. (2007).

Increasing aortic blood pressure leads to the development of left ventricular concentric remodelling and hypertrophy (Boateng et al., 1997, Barrick et al., 2007, Akki et al., 2008, Chess et al., 2008). Importantly, the site of the AC has been shown to lead to very different phenotypes. In rats, constriction of the aorta at the level of the renal arteries has been shown to induce compensated hypertrophy with no dysfunction by 9 weeks post surgery (Akki et al., 2008, Akki and Seymour, 2009). Constriction of the aorta at the supravalvular or transverse level can induce a more severe phenotype characterised by impaired diastolic filling (Chess et al., 2008, Litwin et al., 1995). Other models for the study of pressure-overload hypertrophy include the Dahl salt-sensitive (DSS) and the SHHF rat. LVH is observable in DSS rats after 6 weeks of salt treatment (Okere et al., 2005), and HF develops following 12 weeks of salt treatment (Kang et al., 2004).

The model of ascending AC developed by Litwin and colleagues (1995) raises an important concept that the duration and age at which the intervention is imposed is important. In this model, banding of the ascending aorta in weanling rats led to the development of hypertrophy by 6 weeks post-banding with no evidence of dysfunction. By 18 weeks post-banding there was evidence of HF, with tachypnoea, oedema, and systolic deterioration. This model has the advantage that the pressure changes exerted upon the heart are gradual due to the procedure being performed in young animals, and hence as the animals age the pressure difference across the aortic band increase. This principle applies to all models whereby the induction for hypertrophic growth is performed in immature animals. Similar to rats, transverse aortic constriction (TAC) in mice is a widely used method of inducing LVH and HF, although the response has been shown to be partly strain-specific (Barrick et al., 2007). These models develop HF within a period of 2 weeks (Patten et al., 2008) and thus are not suitable for evaluating the early or compensated hypertrophic phase of remodelling. Both spontaneously hypertensive and DSS rats develop hypertrophy gradually due to the steady onset of hypertension, similar to AC in young rats. However, both AC and TAC have the additional advantage of providing the opportunity to study immediate changes in cardiac gene and protein expression due to the sudden elevation in arterial blood pressure .

## 1.4 Obesity

Recent UK statistics suggest that 22% of men and 24% of women aged 16 and over are obese (The NHS Information Centre, 2011). Furthermore, in 2009 16% of boys and 15% of girls aged 2 to 15 were obese (The NHS Information Centre, 2011), potentially due to high contribution of dietary fat to the total daily calories (Bender, 2008) (table 1.1). Obesity is defined as a body mass index (BMI) of  $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (The NHS Information Centre, 2011). BMI remains a powerful tool in identifying obesity although other indexes such as body fat percentage, waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio, and weight-to-height ratio are also useful (Litwin, 2008). Being overweight predisposes the individual to other co-morbidities including hyperglycaemia, hypertension, dyslipidaemia and insulin resistance [IR; a reduced sensitivity to the metabolic actions of insulin upon glucose disposal (Houben et al., 2012)] (Grundy, 2008, Despres, 1998, Harris et al., 2000, Lemieux et al., 2000).

Average UK Diet		
Dietary Component	% of Energy Intake	
Carbohydrate	45.0	
Starch	23.0	
Sucrose	14.0	
Lactose	3.0	
Glucose	2.0	
Protein	15.0	
Fats	37.0	
Saturated	17.0	
Monounsaturated	12.0	
Polyunsaturated	6.0	
Trans	2.0	
Alcohol	3.0	
Fibre	-	

#### Table 1.1 Average UK dietary macronutrient profile

Adapted from Bender (2008).

Although it has been argued that diets high in fat induce obesity – due to fat containing a greater number of calories per gram, high-sugar diets have also been shown to be detrimental to health and increase adiposity (Swarbrick et al., 2008, Stanhope et al., 2009). Importantly, obesity is strongly associated with hypertension, coronary artery disease and diabetes, all of which are significant risk factors for HF. Given that LVH is regarded as an important independent risk factor alongside hypertension, it is perhaps unsurprising that there is a close link between obesity and LVH.

### 1.4.1 Atherogenic effects of fatty acids

Excessive dietary fat consumption can have an important role on other factors which may alter cardiac function in obesity, including atheroma formation. To this end, studies have reported a deleterious action of increasing saturated FA (SFAs) consumption upon endothelial function (Fuentes et al., 2001, Keogh et al., 2005, Krogmann et al., 2011), and lipoprotein synthesis (Skeaff and Miller, 2009). Indeed, human coronary artery endothelial cells express a large platform of inflammatory genes in response to treatment with palmitate and stearate

(Krogmann et al., 2011). Furthermore, specific SFAs exert differential effects upon the cholesterol fractions of lipoproteins, with lauric, myristic, and palmitic acid augmenting low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol production, and stearic acid having no effect (Skeaff and Miller, 2009).

Greater focus has been placed upon understanding the relationship between dietary monounsaturated FAs and poly-unsaturated FAs (MUFAs and PUFAs, respectively) and the development of atherosclerosis, in particular n-3 and n-6 species. C5B7BL/6 mice fed a diet rich in n-3 eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) exhibit reduced aortic whole LDL and LDL-derived cholesterol ester uptake in comparison to littermates fed a high SFA diet (Chang et al., 2009). In addition, serum concentrations of EPA are inversely associated with anti-oxidised-LDL antibodies, with oxidation of LDL an important factor in the development of atherosclerosis (Garrido-Sanchez et al., 2008). Human populations which traditionally consume greater quantities of n-3 FAs show a reduction in atherosclerosis and carotid intima-media thickness compared to those which do not (Sekikawa et al., 2008). Furthermore, patients with hyperlipoproteinaemia exhibit reduced carotid intima-media thickness following 6 g/day of n-3 PUFAs (Baldassarre et al., 2006), suggesting a beneficial effect of dietary PUFA in regulating atheroma formation. Similar to EPA and DHA,  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid has favourable implications in most epidemiological studies examining the impact of FAs upon coronary heart disease (Mozaffarian, 2005). Moreover, n-3 fatty acids may also be direct ligands for transcription factors (Lengqvist et al., 2004), and also regulate inflammatory cell function (Caughey et al., 1996). The anti-inflammatory properties of n-3 FAs may relate to the partial displacement of arachidionic acid (a precursor to eicosanoids synthesis) from phospholipid membranes (Healy et al., 2000), therefore resulting in reduced inflammation and attenuated progression of atherosclerotic disease (Kinsella et al., 1990).

The n-6 FA linoleic acid is the primary dietary n-6 PUFA, and has a strong association with reduced cardiovascular disease (Ascherio, 2002). Following ingestion, linoleic acid can be desaturated and elongated to form further n-6 species, most importantly γ-linolenic and subsequently arachidionic acid, itself an important precursor for eicosanoid biosynthesis (Kelley et al., 1998). Importantly, western dietary patterns dictate an n-6:n-3 ratio of between 15:1 and 20:1 (Simopoulos, 2002, Simopoulos, 2006), demonstrating a low level of n-3 consumption in comparison to n-6. In vascular endothelial cells, n-6 FAs exert anti-inflammatory properties, suppressing the atherogenic activation and expression of adhesion

molecules and chemokines (De Caterina et al., 2000). Furthermore, a recent Japanese study demonstrated that high arachidionic acid supplementation for 4 weeks did not negatively impact upon platelet aggregation or any biochemical parameter measured (Kusumoto et al., 2007), an observation previously supported by a large-scale study by Ferrucci et al. (2006). Additionally, Pischon et al. (2003) showed that the most substantial effect upon inflammatory markers was observed with combined n-6 and n-3 PUFAs. However, it is impossible to ignore the large body of research which suggests that lowering n-6 PUFA consumption – and therefore reducing the n-6:n-3 ratio – is beneficial in terms of limiting diseases with a large inflammatory component such as atherosclerosis (Simopoulos, 2008). The favourable effect of linoleic acid upon reducing cardiovascular events may relate largely to its well-known cholesterol-lowering effects. A large meta-analysis revealed that substitution of carbohydrate for n-6 PUFAs had the greatest positive effect on total:high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol (Mensink et al., 2003). Furthermore, isocaloric replacement of 10% SFA with n-6 PUFAs leads to a reduction in LDL cholesterol of 0.47 mM (Mensink and Katan, 1992). This relationship has also been observed in primates fed a high n-6 PUFA diet for up to 5 years, with no evidence of harm (Wolfe et al., 1994). This may explain the positive association between high linoleic acid consumption and low rates of cardiovascular disease. This however, raises the question of whether the ratio of n-6:n-3 or the absolute amounts of these FAs are the important regulator of cardiovascular disease.

Dietary MUFAs have shown variable roles in the regulation of atherosclerotic disease. Indeed, a large meta-analysis of 11 studies in both America and Europe revealed that consumption of MUFA instead of SFA had no impact upon prevention of coronary heart disease (Jakobsen et al., 2009). Conversely, other large-scale studies have suggested a positive effect of MUFA consumption on coronary heart disease as part of a Mediterranean-style diet (Fung et al., 2009). Indeed, similar to PUFAs, MUFAs reduce total and LDL-cholesterol by 10% and 14%, respectfully, with olive oil ingestion reducing cardiovascular risk by 25% (Kris-Etherton et al., 1999). Furthermore, oleic acid enhances the ability of LDL to resist oxidative modification (Berry et al., 1991, Bonanome et al., 1992), potentially reducing the atherogenic effect of these particles, and does not lead to changes in LDL size in comparison to SFA consumption (Rivellese et al., 2003). However, as reviewed by Brown et al. (2007), when atheroma formation was assessed following MUFA intervention, both animal and human studies suggest no protection in comparison to SFAs. As such, the beneficial effects of MUFA consumption within the Mediterranean-style diet may relate more closely to their involvement in

inflammation and endothelial function. Indeed, such a diet reduces C-reactive protein (CRP), interleukin (IL)-6, and improves endothelial function (Esposito et al., 2004).

Trans FAs (TFAs) are produced via partial hydrogenation of vegetable oils, yielding a substance that compared to SFA, MUFAs, and PUFAs, has a long shelf life thus making it appealing to the food industry. In comparison to an equal percentage of calories derived from either SFA or MUFAs/PUFAs, TFAs increase LDL concentration with a concomitant decrease in HDL, therefore augmenting the total cholesterol:HDL ratio (Mensink et al., 2003). Additionally, compared to MUFAs or PUFAs, TFAs increase fasting TG concentrations and apoprotein (Apo)B levels, reduce ApoA-I (a key apolipoprotein associated with HDL) (Mozaffarian and Clarke, 2009), decrease LDL size (Mauger et al., 2003), and increase the activity of cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP) (van Tol et al., 1995). TFAs induce endothelial cell apoptosis (Zapolska-Downar et al., 2005), and impair flow-mediated dilation in the brachial artery after chronic (4 weeks) consumption. (de Roos et al., 2001). TFAs have also demonstrated substantial proinflammatory properties. In a 5 week crossover study, Baer et al. (2004) showed that TFAs increased IL-6 concentrations in comparison with MUFA, and also elevated levels of CRP. Combined, these studies suggest an important role of TFAs in potentially regulating the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis.

#### 1.4.2 Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ

In health, the sum total of the visceral adipose tissue mass is normally much smaller than that of subcutaneous (s/c) adipose tissue. Visceral adipose tissue is an important factor in influencing blood glucose and IR (Tulloch-Reid et al., 2004, Preis et al., 2010), although others have shown a similar correlation between s/c or visceral adipose tissue and IR (Abate et al., 1996, Kelley et al., 2000). The classic visceral deposition of TG within the abdomen involves the omental, mesenteric, and retroperitoneal fat depots (Wajchenberg, 2000). Bergman et al. (2006) proposed the size of visceral and s/c fat was linked to hepatic IR, which precedes the development of peripheral IR. This hypothesis is derived from studies on liver insulin receptor knockout (LIRKO) mice, which exhibit hyperinsulinaemia due to reduced receptor-mediated endocytosis (Michael et al., 2000). Importantly, in the fasted state these mice show substantial hyperglycaemia in the face of hyperinsulinaemia, indicating muscle and adipose tissue IR (Michael et al., 2000). Indeed, removal of omental adipose tissue improves glycaemia and reduces both hepatic and peripheral IR (Gabriely et al., 2002). Furthermore, removal of s/c adipose tissue via liposuction in obese women significantly improves glycaemia, insulin

20
concentrations, and IR (Giugliano et al., 2004). Ultimately, these studies suggest that both s/c and visceral fat depots contribute to the regulation of glycaemia and IR (Wajchenberg, 2000).

The destination of dietary fat is dependent upon existing adipose deposits. Increasing dietary fat in a lean individual primarily enhances deposition within the visceral depot, with continuing increases in dietary fat eventually over-spilling from visceral adipose tissue into s/c adipose tissue (Bergman et al., 2006). A recent area of interest in relation to ectopic fat accumulation and ventricular enlargement is the storage of fat in and around the myocardium, termed epicardial adipose tissue. This is a significant storage depot for dietary fat as there is no fascia between the adipose tissue and (underlying) myocardium, allowing adipocyte products including FAs and adipokines – to diffuse readily between the two (Sacks and Fain, 2007). This characteristic of epicardial adipose tissue may be of benefit to the myocardium as it may serve as a "filter" for circulating fatty acids, converting them to TG, and therefore limiting the exposure of the myocardium to high levels of FAs (Sacks and Fain, 2007). Importantly for obesity research, many rodent models of obesity exhibit no or very little epicardial adipose tissue (Marchington et al., 1989), compared to rabbits or larger mammals (Carroll et al., 1996), with this finding having important ramifications for comparison with human studies. Epicardial adipose tissue has also been shown to correlate strongly with left ventricular mass (lacobellis et al., 2004) and peripheral vascular resistance in patients (Kankaanpää et al., 2006), although a stronger relationship has been observed between FFAs and ventricular mass (Kankaanpää et al., 2006). The source of such FFAs may be derived from high rates of lipolysis observed in epicardial, visceral, and s/c adipose tissue (Mattacks and Pond, 1988, Marchington et al., 1989, Koutsari and Jensen, 2006). Interestingly, higher rates of lipolysis are observed in obese subjects (Nielsen et al., 2004) and experimental models of obesity (Bairras et al., 2007, Wueest et al., 2009), and may, in part, responsible for elevated FFAs in obesity (Koutsari and Jensen, 2006).

Adipose tissue is obviously the most an important tissue quantitatively for the storage of TG. However, storage of TG also occurs in non-adipose tissue (ectopic storage) in obese individuals, including the liver, skeletal muscle, and heart (Forouhi et al., 1999, Guzzaloni et al., 2000, Goodpaster et al., 2000). Recent evidence has identified adipose tissue as not solely a storage tissue but an important endocrine organ which can play an important role in regulating adiposity and thus obesity through release of key adipocyte hormones including leptin and adiponectin (Ahima, 2006, Hajer et al., 2008).

#### 1.4.2.1 Leptin

Leptin is a 16-kDa peptide encoded by the obesity gene (ob) and predominantly synthesised and released from adipocytes (Tartaglia, 1997). Leptin concentrations are substantially greater in women than men (Saad et al., 1997). Control of metabolism, in particular fat oxidation via AMPK activation (Unger et al., 1999, Minokoshi et al., 2002) and neural tone (Rahmouni et al., 2005) is intimately linked with leptin via leptin-receptor interactions within the hypothalamus and other organs, including kidney, liver and lungs (Sader et al., 2003), as well as the heart (Purdham et al., 2004). Food consumption ultimately leads to the transfer of TG and glucose from the blood into the adipocyte for storage. The increase in adipocyte mass leads to the release of leptin into the circulation where it crosses the blood-brain barrier (BBB) in the hypothalamus and inhibits the activity of neurones containing neuropetide Y (NPY) and agoutirelated peptide (AgRP) (Sader et al., 2003).

Leptin additionally stimulates those neurones which produce pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC) and cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript (CART) (figure 1.5) (Sader et al., 2003). NPY-containing neurones are crucial for the feeding stimulus, evidenced by the feeding response elicited following NPY injection into the hypothalamus of rats (Stanley and Leibowitz, 1985). Both sides of the control mechanism are mediated by melanocortin-4 (MC4) responsive neurones via interactions with agonsits (POMC) and antagonists (AgRP) (Sader et al., 2003).

The leptin receptor family consists of six different members (Ob-Ra, Ob-Rb, Ob-Rc, Ob-Rd, Ob-Re, and Ob-Rf) due to the variability produced during pre-mRNA transcript splicing of the diabetes gene (db) (Sweeney, 2002). In the rat heart, leptin, Ob-Ra, -Rb, and -Re are globally expressed (Purdham et al., 2004). Additionally, it has been shown that leptin is produced from cardiomyocytes, suggesting that in the heart leptin may operate in an autocrine-paracrine manner (Purdham et al., 2004).



**Figure 1.6 Regulation of feeding behaviour by leptin.** In the balanced system, stimulation of NPY- and AgRP-containing neurones occurs during periods of fasting and increased lipolysis, as a direct result of reduced leptin release from adipocytes. This ultimately leads to an increased feeding signal and promotes energy storage. Conversely, increased fat storage leads to inhibition of NPY/AgRP neurones and stimulation of those containing POMC/CART, signalling satiety and increasing energy expenditure. Adapted from Friedman (2011).

Binding of leptin to Ob-Rb results in janus kinase (JAK) activation, phosphorylation and activation of signal transducer and activators of transcription-3 (STAT3) and increased transcription of target genes, in particular, suppressor of cytokine signalling 3 (SOCS3), itself a negative regulator of leptin signalling (figure 1.7) (Sweeney, 2002). The leptin signal is also potentially able to cross-talk with insulin signalling via the phosphorylation and activation of insulin receptor substrate (IRS) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), respectively (Münzberg et al., 2005), and phosphodiesterase 3B (PDE3B) (Sahu and Metlakunta, 2005).



**Figure 1.7 Intracellular leptin signalling.** Upon binding to the Ob-Rb receptor, janus kinase (JAK) phosphorylates STAT3 which translocates to the nucleus and activates SOCS3 transcription, itself a negative regulator of the leptin cascade, acting by blocking leptin-induced JAK phosphorylation. Leptin also activates the PI3K and PDE3B, reducing the inhibitory action of cAMP upon STAT3. Stars denote phosphorylation. Adapted from Sahu (2003).

Obese humans and rodents exhibit hyperleptinaemia (Caprio et al., 1996, Hassink et al., 1996, Rahmouni et al., 2005). Rahmouni et al. (2005) demonstrated that in healthy weight rats fed a standard rodent chow, leptin administration via the femoral vein or carotid artery reduces food consumption, a pathway absent in obese rats. In mice, mean arterial pressure increases with the dose of leptin administered (Shek et al., 1998) and plasma leptin levels in obese subjects with weight gain-associated hypertension are significantly higher than obese normotensive, weight-matched controls, (Masuo et al., 2000). Moderately obese male C57BL/6J mice show no response to peripherally administered and intracerebroventricular-administered leptin in terms of appetite suppression, but exhibit preserved renal sympathetic nervous activity in response to leptin (Rahmouni et al., 2005). Taken together, the above results imply that hypothalamic leptin sensitivity is impaired in obesity, yet peripheral actions may still remain.

#### 1.4.2.2 Adiponectin

Scherer et al. (1995) first discovered the 247 amino acid peptide secreted from white adipose tissue, which was found to consist of four distinct domains; an N-terminus signal sequence, a variable region, a collagenous domain, and a globular region at the C-terminus (Scherer et al., 1995). Translation of mRNA coding for adiponectin results in generation of the adiponectin monomer, a structure which can undergo cleavage forming globular adiponectin. Alternatively, monomers can oligomerise to initially form low molecular weight (LMW) and then form the high molecular weight (HMW) structures (Suzuki et al., 2007, Ahima, 2006) (figure 1.8).



**Figure 1.8. Polymerisation of adiponectin.** Adiponection exists as trimers [low molecular weight (LMW)] which can form dimers [middle molecular weight (MMW), or high molecular weight (HMW) complexes. Adapted from Ahima et al. (2006).

Full length or globular adiponectin heightens the action of insulin in wild-type and *ob/ob* mice, and increases FAO via PPARα and PPARγ (Yamauchi et al., 2001, Berg et al., 2002), acting through the specific receptors AdipoR1 and AdipoR2. Both receptors show a high degree of homogeneity (>96%) but differing abundance, with AdipoR1 being primarily found in skeletal muscle and AdipoR2 within the liver (Yamauchi et al., 2001). Furthermore, adiponectin has been shown to stimulate glucose oxidation in C2C12 myocytes - as well as *in vivo* – via AMPK activation (Yamauchi et al., 2002). Deletion of the AdipoR1 receptor reduces FAO associated with globular adiponectin, but this effect does not extend to full length adiponectin, presumed to be signalling via AdipoR2 (Yamauchi et al., 2001). Adiponectin is reduced in obesity and shows a strong negative correlation with abdominal adiposity (Cnop et al., 2003, Pajvani et al., 2003), IR, and hyperlipidaemia (Maeda et al., 2002). Indeed, activation of PPARγ in IR humans and rodents by thiazolidinediones (TZDs) elevates plasma adiponectin levels, with this increase

abolished by TNF $\alpha$  (Yu et al., 2002b, Maeda et al., 2001, Phillips et al., 2009). As such, pathological conditions which disrupt the level of circulating adiponectin may be implicated in the obesity-linked IR.

Similar to leptin, adiponectin exhibits significant sexual dimorphism, with females showing higher concentrations (Kos et al., 2007, Pajvani et al., 2003). Specifically, in the female mouse total serum adiponectin was approximately 250% greater than that of males, with females showing a significant increase in the proportion of total serum adiponectin in the HMW form. (Pajvani et al., 2003). Similarly, the sexual dimorphism of adiponectin was found later to exist within the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of normal C57BL/6J mice, albeit at a much lower concentration than that of serum (Qi et al., 2004). Indeed, this finding has been observed in human subjects (Kos et al., 2007), suggesting that adiponectin diffuses from the serum across the BBB into the brain. Interestingly, CSF adiponectin consists of LMW and trimer structures, with HMW adiponectin being absent (Kusminski et al., 2007), suggesting that adiponectin functions of adiponectin are through the HMW form (Pajvani et al., 2004), it remains controversial as to the function of the LMW and trimer complexes in the CSF.

#### 1.4.2.3 Insulin

Insulin is synthesised from the progressive degradation of preproinsulin to proinsulin within the  $\beta$ -cells of the pancreas. Secretion of insulin is promoted by increased blood glucose, amino acids (van Loon et al., 2003), and FFAs (Itoh et al., 2003), and promotes protein and lipid anabolism in liver, muscle, and adipose tissue. Importantly, insulin concentrations are increased in obese subjects, suggesting potential resistance to its actions.

In obese persons, insulin-mediated glucose entry into liver, muscle, and adipose tissue is reduced. Several mechanisms have been proposed for the decreased sensitivity to the action of insulin, including reduced expression of the insulin receptor (Soli et al., 1975), decreased phosphorylation of tyrosine kinase and IRS (Hotamisligil and Spiegelman, 1994), and changes in the expression of glucose transporters (Kahn and Pedersen, 1993, Zierath et al., 1997, Brennan et al., 2004). Down-regulation of skeletal muscle and adipose tissue GLUT4 expression has been shown to occur in obesity, and may be responsible for the attenuated response to intravenous (iv) glucose tolerance test (Brennan et al., 2004). Additionally, Zierath et al. (1997)

observed that diet-induced obesity reduces insulin-stimulated glucose transport in muscle with specific impairment of membrane recruitment of GLUT4, accompanied with an attenuated interaction between IRS1 and PI3K. Thus, alterations the expression of GLUT4 via disruption to the translocation mechanism may play an important role in potentiating hyperglycaemia and IR.

The adipokines TNFα and adiponectin (Yamauchi et al., 2001, Cnop et al., 2003, Giugliano et al., 2004), and FAs (Yu et al., 2002a) have been linked to reduced insulin sensitivity and the development of IR. Increased adiposity is also linked with IR (Indulekha et al., 2011). Tulloch-Reid et al. (2004) demonstrated that IR is inversely related to both s/c and visceral adipose tissue depots. In this study group consisting of 78 African-Americans, both s/c and visceral adipose tissue showed differing degrees of correlation with insulin sensitivity depending on sex. Furthermore, increased s/c and visceral adiposity, as well as plasma TG, was associated with decreased insulin sensitivity in men and women (Tulloch-Reid et al., 2004). Taken together, the hormonal and metabolic alterations in obesity may expose the heart to a unique environment which may impact upon cardiac function.

#### 1.4.3 Obesity and cardiac function

Obesity increases the risk of developing hypertension and associated LVH, with this process ultimately leading to HF (Hubert et al., 1983, Kenchaiah et al., 2002). Indeed, Kenchaiah et al. (2002) demonstrated that for every 1 increment in BMI there was a 5 percent and 7 percent increase in the risk of developing HF in both men and women, respectively. An expanded fat mass increases circulating blood volume and leads to haemodynamic overload (Alpert, 2001). In addition to the increased preload derived from an augmented circulating volume, afterload is also increased due to hypertension. Consequently, obesity can impose a unique environment for cardiac growth due to both a pressure- and volume-overload stimulus.

Both concentric and eccentric remodelling patterns are evident in obesity (Chakko et al., 1991, Avelar et al., 2007), occurring with left atrial enlargement (Sasson et al., 1996, Movahed and Saito, 2008). Despite the ventricular remodelling, cardiac output was significantly increased in a population of obese patients when compared to lean subjects (Karason et al., 1998), potentially due to increased heart rate. In contrast to the positive effect upon cardiac output, ejection fraction is reduced (Karason et al., 1998, Alpert, 2001), unchanged (Grandi et al., 2000, Peterson et al., 2004), or increased (Pascual et al., 2003) following obesity. Importantly, the observed unchanged and increased ejection fraction should be interpreted cautiously as ejection fraction alone does not indicate more subtle changes in the myocardium such as fractional shortening. Indeed, both obese rats (Zhou et al., 2000) and patients (Alpert et al., 1985) show reduced fractional shortening, suggesting that ejection fraction alone may be an insufficient indicator of cardiac function in the obese subject. In addition to changes in systolic performance (fractional shortening), diastolic function has been shown to be impaired in hearts from obese patients (Sidana et al., 2005, Powell et al., 2006) and animal models (Carroll et al., 1999, Christoffersen et al., 2003).

Contrary to the finding that obesity increases the risk of developing cardiac dysfunction and HF, a greater BMI may be cardioprotective in HF patients, referred to as the "obesity paradox" (Anker and von Haehling, 2011). Horwich et al. (2001) showed in a large study of HF patients (n=1203) that 5-year mortality is significantly reduced in obese patients compared to lean equivalents. Furthermore, the authors postulated that this could be due in part to the ability of the obese population to tolerate more robust afterload-reducing agents such as angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, and the fact that obese patients may present at a clinically earlier stage due other co-morbidities. Additionally, in a large population of obese hypertensive patients, mortality was 30% lower than a normal weight group (Uretsky et al., 2007), although this is not without challenge (Kenchaiah et al., 2002). Increased adiposity may offer protective effects due to increased metabolic reserve during the end stages of HF characterised by cachexia (Oreopoulos et al., 2008). Furthermore, the elevated blood pressure in obesity may actually be beneficial in end-stage HF by maintaining adequate pressure in the face of declining cardiac function (Oreopoulos et al., 2008). As such, advocating weight-loss in HF patients may be detrimental to health (Anker and von Haehling, 2011).

## 1.4.4 Genetic models of obesity and LVH

#### 1.4.4.1 ob/ob and db/db mice

Unlike humans, animals are able to regulate body weight (BW) closely and hyperphagia is uncommon unless genetically predisposed. Indeed, several genetic models of hyperphagia have exploited the intimate relationship between food consumption and body mass, most notably those that disrupt leptin signalling. Both ob/ob and db/db mice exhibit disruption to the leptin signalling axis via either abrogation of leptin production (ob/ob) or the presence of a non-functional leptin receptor (db/db). ob/ob and db/db mice exhibit signs of substantial LVH and cardiac remodelling (Barouch et al., 2003). Importantly, in the hearts of ob/ob mice the ventricular remodelling process occurs independently of changes in systolic blood pressure or heart rate, suggesting a direct effect of leptin upon cardiac mass (Mascareno et al., 2009). Furthermore, leptin administration to ob/ob mice completely reverses the observed LVH (Barouch et al., 2003). Cardiomyocytes from ob/ob mice also show characteristics similar to those of the hypertrophied heart, including alterations to the cardiac  $\beta$ -adrenergic response, reduced sarcomere shortening, and attenuated sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca<sup>2+</sup> storage (Minhas et al., 2005). However, strain-specific differences exist with ob/ob mice, and this itself is an important consideration when interpreting data from these models. Indeed, ob/ob mice from a C57BLK/SJ background exhibit signs of diabetes by 5 weeks of age (Buchanan et al., 2005), whereas the more commonly used strain (C57BL/GJ) develops hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulinaemia, and IR by 8-12 weeks of age (Buchanan et al., 2005, Drel et al., 2006, Van den Bergh et al., 2008).

In contrast to ob/ob mice, db/db equivalents exhibit signs of cardiac dysfunction, with an increased end diastolic pressure (EDP), and decreased cardiac output and cardiac power despite an absence of LVH (Belke et al., 2000, Aasum et al., 2003). In this regard, these studies highlight a direct role of leptin signalling in cardiac physiology. Leptin is progressively elevated due to a non-functional leptin receptor and the hyperphagia observed in these mice (due to an absence of the satiety stimulus) ensures worsening of the leptin profile due to accumulation of adipose tissue and further synthesis of leptin. Both the ob/ob and db/db mouse show signs of metabolic disturbances, including dyslipidaemia, hyperglycaemia, and hyperinsulinaemia (Kobayashi et al., 2000, Aasum et al., 2003, Dong et al., 2006, Van Den Hoek et al., 2008), mirroring features commonly found in obese subjects. Normal levels of leptin may induce a reversible structural hypertrophy. However, in obese humans, serum leptin may induce a reversible structural hypertrophy. However, in response to leptin-deficient obesity (arguably not a true obese phenotype) may not relate directly to a known cardiac pathology.

#### 1.4.4.2 Zucker diabetic fatty (ZDF) rat (fa/fa)

The Zucker diabetic fatty (ZDF) rat exhibits severe obesity as a product of a dysfunctional leptin receptor, similar to that of the db/db mouse. ZDF rats exhibit hypertension (Alonso-Galicia et

al., 1996), cardiac hypertrophy (Fredersdorf et al., 2004), serum disturbances including hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulinaemia and hypertriglycerideaemia (Zhou et al., 2000, Coort et al., 2004). These rats also exhibit more severe signs of obesity including respiratory dysfunction (reduced total lung volume) (Yilmaz et al., 2010) further replicating the severely obese phenotype.

Although hearts from ZDF rats are generally larger than age-matched controls, Zhou et al. (2000) found that only the left ventricle was significantly hypertrophied when compared to lean +/+ littermates. ZDF rats develop an increase in end diastolic chamber size, reduced contractile dysfunction by 20 weeks of age, and augmented deposition of TG (Zhou et al., 2000). The significance of the left ventricle becoming hypertrophied may relate to the findings of Sista et al. (2005), who observed that the aorta of ZDF rats exhibited increased stiffness and fibrosis, thus increasing arterial hypertension and potentially causing enlargement of the left ventricle.

## **1.5 Objectives**

Although initially beneficial, cardiac hypertrophy is a significant and independent risk factor for the development of HF, and may have an important role in the progression of the disease. Additionally, besides being an additional risk factor for the development of HF, obesity produces a substantial challenge for the heart, both in terms of functional adaptation and metabolism. Human LCAD deficiency and animal models of diabetes and obesity (Zhou et al., 2000, Sharma et al., 2004) suggest that discord between the uptake and oxidation of LCFA can lead to accumulation of intracellular TG. Furthermore, this increased lipid accumulation may lead to enhanced cellular apoptosis via a ceramide-dependent mechanism (Park et al., 2008). Thus, the hypothesis that diminished rates of FAO in the hypertrophied heart may predispose cardiomyocytes to lipid accumulation when confronted with increased supply, forms the central tenet of this thesis. Consequently, the objectives of this study were to:

- 1. Determine the extent of lipid accumulation and contractile function in the hypertrophied heart under conditions of increased fat and sugar supply.
- 2. Examine the impact of increasing dietary fat and sugar upon myocardial substrate oxidation under basal and pressure-overload conditions.

3. Develop a robust method for the quantification of cardiac ceramide content and investigate potential alterations in its level following dietary intervention and pressure-overload hypertrophy.

**Chapter 2 Materials and methods** 

# 2.1 Materials

A list of all chemicals and their suppliers are given in table 2.1. Reagents were AnalaR grade unless otherwise stated.

Suppliers	Materials		
Abbott Laboratories	Isofluorane		
Kent, UK			
Agilent Technologies	Screw cap vials		
Berkshire, UK	Screw vials with fixed insert		
Apollo Scientific Ltd	Deuterated water		
Stockport, UK	Deuterated chloroform		
Avanti Polar Lipids	C8, C16, C17, C18, C20, C24 Ceramide		
AB, USA			
Biorad Laboratories	Bio-rad protein assay		
Munich, Germany			
British Oxygen Corporation	95% oxygen/5% carbon dioxide		
Manchester, UK			
Cambridge Isotope Laboratory	[U- <sup>13</sup> C] Sodium palmitate		
Andover, USA	[3- <sup>13</sup> C] Sodium lactate		
Chromacol	10ml screw top vial, clear round base		
Hertfordshire, UK			
Fisher Scientific	Glutamine		
Leicester, UK	Polysine <sup>®</sup> Slides		
Harvard Apparatus	Anaesthetic apparatus (gaseous) – Fluovac		
Edenbridge, UK	vacuum, veterinary fluosorber and ohmeda		
	fluotec vaporizer		
Intervet UK, Ltd	Amphipen		
Cambridge, UK			

## Table 2.1 Materials and suppliers

Johnson & Johnson	Ethicon 3-0 (Vicryl braided)				
North Yorkshire, UK	Ethicon 3-0				
	Isoflurane				
Millipore	0.45µm filter (HA type)				
Cork, Ireland	5.0μm filter (SVPP type)				
Nestle	Marvel milk powder				
UK					
Novartis Animal Health	Thiovet (sodium thiopentone)				
Hertfordshire, UK					
Sigma-Aldrich	Acrodisc <sup>®</sup> (0.2µm syringe filter)				
Poole, UK					
Pfizer Ltd	Rimadyl (5% w/v carprofen)				
Sandwich, UK					
Proliant Health Biologicals	Bovine serum albumin (fatty acid free				
Iowa, USA	<0.001%)				
Roche Diagnostics Limited	Complete <sup>®</sup> protease inhibitor cocktail				
Sussex, UK					
Sakura Finetek	Tissue-Tek OCT compound				
Zoeterwoude, Netherlands					

All biological and chemical enzymes supplied by Sigma Aldrich (Poole, UK) unless otherwise specified.

# 2.2 Methods

## 2.2.1 Surgical induction of pressure-overload hypertrophy

Pressure-overload hypertrophy was surgically induced as described previously (Boateng et al., 1997, Akki and Seymour, 2009). All animal experimentation conformed to the UK Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act (ASPA) of 1986.

Prior to surgery, food intake was restricted for 12 hours. Male Sprague Dawley rats (240-280g) were anaesthetised using 3.5% isoflurane in 3L O<sub>2</sub>. A s/c injection of Rimadyl (4mg/Kg BW, Pfizer Ltd, Sandwich, UK) was administered for post-operative pain relief. Anaesthesia was maintained using 2.5% isoflurane in 1L O<sub>2</sub> and anaesthetic depth assessed using the pedal withdrawal and tail-pinch reflexes. A laparotomy was performed and the abdominal aorta exposed at the level of the renal vessels. Non-absorbable 3-0 Mersilk<sup>\*</sup> suture thread (Johnson & Johnson, UK) was passed underneath the aorta and tied around a 0.5mm outer diameter blunted needle. Ligation of the aorta induced temporary blanching of the left kidney which recovered following removal of the needle (figure 2.1). Control (Con) animals underwent an identical procedure but without constriction of the aorta. Sterile isotonic saline (Animal Care, York, England) was administered directly into the abdominal cavity to replace fluid loss. The abdominal muscle layer was closed with braided absorbable sutures (Ethicon Vicryl, Johnson & Johnson, UK) and the dermal layer using non-absorbable monofilament sutures (Ethilon, Johnson & Johnson, UK). Animals received a s/c injection of the antibiotic Amfipen (42mg/kg, Intervet UK Ltd, Cambridge UK).



**Figure 2.1 Surgical Induction of cardiac hypertrophy.** A ligature was passed around the needle and aorta (A), tied (B), and the needle subsequently withdrawn (C).

## 2.2.2 Dietary regimen

Animals were allowed to recover for 48 hrs with food and water *ad libitum* before being assigned to diets containing 7% fat and 5% sucrose (standard diet, SD); 45% fat and 9% sucrose (high-fat diet, HFD); or 44% fat and 14% sucrose (western diet, WD) (table 2.2). The contribution of carbohydrate, protein, and individual FA species were calculated using heat of combustion values of 4, 4, and 9 kcal/g, respectively. Animals were maintained on each of the diets for 9 weeks. The WD was formulated to mimic western dietary patterns (table 1.1).

	SD 3.3 kcal/g		HFD 4.5 kcal/g		WD 4.6 kcal/g	
Dietary Component	g/100g	AFE	g/100g	AFE	g/100g	AFE
Carbohydrate	61.7	74.8	39.8	35.4	40.3	35.0
Starch	45.0	54.5	28.3	25.2	19.6	17.0
Sucrose	4.1	5.0	10.5	9.3	16.0	13.9
Other	12.6	15.3	1.0	0.9	4.6	4.0
Protein (Casein)	14.4	17.5	23.0	20.4	23.0	20.0
Fats (Lard + Soya Oil)	2.7	7.4	22.6	45.2	22.5	44.0
Saturated	0.5	1.4	6.5	13.0	6.5	12.7
C12:0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2
C14:0	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.8	0.4	0.8
C16:0	0.3	0.8	4.1	8.2	4.1	8.0
C18:0	0.1	0.3	1.9	3.8	1.9	3.7
Monounsaturated	0.9	2.5	6.4	12.8	6.4	12.5
C14:1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
C16:1	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2
C18:1 n-9	0.8	2.2	6.3	12.6	6.3	12.3
Polyunsaturated	0.9	2.5	3.5	7.0	3.5	6.8
C18:2 n-3	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.8	0.4	0.8
C18:3 n-6	0.7	1.9	3.1	6.2	3.1	6.1
C20:4 n-6	0.1	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Other	0.4	1.1	6.2	12.4	6.2	12.1
Fibre	4.7	-	4.6	-	4.6	-

## Table 2.2 Dietary constituents

SD, Standard Diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet; AFE; Atwater Fuel Energy (% total calories).

### 2.2.3 Preparation of Krebs-Henseleit (KH) buffer

Krebs-Henseleit (KH) buffer was prepared using Milli Q  $18M\Omega$  ultra-pure water gassed with  $95\%O_2/5\%CO_2$  containing (in mM): NaCl (118), NaHCO\_3 (25), KCl (4.8), KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (1.2), MgSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O (1.2), CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O (1.25), glucose (5), glutamine (0.5), lactate (1.0), palmitate (0.3), pyruvate (0.1), and insulin (0.1mU/ml) and filtered using 0.45µm filter paper prior to use.

### 2.2.4 Preparation of bovine serum albumin (BSA) buffer containing palmitate

#### 2.2.4.1 Preparation of dialysis tubing

Lengths of dialysis tubing (approximately 30cm) were boiled in 500ml containing 2% w/v NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and 1mM EDTA for 10 minutes before being rinsed with ultra-pure water and boiled for a further 10 minutes in 500ml of 1mM EDTA. All tubing was thoroughly rinsed with ultra-pure water prior to BSA dialysis.

Prior to dialysis a 30% (w/v) BSA solution was prepared using ultra-pure water  $18M\Omega$  containing (in mM); NaCl (118) and CaCl<sub>2</sub>2H<sub>2</sub>O (2.5) and dialysed against 20L of NaCl (118) and CaCl<sub>2</sub>2H<sub>2</sub>O (2.5), at 4°C for 48 hours. Following dialysis, the total volume of BSA was recorded, aliquoted and frozen at -20°C until use.

#### 2.2.4.2 Preparation of 3% BSA buffer containing substrates

Sodium palmitate (0.3mM) was dissolved in hot ultra-pure water before addition to 30% w/v BSA and then diluted appropriately to obtain a final concentration of 3% w/v BSA. Correction factors were applied to account for NaCl and  $CaCl_2$  already present (equation 1) and resultant KH/BSA buffer filtered through a 5µm filter before use.

Mass of NaCl or  $CaCl_2$  = Vol. of Albumin/L KH Buffer x MW of chemical x Molarity (M)

#### Equation 1: Calculation for NaCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub> present per litre of BSA solution.

For example, if the aliquoted BSA has a volume of 160ml, the amount of NaCl present in the BSA is equal to  $0.160 \times 58.44 \times 0.118 = 1.10g/L$ . This value can be subsequently substracted from the amount of NaCl required in the K-H buffer (6.89 -1.10 = 5.79g).

## 2.2.5 Isolated heart perfusion

Following 9 weeks of dietary regimen, animals were terminally anaesthetised via an intraperitoneal (i/p) injection of sodium thiopentone (0.5ml/100g BW). Hearts were rapidly excised and placed in ice-cold KH buffer containing 5mM glucose and 0.1 ml 20IU Heparin (LEO Laboratories Limited, Buckinghamshire, UK). Hearts were cannulated via the aorta and perfused in a modified isovolumic Langendorff mode (figure 2.2) (Sample et al., 2006) at a constant flow rate of 14ml/min (MHRE/22 Mk3 Flow Inducer, Watson-Marlow pump, Leeds, UK). Buffer was oxygenated with 95% O<sub>2</sub>/5% CO<sub>2</sub> (BOC, Surrey, UK) using a specially constructed oxygenator (Gamcsik et al., 1996). The apex of the heart was pierced using a 21G needle to prevent accumulation of fluid within the thebesian circulation.



Figure 2.2 Isolated Langendorff heart perfusion. L, left; R, right.

Copper pacing wires were inserted into the right ventricle and apex of the heart using a 25G microlance (BD, Ireland) and stimulated at a frequency of 5Hz and a voltage range of 0.6-1.5V.

### 2.2.5.1 Perfusion protocol

All hearts were equilibrated for an initial 15 minutes with unlabelled BSA buffer and perfused for a total of 65 minutes (figure 2.3). Buffers were either switched to those containing <sup>13</sup>C-labelled substrates or continued with unlabelled substrates. CFR was measured every 15 min. For mass spectrometry studies, hearts were perfused with KH buffer for 10 minutes to remove blood from the ventricles and the atria removed. At the end of the perfusion period hearts were freeze-clamped using liquid nitrogen-cooled Wollenberger tongs and stored at -80°C until use.



Figure 2.3 Perfusion protocols used in the current studies.

## 2.2.5.2 In vitro cardiac function

Left ventricular function was monitored using a balloon constructed of Saran wrap (Dow, UK) inserted into the left ventricle via the mitral valve. The balloon was attached via fluid-filled line to a physiological pressure transducer (SensorNor, Horten, Norway) and in turn was connected to a MacLab bridge amplifier (Powerlab (4/30) and ADInstruments Chart<sup>®</sup>5.5 reading system (ADInstruments, Hastings, UK). The balloon was inflated using a 2ml micrometer syringe (Gilmont Instruments, Barrington, USA) to achieve an end diastolic pressure (EDP) of approximately 7mmHg. Heart rate (HR), systolic pressure (SP), and EDP were recorded continuously throughout the perfusion (figure 2.4). Left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP) was calculated by subtracting the EDP from SP. Rate pressure product (RPP) was calculated as an index of cardiac function (equation 2).



**Figure 2.4 Recorded function obtained during isolated heart perfusion.** EDP, end diastolic pressure; SP, systolic pressure; LVDP, left ventricular developed pressure.

 $RPP = LVDP \times HR$ 

Equation 2: Calculation for determining RPP.

### 2.2.5.3 Myocardial oxygen consumption (MVO<sub>2</sub>)

Cardiac oxygen consumption was calculated from measurements of perfusion buffer and coronary effluent analysed using an ABL blood gas analyser (ABL77, Radiometer Medical, USA), and MVO<sub>2</sub> calculated described by Neely et al. (1967) (equation 3).



**Equation 3: Calculation of myocardial oxygen consumption.** Where 0.199 as the solubility of oxygen at 37°C (μmol/ml); CFR, coronary flow rate (14 ml/min).

Cardiac efficiency (CE) was calculated by dividing RPP by MVO<sub>2</sub>.

#### 2.2.5.4 Indices of cardiac hypertrophy

The extent of LVH was determined using the heart weight (HW)-to-tibia length (HW:TL) ratio (Yin et al., 1982) and HW-to-BW (HW:BW) ratios. Lung water content was used as an indicator of pulmonary congestion. Left:right kidney ratios were used to assess the severity of aortic constriction.

#### 2.2.5.5 Assessment of model adiposity

Retroperitoneal + perirenal, epididymal, mediastinal, adipose tissue (RPAT, EAT, MAT, respectively) deposits were resected and weighed.

#### 2.2.5.6 Haematocrit and serum analysis

Blood was collected from the thoracic cavity following excision of the heart and haematocrit determined using the ABL77 Blood Gas Analyser (Radiometer Medical, USA). Serum was obtained by centrifugation at 4000xg, 4°C for 10 minutes and stored at -20°C.

## 2.2.6 Metabolite assays

#### 2.2.6.1 Tissue extraction of glycogen

Approximately 300mg of ventricular tissue was digested with 0.5ml of 30% (w/v) KOH for 30min at 100°C using a heating block (Stuart Scientific Co LTD, UK) and 0.2ml of 2% (w/v)  $Na_2SO_4$  added when cooled . A sufficient volume of 100% (v/v) ethanol was added to give a final concentration of 75% (v/v). Samples were subsequently transferred to sealed centrifuge tubes and stored overnight at 4°C to allow glycogen to precipitate. The pellet was washed then centrifuged at 27000xg (Sorvall RC-58, USA) for 10 minutes before the supernatant was removed and the pellet washed again with 80% (v/v) ethanol and disaggregated with a glass rod. This solution was then centrifuged at 27000xg for 10 minutes and the pellets dried at 37°C.

Gycogen was digested using 0.5ml acetate buffer (1M sodium acetate/acetic acid buffer, pH 5.0), 0.1mM amyloglucosidase (500 $\mu$ g/ml amylo  $\alpha$ -1,4  $\alpha$ -1,6 glucosidase in acetate buffer), 1.5ml ultra-pure water, at 37°C for 1 hour prior to the addition of 1.4ml ultra-pure water. The

suspension was centrifuged at 27000xg for 20minutes, the supernatant decanted and used in the assay of glucose as described below.

#### 2.2.6.1.1 Glucose assay

Glucose concentrations were determined using a modified method of Huggett and Nixon (1957) based on the following reactions:



GOD, glucose oxidase; POD, peroxidase; 4-AAP, 4-aminoantipyrine; 4-HBS, 4-hydroxybenzene sulphonic acid.

Glucose reagent was prepared on the day of analysis and contained (in mM) NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (100), pH 7.0, 4-aminoantipyrine (0.4), 4-hydroxybenzene sulphonic acid (10), 0.8U/ml Peroxidase, and 10U/ml glucose oxidase. Samples (0.1ml) were mixed with 3.5ml glucose reagent and incubated at 30°C for 30 minutes and absorbances determined at 510nm. Glucose standard solutions (0.5-10mM) were analysed in parallel to the sample measurements. Sample concentrations were calculated using the straight line relationship (figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5 Glucose standard curve. Values represent mean of triplicates ± SEM.

#### 2.2.6.2 Tissue extraction of triglyceride and free fatty acids

Cardiac TG and FFA species were extracted using a modified method of the Bligh and Dyer (1959). Approximately 300mg of ground cardiac tissue was homogenised in 1ml chloroform/methanol/ultra-pure water (2:1:0.8 v/v/v) for 4 x 30 seconds using an Ultra Turrax T25 homogeniser (Janke & Kunkle GmbH and Co KG IKA Laboratechnik, Stauffen, Germany) at maximum speed. Chloroform/ultra-pure water (1ml, 2:1 v/v) was added and samples subsequently centrifuged at room temperature for 15 minutes at 764xg. The lower organic layer was removed and transferred to clean glass tubes, evaporated under a nitrogen stream and reconstituted in 0.5ml propan 2-ol.

#### 2.2.6.2.1 Triglyceride assay

Tissue and serum TGs were analysed using a Sigma-Aldrich kit (TR0100,) according to the manufacturer's instructions based on the following reactions:



TG, triglyceride LPL, lipoprotein lipase; FA, fatty acid; GK, glycerol kinase; ATP; adenosine-5'triphosphate; ADP, adenosine-5'-diphosphate; G-1-P, glycerol-1-phosphate; GPO, glycerol phosphate oxidase; DAP, dihydroxy-acetone phosphate; 4-AAP, 4-aminoantipyrine; ESPA, Nethyl-N-(3-sulphopropyl) m-anisidine; POD, peroxidase.

All components were reconstituted with ultra-pure water. Briefly, reconstituted glycerol reagent (0.8ml) was mixed with  $10\mu$ l of sample and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 5 minutes. Absorbance (A<sub>1</sub>) was read at 540nm using a Philips PU 8720 UV/VIS spectrophotometer (Philips, Spectroninc Analytical Equipments, Leeds, UK) and 0.2ml of a reconstituted triglyceride reagent was added and incubated for a further 5 minutes at  $37^{\circ}$ C and absorbance (A<sub>2</sub>) measured again. The linearity of the assay was determined by analysis of standards to the same time as samples (figure 2.6).



Figure 2.6 Triglyceride standard curve. Values represent mean of triplicates ± SEM.

TG concentration was calculated using equation 4:

$$TG Concentration (mM) = \frac{[FA sample - (IA sample x F)]}{[FA standard - (IA blank x F)]} \times Standard concentration x 1.13$$

**Equation 4: Calculation of triglyceride concentration.** TG, triglyceride; FA, final absorbance; IA, initial absorbance; F, 0.8; standard concentration, 2.5mg/ml; and 1.13 a conversion factor from mg/ml to mM.

#### 2.2.6.2.2 Free fatty acid assay

FFA samples (serum or extracted tissue) were analysed using a commercially available Halfmicro test kit (11 282 175 001). In brief, 50µl of sample was mixed with 1 ml of solution A and incubated at 25°C for 10 minutes. N-ethylmaleimide solution (0.05ml; provided with kit) was added and the initial absorbance read at 546 nm. To this, 0.6 ml of a reaction mixture was added and incubated at 25°C for a further 15 minutes before the final absorbance was read.



FFA - free fatty acid; Acyl CS, acyl-CoA synthetase; ACOD, acyl-CoA oxidase; 4-AAP, 4aminoantipyrine; TBHB, 3-hydroxy 2,4,5-tribromobenzoic acid; POD, peroxidase.

The concentration of FFA in the sample was determined using equation 5. A 0.35mM palmitic acid standard solution was used to produce a standard curve demonstrating the linearity of the assay (figure 2-7).

$$C = \frac{V}{(\epsilon x \mid x v)} x (\Delta As - \Delta Ab)$$

**Equation 5: Calculation of free fatty acid concentration.** V, total cuvette volume (1.15ml);  $\epsilon$ , extinction coefficient for of red dye (19.3 l mmol<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-1</sup>); l, light path (1cm); v, sample/standard volume (0.05ml); and  $\Delta$ As and  $\Delta$ Ab, change in sample and blank absorbance, respectively.



Figure 2.7 Free fatty acid standard curve. Values show mean of duplicates ± SEM.

## 2.2.7 Mitochondrial enzyme assays

#### 2.2.7.1 Medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (MCAD) assay

The MCAD assay was based upon the method of Lehman et al. (1990).

#### 2.2.7.1.1 Preparation of ferricene salt

Ferricenium salt was kindly prepared by Mrs. Kath Bulmer. In brief, a solution of 5g ferrocene in 10ml conc  $H_2SO_4$  was transferred to 150ml ultra pure water, filtered through two layers of Whatman no. 1 filter paper under vacuum. 5ml of a saturated sodium hexafluorophosphate (NaPF<sub>6</sub>) was added to the filtrate and the solution stored on ice for 30min after which the crystals were collected, washed with ultra pure water, filtered under vacuum and dried in a desiccator for 3 hours and stored at -20°C until required. Prior to use, the ferricenium hexafluorophosphate (FC<sup>+</sup>PF<sub>6</sub>) was dissolved in 2.5ml 10mM HCl and centrifuged at 3000xg for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was decanted, absorbance measured at 300nm, and concentration calculated using an extinction coefficient of 4.3mM<sup>-1</sup>cm<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 2.2.7.1.2 MCAD assay procedure

Frozen heart tissue (50mg) was homogenised in 1ml of extraction buffer containing (in mM);  $KH_2PO_4$  (50), EDTA (1), MgCl\_2 (2) for 2x30s on ice at 2400rpm using an Ultra Turrax T25 homogeniser and centrifuged at 9600xg at 4°C for 5min using a microfuge (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). The supernatant (20µl) was added to 900µl reaction buffer containing (in mM)  $KH_2PO_4$  (100), EDTA (1), and  $Na_2S_4O_6.2H_2O$  (0.5), pH 7.2, and octanoyl-CoA (50µM). The change in absorbance was measured over 3 minutes using a wavelength of 300 nm and activity calculated using an extinction coefficient of  $4.3mM^{-1}cm^{-1}$  and equation 6.



Equation 6: Calculation of enzyme activity.

#### 2.2.7.2 Citrate synthase (CS) assay procedure

CS activity was determined in extracted cardiac tissue by following the change in absorbance of 5,5 dithio-bis-2-nitrobenzoic acid (DTNB) (Morgan-Hughes et al., 1977). In brief, cardiac tissue (15mg) was homogenised in 1ml (in mM); imidazole (100), EGTA (1), and MgCl<sub>2</sub> (10), pH 7.2. Triton X- 100 (10µl) was added to the homogenates and kept on ice for 1 hour. Samples were centrifuged at 400xg for 10 minutes at 4°C and 20µl of supernatant was added to 1.98ml reaction buffer containing (in mM) tris [hydroxymethyl] aminomethane (50, pH 8.1), DTNB (0.2), acetyl CoA (0.1), oxaloacetate (0.5) and 0.05% w/v Triton X-100. The change in absorbance was measured at 412nm over 3 minutes and an extinction coefficient of 13.6 mM<sup>-1</sup>  $^{1}$ cm<sup>-1</sup> used to calculate activity (equation 6).

#### 2.2.7.3 Pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) assay

PDH was assayed using the method of Seymour and Chatham (1997). To determine the fraction of PDH in the active form (PDHa), inhibitors of PDH phosphatase (KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and KF) and PDH kinase (ADP and DCA) were used. For determination of total PDH (PDHt), the enzyme was converted to its active form using MgCl<sub>2</sub> to stimulate the phosphatase and ADP to inhibit the kinase.

For both PDHa and PDHt, approximately 200mg of ground ventricular tissue was homogenised using an Ultra Turrax T25 homogeniser (IKA Laboratechnik, Stauffen, Germany) for 30 seconds at maximum speed. The homogenisation buffer for PDHt contained (in mM) HEPES (75), dichloroacetate (DCA) (5), MgCl<sub>2</sub> (5), ADP (1), DTT (1), Leupeptin (0.5), TPP (thiamine pyrophosphate) (0.2), and 1% Triton X-100 (pH 7). For PDHa, the homogenisation buffer was HEPES (25), KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (25), DCA (1), EDTA (3), DTT (1), Leupeptin (0.5), and 1% Triton X-100 (pH 7). The sample was subsequently frozen in liquid nitrogen, thawed, and homogenised again for a total of 3 freeze-thaw cycles. Samples were centrifuged using a Microfuge (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) for 13000xg at 4°C for 8 minutes after which the supernatant was assayed.

#### 2.2.7.3.1 PDH assay procedure

PDH activity was determined spectrophotometrically (equation 2.8). The reaction buffer consisted of (in mM) 50mM HEPES (50), MgCl<sub>2</sub> (1), EGTA (0.08), and rotenone (4 $\mu$ M) (pH 7.2), with the addition of 50 $\mu$ l of 1.67mM NAD, (1.67), CoA (0.1), TPP (0.2), lactate (16.7), and 5 $\mu$ l

LDH (to give a final concentration of 2U) per 0.75ml and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 5 minutes.  $50\mu$ l of sample was added to each cuvette and the reaction followed for 3 minutes. An extinction coefficient of  $6.22 \text{mM}^{-1}$ cm<sup>-1</sup> was used for NADH to calculate PDH activity (equation 6).

#### 2.2.7.4 Oxoglutarate dehydrogenase (OGDH) assay procedure

OGDH activity was determined based upon the method of Hansford et al. (1990) following the change in absorbance of NAD at 340nm. OGDH was measured in PDHa and PDHt extracts to correct for any differences in extraction efficiency. OGDH activity was measured by adding 20µl of supernatant to 1ml reaction buffer containing (in mM)  $KH_2PO_4$  (50),  $MgSO_4$  (10),  $MgCl_2$  (5), EDTA (1), DTT (1) (pH 7.2), rotenone (2µm), NAD (2), 150 CoA (150 µm), TPP (20µm) 2-oxoglutarate (10), and ADP (2), and monitoring the change in absorbance for 3 minutes. An extinction coefficient of 6.22 mM<sup>-1</sup>cm<sup>-1</sup> was used for NAD.

#### 2.2.8 Hormones

#### 2.2.8.1 Leptin

Serum leptin was assayed using an ELISA kit (L1670-30J, US Biological). Serum samples were diluted 20-fold according to the manufacturer's instructions using a dilution buffer and 100µl added to each of the 96 well microplate and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature on a microplate shaker (300rpm). The plate was rinsed 3 times with a 10-fold dilution of a wash solution and biotin-labelled anti-mouse leptin (100 µl/well). Samples were then incubated for a further 1 hour at room temperature. The plate was rinsed a further 3 times and with Streptavidin-HRP conjugate (100µl/well) added after the final wash. The plate was shaken on a shaker (300rpm) for 30 minutes before being rinsed. Following rinsing, the plate was incubated for 10min with  $100\mu$ l/well of substrate solution after which  $100\mu$ l/well stop solution added and absorbance measured at 450nm. Serum leptin concentrations were determined using a standard curve generated with known leptin standards (figure 2.8).



Figure 2.8 Leptin standard curve. Values show mean of triplicates ± SEM.

#### 2.2.8.2 Insulin

Animals were fasted for 12 hours prior to the collection of serum. Fasted levels of insulin were assayed in serum using an Elisa kit (10-1250-01, Mercodia). Samples were diluted and 10µl of standard or sample loaded per well. Peroxidase conjugated mouse monoclonal anti-insulin was diluted 11-fold and 100µl added per well and the plate subsequently incubated on an orbital shaker at room temperature for 2 hours. The plate was rinsed with supplied wash solution and 20µl of 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) added per well and the plate incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes before the addition of 50µl of a stop solution and the absorbance at 450 nm read. Serum insulin concentrations were determined by using a standard curve generated with known insulin standards (figure 2.9).



Figure 2.9 Insulin standard curve. Values show mean of triplicates ± SEM.

## 2.2.9<sup>13</sup>C Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy

#### 2.2.9.1 Perchloric acid (PCA) extraction

Frozen cardiac tissue was ground to a fine powder using a mortar and pestle cooled with liquid nitrogen. The extraction procedure followed was that of Seymour et al (1990). Approximately 1g of ground cardiac tissue was added to 6% PCA at a ratio of 1:5 (w/v). The suspension was left on ice for 10 minutes after which samples were centrifuged at 3000xg for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was neutralised to approximately pH 6.5 using 6M KOH and centrifuged again. The resultant supernatant was decanted and frozen in liquid nitrogen, after which samples were lyophilised at -60°C for 48hrs in a freeze dryer (Modulyo, BOC Edwards, UK).

 $KH_2PO_4$  (50mM, pH 6.5) was prepared using ultrapure water and lyophilised for 48hrs using a freeze drier (Modulyo, BOC Edwards, UK). Lyophilised phosphate buffer was dissolved in 1ml of deuterium oxide (Apollo Scientific, Manchester, UK).

Tissue extracts were reconstituted in 0.95ml of deuterated phosphate buffer. To remove paramagnetic ions a small spatula of chelating resin (Chelex 100-sodium form, Sigma, Poole, UK) was added. The sample was subsequently filtered using a 0.2µm filter (Acrodisc<sup>®</sup> Pall Life Sciences, USA) into a 5mm NMR tube.

#### 2.2.9.2 Spectral acquisition

High-resolution <sup>1</sup>H decoupled (WALTZ-16 sequence) <sup>13</sup>C NMR were acquired using an 11.7 Tesla vertical ultra-shielded superconducting Bruker Magnet (Bruker, Coventry, UK) and a 5mm broadband probe interfaced with a Bruker spectrometer. Free induction decays (FIDs) were acquired over a total of 36000 scans per sample at a 90° pulse. Pulse duration was 9.95  $\mu$ s with a 1-second delay. Spectra were analysed after Fourier transform using Bruker Topsin (v.13).

### 2.2.9.3 <sup>13</sup>C NMR analysis

Glutamate isotopomer analysis were performed using the TCAcalc program provided by Dr. Mark Jeffrey (University of Texas, USA). Myocardial oxidative metabolism was examined using <sup>13</sup>C-labelled glutamate isotopic labelling. Determination of the peak intensities of the <sup>13</sup>C2, C3 and C4 resonances of glutamate and the <sup>13</sup>C3/<sup>13</sup>C4 peak area ratio were used to calculate the relative contributions of exogenous <sup>13</sup>C-labelled substrates to the generation of <sup>13</sup>C-labelled acetyl-CoA and subsequent calculation of oxidative metabolism.

The TCAcalc program assumes that acetyl-CoA can become enriched from the following sources (Young et al., 1997):

Generated from unlabelled substrates producing no <sup>13</sup>C labelling (Fc0).

Generated from <sup>13</sup>C substrates labelling acetyl-CoA at the carbonyl carbon atom, (Fc1).

Generated from <sup>13</sup>C substrates labelling acetyl-CoA at the methyl carbon atom, (Fc2).

Generated from <sup>13</sup>C substrates labelling acetyl-CoA on both the carbonyl and methyl carbon atoms, (Fc3).

The total contribution of each enrichment varies, but by definition  $\Sigma$ Fc0 + Fc1 + Fc2 + Fc3 = 1.

The TCAcalc program is based upon the following assumptions (Seymour et al., 1990):

The entry of carbon into the TCA cycle is derived from acetyl-CoA or via anaplerosis, the latter assumed to be 0.1.

The TCA cycle is in a steady-state.

The exchange between  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate and glutamate is rapid.

The <sup>13</sup>C label is scrambled after fumarate owing to symmetry of molecules

The <sup>13</sup>C found endogenously does not influence the labelling pattern of glutamate.

## 2.2.9.3.1 Labelling pattern of 3-<sup>13</sup>C lactate

Metabolism of  $3^{-13}$ C lactate produces acetyl-CoA labelled at the C2 position of acetyl-CoA. Condensation of  $2^{-13}$ C acetyl CoA with oxaloacetate produces citrate and subsequent  $\alpha$ ketoglutarate labelled at the C4 position. Progression through the first turn of the cycle sees the label scrambled between the C2 and C3 of malate and fumarate. When  $2^{-13}$ C acetyl-CoA meets oxaloacetate labelled in the C2 or C3 position, citrate labelled at C2 and C4, or C3 and C4 is generated. Continuation of the cycle labels glutamate at the C2, C3 and C4 positions of glutamate (figure 2.10).



**Figure 2.10 Profile of 3-**<sup>13</sup>**C lactate.** Red represents <sup>13</sup>**C** labelled carbon enrichment from the first turn. Orange represents <sup>13</sup>**C** labelled carbon from the previous turn.

# 2.2.9.3.2 Labelling pattern of U-<sup>13</sup>C palmitate

Uniformly labelled <sup>13</sup>C palmitate gives rise to acetyl-CoA labelled in both C1 and C2. During the first turn of the cycle, the <sup>13</sup>C label is found on the C5 and C4 due to the condensation of 1, 2-<sup>13</sup>C acetyl-CoA with unlabelled oxaloacetate and the subsequent formation of  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate and glutamate labelled at C5 and C4. Continuation of the first turn of the cycle sees the label incorporated into either C4 and C3, or C2 and C1 of malate and fumarate. Depending upon the labelling pattern generated during the first turn of the cycle, two labelling patterns of glutamate are generated (figure 2.11).

<sup>13</sup>C-labelled lactate produces one molecule of labelled acetyl-CoA. The relative contribution of palmitate to oxidative metabolism must be multiplied by two due to only 50% of the palmitate used contained the <sup>13</sup>C label (0.15mM unlabelled + 0.15mM labelled) due to expense. Hearts perfused with both lactate and glucose exhibit 9 peaks for both the C2 and C4 region, and 5 peaks for C3 (figure 2.12).

## 2.2.10 Lipid histology

Animals were anaesthetised via i/p sodium thiopentone (0.5ml/100g BW) and the heart rapidly excised. Hearts were perfused with KH buffer for 5 minutes to rinse blood from the ventricles and mounted on cork blocks using Tissue-Tek OCT<sup>®</sup>. Mounted hearts were placed in precooled 2-methyl-butane for 1 minute then transferred to liquid nitrogen. Samples were stored at -20°C prior to sectioning.

Five 10µm sections were cut starting at the apex of the heart using a cryostat microtome (Microm HM 505 E Cryostat, Thermo Scientific, Walldorf, Germany) and moving inwards 500µm, then taking 5 10µm sections. This process was repeated until the whole heart had been sectioned. Lipid deposition was examined using Oil red O (ORO) stain. The stain was prepared by dissolving 1g ORO in 100ml 60% triethyl phosphate (TEP) until saturated. The solution was left for 24 hours before being filtered on the day of use using Whatman No.4 filter paper. Slides were stained for 30 minutes then washed in 60 % TEP, counter-stained using haematoxylin for 3 minutes, washed a further time with ultrapure water and fixed using glycergel.

Sections were analysed using a light microscope (x45 magnification, Leica labor lux5, Leica Microsystems, Milton Keynes, UK) and colour camera (coolSNAP-Pro, Meyer Instruments, Inc, Texas, UK) and lipid deposition quantified by using ImageJ software.



**Figure 2.11 Profile of U-<sup>13</sup>C palmitate.** Red represents <sup>13</sup>C labelled carbon enrichment from the first turn. Orange represents <sup>13</sup>C labelled carbon from the previous turn.\* denotes half levels of <sup>13</sup>C enrichment from label scrambling.


Figure 2.12 <sup>13</sup>C isotopomer labelling profile glutamate. A) C2; B) C4; and C) C3. Q, quartet; D, doublet; S, singlet.

#### 2.2.11 Western blotting

Protein expression of PPAR $\alpha$ , CD36 and actin was examined in ventricular tissue using sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS PAGE) followed by western blotting for CD36 (Bonen et al., 2000) and PPAR $\alpha$  (Morgan et al., 2006a). GLUT4 and  $\alpha_1 Na^*K^*ATPase$  were detected by methods based upon Aksentijević et al. (2009).

#### 2.2.11.1 Sample preparation

200mg of ventricular tissue was homogenised (2 x 5 seconds at full speed) using a Ultra Turrax homogeniser in 1ml extraction buffer containing 50mM Tris Base (pH 7.4) , 1% SDS, and complete protease inhibitor cocktail<sup>®</sup> and centrifuged at 12100xg for 5 minutes at 4°C using a microcentrifuge (MicroCL 17R, Thermo Scientific, UK). Protein content in each sample was determined using the Bio-Rad assay method. Samples were subsequently diluted with the extraction buffer to a concentration of  $10\mu g/\mu l$ . An equal volume of 45mM Tris Base (pH7.4), 10% glycerol, 1% SDS, 2.5% 2-Mercaptoethanol Blue and Bromophenol Blue) was added to achieve a final protein concentration of  $5\mu g/\mu l$ . Samples were aliquoted, boiled for 3 minutes, and subsequently stored at -20°C.

#### 2.2.11.2 Subcellular membrane isolation

Subcellular membrane fractions were purified using differential sucrose gradient centrifugation based on the method of Aksentijevic et al. (2009) and used to measure GLUT4 expression.

Membrane fractions [sarcoplasmic (SR) and intracellular (ICM)] were harvested and diluted 1/5 in NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (10mM)/NaN<sub>3</sub> (5mM). Suspensions were centrifuged at 190000xg for 1 hour at 4°C. Pellets were re-suspended in sucrose (250mM)/Tris Base (50mM), pH 7.4. Due to low protein yield in the fractions, samples were pooled together with a total of 12 hearts for each experimental group. Intracellular membranes (ICMs) were characterised by no expression of  $\alpha_1$ Na<sup>+</sup>K<sup>+</sup>ATPase. The sarcolemmal fraction was characterised by expression of  $\alpha_1$ Na<sup>+</sup>K<sup>+</sup>ATPase.

#### 2.2.11.3 SDS-PAGE and blotting

Proteins were separated using SDS-PAGE. 50µg of protein (10µl) was loaded per well in a 3% stacking gel (5.55ml ultra pure water, 75µl 10% SDS, 0.94ml 1M Tris (pH 6.8), 0.95ml

acrylamide/Bis (30:0.8 w/v), 37.5µl ammonium persulphate (10%), and 15µl TEMED), and separated on a 12% running gel (5.02ml ultra pure water, 150µl 10% SDS, 3.75ml Tris [pH 8.8], 5ml 30:0.8 w/v acrylamide/Bis, 75µl ammonium persulphate, and 15µl TEMED). Proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes for 2 hours at 4°C using a mini-transblot cell (BioRad laboratories, UK).

Membranes were blocked for 1 hour in the appropriate buffer (table 2.3) and washed with 0.25% TBS-Tween 3 x 10 minutes. Membranes were incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C with gentle agitation. The primary antibody was removed with 3 x 10 min washes with 0.25% TBS-TWEEN and the membrane incubated with the secondary antibody at room temperature for 1 hour. The secondary antibody was removed with 5 x 5 minutes washes using 0.25% TBS-Tween (details given in table 2.3).

#### 2.2.11.4 Visualisation using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL)

Blots were visualised by exposing the membrane onto Kodak Biomex Light films (Sigma Aldrich, UK) using ECL reagents (Amersham, Uppsala, Sweeden. Scanned films were quantified using ImageJ<sup>®</sup> software.

#### 2.2.12 Statistical analysis

All data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error mean (SEM). Multiple comparisons were carried out with Analysis of Variance (ANOVA), followed by the Scheffé test for post-hoc analysis using PASW Statistics 18 software. A value of *P* < 0.05 was considered significant.

Antibody		Host/Type	Manufacturer	Dilution	Diluent	Blocking Buffer
CD36	Primary	Pabbit/polyclopal	Abcam, Cambridge,	1.6000	0.25% Tween TBS	0.25% Tween TBS
CD30	rinnary	Rabbit/ porycional	UK	1.0000	with 1% milk	with 5% milk
	Secondary	Goat Anti-rabbit	Santa Cruz, USA	1:8000	As above	As above
ΡΡΑRα	Primary	Rabbit/polyclonal	As above	1:1000	As above	As above
	Secondary	Donkeyt Anti-rabbit	As above	1:4000	As Above	As above
Actin	Primary	Rabbit/monoclonal	New England Biolabs,	1.1000	0.1% TBS-Tween	As above
Actin	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Rabbit/monocional	Ipswich, UK	1.1000	with 5% BSA	13 00000
	Secondary	Anti-Rabbit	Santa Cruz, USA	1:1000	As above	As above
GUUT4	GUUTA Primary	Goat/polyclonal	Santa Cruz 1154	1.2000	0.25% TBS-Tween	0.25% TBS-Tween
GLOTA	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Goad polycional	Janta Cruz, OJA	1.5000	with 1% milk	with 7.5% milk
	Secondary	Donkey Anti-goat	As above	1:2000	As above	As above
α₁Na <sup>+</sup> K <sup>+</sup> ATPase	Primary	Mouse/polyclonal	Abcam, Cambridge,	1:5000	As above	As above
	, initially		UK	1.0000		100000
	Secondary	Rabbit Anti-mouse	As above	1:7000	As Above	As above

# Table 2.3 Primary and secondary antibodies, suppliers, and dilutions

All secondary antibodies were HRP-conjugated.

Chapter 3 Characterisation of experimental hypertrophy

# **3.1 Introduction**

### 3.1.1 Impact of diet upon morphology

Increases in BW in obesity are predominantly reflected by changes in fat mass. Indeed, studies of adipose tissue have demonstrated that it is not merely a "sink" for excess dietary calories, but rather a highly complex tissue capable of manipulating numerous signalling pathways through secretion of cytokines, termed adipokines (chapter 1, section 1.4.1).

Increasing fat consumption also leads to a significantly elevated BW in rats (Akiyama et al., 1996, Ren et al., 2008). Conversely, other HFDs containing 60% fat show no increase in BW, but still demonstrate an increase in adiposity (Chess et al., 2008). Importantly, these studies also demonstrate a wider effect upon morphology including increases in liver weight and HW (Akiyama et al., 1996, Chess et al., 2008, Ren et al., 2008). Consequently, this raises the important concept that increasing dietary lipid consumption can potentially lead to increased heart mass.

Although HFDs have been shown to be detrimental to cardiac morphology, recent focus has been upon the morphological impact of WDs. Indeed, WDs differ in composition by a reduction in fat content, but an increase in sugar, namely sucrose or fructose. WD feeding leads to increases in adiposity and BW, liver weight, and HW (Wilson et al., 2007, Matsuzawa-Nagata et al., 2008, Akki and Seymour, 2009). Thus, the implication from these studies is that the combination of dietary fat and sugar elicits a similar effect to high-fat consumption alone.

### 3.1.2. Dietary modulation of cardiac hypertrophy

The impact of dietary manipulation upon the regulation and development of cardiac hypertrophy has yielded conflicting data, primarily due to differing dietary constituents, duration of study and strain of animal. However, excessive consumption of fat leads to the development of cardiac hypertrophy, and hyperinsulinaemia (Ouwens et al., 2005, Relling et al., 2006, Ouwens et al., 2007, Ren et al., 2008). Indeed, diets rich in fructose exaggerate ventricular remodelling compared to more complex carbohydrates (Sharma et al., 2007). However, others have not observed this relationship (Wilson et al., 2007, Chess et al., 2008), despite increasing epididymal fat, serum concentrations of leptin, and with no change in

insulin concentration (Chess et al., 2008). Thus, the differing serological profiles generated by various dietary patterns may be an important determinant of cardiac mass.

Due to the relationship between adiposity, blood pressure, and hypertension (Doll et al., 2002, Tu et al., 2011), several groups have examined the impact of dietary manipulation upon LVH in response to pressure-overload. Similar to the effect of dietary manipulation upon the healthy heart, data show conflicting observations. Indeed, some have shown that HFDs can attenuate the development of LVH in an established model of cardiac hypertrophy (Okere et al., 2005, Okere et al., 2006b), whereas others have shown HFDs to exacerbate the remodelling process (Raher et al., 2008).

Interestingly, high carbohydrate consumption can lead to increases in LV mass when compared to HFDs (Okere et al., 2005). Taken further, diets higher in sugars such as fructose and sucrose can exacerbate ventricular remodelling when compared to those diets containing starch alone (Sharma et al., 2007, Bouchard-Thomassin et al., 2011). However, a criticism of these studies – in particular those investigating the impact of carbohydrate upon the ventricular remodelling process – is that frequently the increase in dietary carbohydrate is not physiological and does not truly represent an accurate WD (Wright and Wang, 2010).

### 3.1.3 Objectives

The aim of this study was to characterise the impact of dietary manipulation upon the normal and hypertrophied heart, and whole body morphology. Furthermore, the dietary impact upon the serum concentration of glucose, FFAs, and TG, as well as both insulin and leptin, was also investigated.

# **3.2 Materials and Methods**

# 3.2.1 Induction of LVH

LVH was induced in male Sprague-Dawley rats as described in section 2.2.1.

# 3.2.2 Dietary Intervention

48 hours post-surgery, animals were assigned to the dietary regimens described in section 2.2.3, generating 6 experimental groups:

- Control + standard chow (Con-SD)
- Control + high-fat diet (Con-HFD)
- Control + western diet (Con-WD)
- Aortic Constriction + standard chow (AC-SD)
- Aortic Constriction + high-fat diet (AC-HFD)
- Aortic Constriction + western Diet (AC-WD).

Animals were studied at 9 weeks post-surgery. Hepatic histology was performed as described in section 2.2.10.

# 3.3 Results

### 3.3.1 Physiological data

All experimental groups demonstrated significant weight-gain following 9 weeks dietary manipulation. BW was significantly increased with HFD and WD feeding compared to the SD (figure 3.1A).

Over the 9 week period, BW increased in control (Con) and AC animals fed SD by 112% and 115%, respectively. Both groups fed the SD showed no significant difference in BW over the 9-week period (figure 3.1B). Con- and AC-HFD animals demonstrated a 150% and 124% increase in BW over the 9 week period, respectively (figure 3.1C). Similar increases in BW were observed for the WD group (161% and 117%, Con and AC respectively, figure 3.1D).

Con-HFD and Con-WD groups showed significantly greater BWs compared to SD counterparts at the end of the feeding protocol (table 3.1). Furthermore, the mean BW of the Con-WD group at this stage was significantly greater than the Con-HFD group. No significant difference was observed in BWs between AC groups by week 9 (table 3.1).

Haematocrit remained consistent in all groups (ranging from 41-44%) with no evidence of anaemia (table 3.1). Despite biological variation in the kidney response to AC in SD, HFD, and WD animals, left kidney:right kidney ratios were significantly reduced compared to respective control groups as expected (table 3.1). No difference between dietary groups was observed for AC animals. Furthermore, no group showed evidence of HF (dyspnoea, fatigue, or oedema), anaemia, or fluid accumulation in the lungs (table 3.1).



**Figure 3.1 Body weight changes over 9 week dietary intervention.** A) effect of different dietary regimens; B) effect of a standard diet (SD) on body weight; C) effect of a high-fat diet (HFD) on body weight; D) effect of a western diet (WD) on body weight. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction. \* P < 0.05 WD vs. SD, HFD, \*\* P < 0.05 SD vs. HFD, WD,  $\ddagger P < 0.05$  vs. respective control. Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

Group	Body weight	Tibia Length	L K:R K	Lung wet wgt:dry wgt
Group	(g)	(cm)		(%)
Con-SD (n=8)	532 ±24	4.44 ±0.03	1.0 ±0.0	76.4 ±0.8
Con-HFD (n=35)	619 ±9*	4.56 ±0.02	1.0 ±0.0	76.8 ±0.9
Con-WD (n=24)	645 ±19 <sup>#</sup>	4.52 ±0.04	1.0 ±0.0	77.2 ±1.1
AC-SD (n=7)	544 ±14	4.54 ±0.01	0.6 ±0.2**	76.3 ±1.3
AC-HFD (n=36)	570 ±11**	4.31 ±0.03	0.7 ±0.3**	76.5 ±0.4
AC-WD (n=19)	576 ±18**	4.36 ±0.03	0.7 ±0.3**	77.6 ±0.8

### Table 3.1 Physiological changes following 9 weeks of dietary intervention

Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet; L K:R K, left kidney:right kidney ratio. # P < 0.05 vs. Con-HFD, Con-SD. \* P < 0.05 vs. Con-SD. \*\* P < 0.05 vs. respective control. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

HFD and WD groups exhibited a significant increase in EAT, RPAT, and MAT deposition compared to their SD counterparts (table 3.2). EAT and RPAT weights were reduced by 18.7% and 21.9 % in AC animals fed a HFD, and by 24.0% and 26.7% in AC animals fed a WD when compared to their corresponding controls (table 3.2) .Both EAT and RPAT showed a significant correlation with BW (example shown in figure 3.2).

Liver weight was significantly increased following HFD or WD feeding compared to SD counterparts but no significant difference was observed between Con and AC groups (table 3.2). Macroscopically, livers from HFD and WD groups showed evidence of lipid accumulation (figure 3.3), which was confirmed by histological staining using ORO (figure 3.4) but no significant difference in the density of staining from either Con or AC groups.

### Table 3.2 Adipose tissue and hepatic physiology

Group	Abdominal		Thoracic	horacic	
Group	EAT (g)	RPAT(g)	MAT (g)	Liver weight (g)	
Con-SD	70.00	0.6.14.6	0.45.0002	42.2.4.2	
(n= 8)	7.0 ±0.9	9.6 ±1.6	0.15 ±0.02	12.3 ±1.2	
Con-HFD					
(n=35)	15.0 ±0.8*	21.5 ±1.1*	0.22 ±0.03*	19.3 ±1.9†	
Con-WD	17 5 11 1#	22 2 1 2 0*	0.24 +0.02*	10 7 11 1+	
(n=24)	17.5 ±1.1	23.2 ±2.0°	0.24 ±0.03	19.7 ±1.1 '	
AC-SD	6 8 +0 0	12 4 ±1 7	0 14 ±0 02	12 0 +1 0	
(n= 7)	0.8 ±0.9	12.4 ±1.7	0.14 ±0.02	12.9 ±1.0	
AC-HFD	122109+	16 8 11 0 <sup>\$</sup> +	0.21 +0.02+	100110+	
(n=36)	12.2 ±0.0 '	10.0 11.0 '	0.21 ±0.05	10.0 11.0	
AC-WD	12 2 ±0 0 <sup>\$</sup> +	176 ±1 5 <sup>\$</sup> +	0 22 +0 04+	10 2 +1 7+	
(n=19)	12.2 IO.9	17.0 11.5 1	0.25 ±0.041	13.2 ±1.7 '	

Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet; EAT, epididymal adipose tissue; RPAT, retroperitoneal + perirenal adipose tissue; MAT, mediastinal adipose tissue. tissue # P < 0.05 vs. Con-HFD, Con-SD. \* P < 0.05 vs. Con-SD. \$ P < 0.05 vs. respective control. † P < 0.05 vs. SD counterpart. Data presented as mean ± SEM.







**Figure 3.3 Macroscopic liver appearance following 9 weeks of dietary intervention.** A) Con-SD; B) AC-SD; C) Con-HFD; D) AC-HFD; E) Con-WD; F) AC-WD. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. Scale bar represents 500µm.



**Figure 3.4 Example Oil red O staining of lipid accumulation in liver tissue.** A) Con-HFD; B) AC-HFD; C) Con-WD; D) AC-WD; E) adipose tissue (positive control); F) lung (negative control). Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. Scale bar represents 100 μm.

### 3.3.2 Cardiac hypertrophy

A significant increase in HW was observed in AC animals fed a SD and WD compared to controls (figure 3.5). However, when HW was normalised to tibia length, all AC groups exhibited a significant increase compared to controls (figure 3.6). Similar results were observed when HW was normalised to BW (figure 3.7).



Figure 3.5 Heart weight following 9 weeks of dietary intervention. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet;. \* P < 0.05 vs. respective control. Data presented as mean ± SEM.



Figure 3.6 Heart weight-to-tibia length ratio following 9 weeks of dietary intervention. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. \* P < 0.05 vs. respective control, \*\* P < 0.001 vs. Con-WD. Data presented as mean ± SEM.



Figure 3.7 Heart weight-to-body weight ratio following 9 weeks of dietary intervention. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. \* P < 0.05 vs. Con-HFD, \*\* P < 0.001 vs. respective control. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

### 3.3.3 Serum metabolic profile

Serum glucose concentrations were unchanged in all groups although there was a trend for increased glucose in HFD groups which was further elevated in the WD groups (table 3.3). Serum FFA levels were significantly increased following HFD and WD intervention but not further affected following AC. Although HFD and WD feeding increased serum TG in the Con groups, the magnitude of this increase did not reach significance. However, AC-HFD and AC-WD groups exhibited a significant increase in serum TG concentration over SD counterparts. The serum concentration of leptin was significantly increased following both HFD and WD feeding in Con and AC groups (table 3.3).

	Glucose	Free Fatty Acid	Triglyceride	Leptin
	(mM)	(mM)	(mM)	(ng/ml)
Con-SD (n= 8)	11.85 ±0.8	0.09 ±0.01	1.47 ±0.14	10.6 ±1.7
Con-HFD (n=20)	13.21 ±0.41	0.25 ±0.02*	2.01 ±0.26	51.0 ±4.2*
Con-WD (n=12)	13.73 ±0.44	0.26 ±0.03*	2.00 ±0.21	54.3 ±4.7*
AC-SD (n=7)	11.13 ±0.2	0.11 ±0.02	1.55 ±0.25	7.1 ±1.2
AC-HFD (n=20)	12.08 ±0.43	0.23 ±0.01*	2.42 ±0.21*	45.0 ±7.0*
AC-WD (n=12)	12.81 ±0.27	0.24 ±0.01*	2.34 ±0.23*	48.3 ±6.6*

#### Table 3.3 Serum metabolites and hormone concentrations

Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. \* P < 0.05 vs. SD counterpart. Data presented as mean ± SEM. Fasting blood glucose concentrations did not differ in HFD and WD groups. AC had no impact (figure 3.4). Fasting concentrations of insulin were unaffected by WD feeding, or by AC (table 3.4).

	Control-HFD	Control-WD	AC-HFD	AC-WD
	(n=5)	(n=5)	(n=5)	(n=5)
Insulin (μg/L)	2.04 ±0.1	2.29 ±0.30	2.00 ±0.14	2.17 ±0.12
Glucose (mM)	12.63 ±0.55	12.62 ±0.31	12.26 ±0.75	12.23 ±0.27

#### Table 3.4 Fasting insulin and blood glucose concentrations

Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

Serum concentrations of leptin showed a significant positive correlation with BW and EAT (figure 3.8, A and B, respectively). Leptin concentration also correlated strongly with RPAT (R=0.8, P < 0.01).



Figure 3.8 Leptin relationship with body weight and adiposity. Relationship between serum leptin and body weight (A) and epididymal fat mass (B). Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet \* P < 0.01.

# 3.4 Discussion

The present study has shown that both HFDs and WDs have a substantial impact upon BW and adiposity, accompanied by an increase in serum leptin. These observations were greatest in animals fed a WD diet. In addition, animals from HFD and WD groups exhibited significant accumulation of lipid with the liver, demonstrated by histological staining. Importantly, dietary modification alone did not have any effect upon HW. By contrast, when combined with AC, WD feeding led to a greater degree of hypertrophy. These experiments suggest that increasing dietary carbohydrate consumption may exacerbate the development of cardiac hypertrophy in response to pressure-overload

#### 3.4.1 Dietary impact upon body weight

Increasing dietary fat consumption to 45% of the daily calories (HFD and WD groups) led to a significant elevation in BW after 9 weeks in the Con groups (table 3.1), consistent with previous studies using a similar diet (Akki and Seymour, 2009) or those using a higher fat component (Chess et al., 2008). This finding is most likely attributable to the increased calorific content of HFD and WD diets (due to increased fat content). Furthermore, in Con animals fed a WD a greater increase in BW was observed giving the highest weight-gain in this group (table 3.1). This observation highlights the fact that although dietary lipid consumption is a potent stimulus for weight-gain, increasing carbohydrate with fat consumption can exacerbate this process (table 3.1). Indeed, Raben et al. (2002) have demonstrated that raising the percentage sucrose consumption increased BW over a 10 week period in humans with a significant elevation in fat-mass compared to a BMI-matched control group supplemented with artificial sweeteners. However, in contrast to the present study Wilson and colleagues (2007) have shown that a longer WD feeding period did not exacerbate BW gain compared to a 60% fat diet. Although difficult to account for these differences, palatability of the animal feed may in part account for changes in diet consumption and therefore terminal BW.

BW did not differ significantly between AC groups, irrespective of diet (table 3.1). AC animals fed a HFD or WD weighed consistently less than their respective controls after 9 weeks primarily due to reluctance to feed immediately following the surgical procedure. This effect was most pronounced in the HFD group (figure 3.1). Similarly, it has been shown that mice subjected to TAC and a HFD demonstrated similar BWs to low-fat diet fed controls (Chess et al., 2008). Furthermore, increased starch or fructose consumption did not cause changes in

BW in TAC mice (Chess et al., 2007), suggesting that the delay in weight gain observed in the current study may be attributable to surgical intervention and slower adaption to the HFD/WD.

The changes in BW observed in Con-HFD and Con-WD groups most likely reflect changes in fat EAT, RPAT, and MAT (table 3.2), supported by previous studies (Okere et al., 2006a, Chess et al., 2009). Similar to Con groups, AC groups maintained on the HFD or WD showed comparable patterns in abdominal adipose tissue accumulation (table 3.2). However, AC animals from these dietary groups demonstrated significantly less abdominal fat mass when compared to their respective control (table 3.2), potentially explaining the lower BWs observed. Importantly, however, the total fat content did not change substantially between the HFD and WD groups, despite the WD group exhibiting significantly increased EAT and RPAT (table 3.2). This may be explained by increased consumption of the diet (due to palatability), or increased partitioning of dietary sugar into the storage of fat (Stanhope et al., 2009, Jurgens et al., 2005). In addition, a study by Okere et al. (2006a) demonstrated that SFAs, MUFAs, and PUFAs could regulate changes in adipose mass. Specifically, it was observed that a 60% MUFA/PUFA diet increased abdominal adipose tissue whereas diets high (60%) in SFAs (mainly palmitate) induced greater adipose accumulation in the thoracic cavity (Okere et al., 2006a). Thus, the high levels of SFA, MUFA, and PUFAs in the HFD and WD of the present study may promote fat deposition in several different anatomical areas.

### 3.4.2 Liver physiology

Liver weight was significantly increased following both HFD and WD feeding (table 3.2), characterised by increased lipid accumulation, and was unaffected by AC (figures 3.3 and 3.4, respectively).

In support of these observations are the results of Milagro et al. (2006), where rats fed a cafeteria diet (9.3% protein, 31.5% carbohydrate, and 59.2% fat) supplemented with Pâté, bacon, chips, cookies and chocolate for 8 weeks, developed hepatomegaly (+33%) and increased production of malondialdehyde (MDA) indicative of oxidative stress. Furthermore, Buettner et al. (2006) showed that increased consumption of lipid led to accumulation of lipid droplets within the liver. Zheng and colleagues (2008) showed that a 45% fat diet induced

hepatomegaly and hepatic steatohepatitis after 7 months in C57BL/6J mice. Thus, enhanced fat consumption can lead to excessive hepatic lipid accumulation.

The hepatic lipid accumulation observed in response to the HFD and WD may be due to increased expression of fatty acid synthase (FAS) genes, under the control of sterol response element-binding protein-1c (SREBP-1c), and diminished expression of CPT1 via decreased expression of PPARα (Buettner et al., 2006). Interestingly, the expression of SREBP1c was increased following high-lard, -olive oil, or -coconut fat, but not with high-fish oil feeding (Buettner et al., 2006). Equally, in the study described by Buettner et al., fish oil was the only experimental diet which increased the expression of hepatic PPARα (Buettner et al., 2006). Consequently, under conditions of increased FA stress the liver may lose its capacity to oxidise dietary lipid fully, leading to lipid deposition.

Increased sugar consumption has also been linked to the development of liver pathology. Ryu and Cha (2003) showed that a diet high in sucrose led to a significant increase in hepatic TG and total cholesterol. Indeed, diets containing 40% (w/w) sucrose also induced lipid accumulation (Roncal-Jimenez et al., 2011). Furthermore, in Wistar rats, fructose (10% w/v in drinking water) combined with a HFD led to a significant increase in liver weight and hepatic lipid accumulation (Aragno et al., 2009). Moreover, high fat and fructose diets led to increased oxidative stress and activation of SREBP-1c (Aragno et al., 2009). Thus, the combined effect of increased lipid and sucrose consumption in the WD group may create a favourable environment for either enhanced hepatic synthesis of TG, or elevated uptake of adipose tissue-derived TG.

### 3.4.3 Dietary regulation of cardiac hypertrophy

The current study identified little impact of a HFD or WD upon cardiac mass or hypertrophy (figures 3.5-3.7), consistent with previous findings (Akki et al., 2008, Chess et al., 2008), and models of high starch and fructose consumption (Chess et al., 2007). In contrast, others have demonstrated a clear hypertrophy following high-fat and WD feeding in mice and rats (Aguila and Mandarim-de-Lacerda, 2001, Relling et al., 2006, Tikellis et al., 2008). Consequently, the differing responses to excessive dietary fat may be a reflection of the animal model used, the duration of the study, and perhaps more importantly, the source of dietary fat. Indeed, it was recently suggested that increased consumption of the n-3 PUFA,  $\alpha$ -linoleic acid, was associated

with ventricular thickening in the absence of systemic changes in blood pressure (Jeckel et al., 2011). This clearly demonstrates the necessity for further research into the cardiac signalling pathways activated by dietary FAs.

The present study indicated that AC induced significant hypertrophy in all dietary groups, (figure 3.6 and 3.7). Furthermore, AC-SD and AC-WD groups showed a significant increase in HW compared to their controls, but not in the AC-HFD group (figure 3.5). Tibia length was used as an indicator of hypertrophy as this variable remains constant over a certain age (Yin et al., 1982). However, the increase in HW was so great following AC that all AC groups exhibited increased HW:BW ratios compared to their respective controls (figure 3.7) The greatest increases in HW, HW:TL, and HW:BW were observed in SD and WD groups (figure 3.6 and 3.7, respectively). Thus, supplementary dietary carbohydrate consumption exacerbates the development of cardiac hypertrophy in response to pressure overload. Additionally, the addition of sucrose to a HFD augmented the hypertrophic response compared to a HFD alone, suggesting an important role of dietary sugar in the progression of cardiac hypertrophy. This observation is supported by previous studies using a higher percentage fat in the diet (Okere et al., 2005, Okere et al., 2006b). Indeed, DSS rats maintained on a HFD (60% kcal as fat) exhibited a blunted hypertrophic response to salt treatment when compared to littermates fed a high-carbohydrate diet (Okere et al., 2005). Importantly, this effect was observed despite similar systemic blood pressures, indicating that dietary lipid may attenuate the development of LVH independently of blood pressure (Okere et al., 2005). Conversely, mice, subjected to TAC which were fed a HFD (60% kcal), still develop significant cardiac hypertrophy compared to low-fat fed controls (Chess et al., 2008). Consequently, the ability of HFDs to regulate the progression of cardiac hypertrophy may be dependent upon the severity of the hypertrophic stimulus, the duration of the study, and the time between the initiation of hypertrophic growth and commencement of the diet.

Heightened consumption of carbohydrate can augment LV mass in DSS rats in comparison to those maintained on a HFD (Okere et al., 2005). Furthermore, replacing standard carbohydrate starch (the main carbohydrate in many animal diets) with fructose (70% kcal) led to an increase in mortality in DSS rats when compared to those fed a high-starch (70% kcal), high-fat (60% kcal), or a WD (45% fat, 35% fructose) consumption, along with a concomitant increase in LVH (Sharma et al., 2007). This association between cardiac mass and dietary sugar has been observed with high-sucrose feeding (Sharma et al., 2008). Thus, diets high in carbohydrate may

be more detrimental to cardiac morphology than those containing a similar amount of lipid. This finding may account for the greater HWs observed in the AC-SD and AC-WD groups. As such, these data indicate that increasing dietary carbohydrate consumption leads to a more extensive LVH, whereas high lipid consumption could potentially attenuate this.

#### 3.4.4 Serum alterations following dietary treatment and AC

The present study demonstrated no difference in TG concentration between Con and AC groups, although TG levels were slightly increased in both AC-HFD and AC-WD animals (table 3.3). Serum TG is elevated by diets containing 40% coconut fat, olive oil, and sunflower oil (Yaqoob et al., 1995, Ruiz-Gutierrez et al., 1999), and decreased or unchanged by high safflower or fish oil consumption (Yaqoob et al., 1995, Chalkley et al., 2002). This elevation in TG in the AC-HFD and –WD groups is difficult to account for as others have suggested that increasing fat consumption has little effect (Chess et al., 2008) or lowers serum TG in hypertensive animals (Okere et al., 2006b, Chess et al., 2009) and therefore require furthers investigation in the present model. However, these differences may be related to the strain of experimental animals, as it has previously been shown that both Wistar and Sprague Dawley rats have differing lipid metabolism (Galan et al., 1994), with additional strain changes observed following HFDs (Akiyama et al., 1996, Oliveira et al., 2009).

Serum glucose concentrations were marginally but not significantly elevated in HFD and WD groups when compared to SD controls (table 3.3 and 3.4), consistent with previous work from our laboratory (Akki and Seymour, 2009). Many groups have reported that increased lipid consumption and adiposity can produce hyperglycaemia (Akiyama et al., 1996, Gastaldelli et al., 2004, Srinivasan et al., 2004, Ouwens et al., 2005), although certain HFDs have little effect on blood glucose concentrations (Chess et al., 2008, Chess et al., 2009). Wilson and colleagues (2007) showed that chronic WD feeding did not cause hyperglycaemia, with similar findings observed by Aragno et al. (2009). Interestingly, a synergistic effect between dietary lipid and sugar may exist at a hepatic level (Coate et al., 2010). A combined effect of high-fat/high-fructose feeding led to reduced hepatic clearance of glucose and subsequent elevated blood glucose concentrations, in part due to desensitivity of the liver and skeletal muscle system to the actions of insulin (Coate et al., 2010).

Serum FFAs were significantly increased following a HFD and WD (table 3.3), and were higher than previously reported in animals fed a HFD (Akki and Seymour, 2009). Such a serological response to increased fat feeding has been documented elsewhere (Wilson et al., 2007, Chess et al., 2008). Increased circulating FFAs have been linked with obesity and type 2 diabetes (Reaven et al., 1988) and may lead to more severe IR (Coate et al., 2010).

Enhanced hepatic fat content, as observed in the present study, may occur as a result of increased resistance to insulin-stimulated suppression of lipolysis and consequently higher circulating FFAs (Seppälä-Lindroos et al., 2002). In addition, Buettner et al. (2006) have shown that the serum FFA profile mirrors the dietary FA constituents. However, other dietary components may alter the serum FFA profile. Modification of the digestibility of dietary starch has also been shown to influence the FFA content of blood. High GI starch derived from wheat increased plasma FFAs to a greater extent than low GI starch derived from mung beans (Lerer-Metzger et al., 1996). Similarly, increasing dietary sucrose consumption (39% daily calories) in low-fat fed WKA rats led to the accumulation of palmitic, palmitoleic, oleic, and a decrease in linoleic acid, arachadonic, and docosahexaenoic FA species (Fukuchi et al., 2004). Because the changes observed in the plasma FA profile did not mirror the dietary lipid constituents, endogenous synthesis of FAs was likely for the discordance between diet and plasma FFA in sucrose-fed rats (Fukuchi et al., 2004). Thus, the elevated FFA concentration in HFD and WD animals may be attributable to dietary origin, reduced partitioning into adipose tissue, or increased endogenous synthesis.

### 3.4.5 Leptin

In this study, a significant increase in leptin was observed following both HFD and WD feeding when compared to SD counterparts (table 3.3) in Con and AC groups. Furthermore, leptin was shown to correlate positively with BW (figure 3.9A) and fat mass (figure 3.9B), consistent with Frederich et al. (1995). Leptin levels are increased following high-fat and WD feeding (Woods et al., 2004, Chess et al., 2008), and also by high-fructose feeding (Shapiro et al., 2008) as a consequence of elevated fat mass.

The observations of progressive BW gain, increased adipose tissue mass, and elevated serum concentrations of leptin in the present study in HFD and WD animals would imply leptin

resistance. This has been previously documented in models of high-fat and WD feeding (Van Heek et al., 1997, Shapiro et al., 2008).

Serum leptin concentrations were decreased in AC animals fed a HFD and WD in comparison to their dietary controls (table 3.3) potentially due to reduced adiposity, and were also reported in hypertensive DSS rats (Okere et al., 2006b). Mascareno et al. (2009) have shown that TAC in ob/ob mice increased LV mass beyond that of TAC in C57BL6/J ob+/ob+ mice, and augmented collagen deposition, suggesting a potential anti-hypertrophic role of leptin. However, hyperleptinaemia observed following HFD and WD feeding might have important consequences for cardiac morphology. For example, hyperleptinaemia has been linked with increased sympathetic nerve activation (SNA), speculated to be an additive component in increasing blood pressure (Masuo et al., 2000). In addition, studies in neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVMs) have shown that leptin stimulates hypertrophy via MAPK activation (Rajapurohitam et al., 2003), and also contributes to the hypertrophic actions of endothelin-1 (ET-1) and Angiotensin II (Ang II) (Rajapurohitam et al., 2006). More recent studies have shown that hypertrophy in NRVMs is also dependent upon activation of the JAK/STAT pathway, with this finding also being supported by murine post-MI studies (Abe et al., 2007). However, using tamoxifen-inducible leptin receptor knockout (ObR-KO) mice McGaffin et al. (2011) demonstrated that selective disruption of leptin signalling leads to increased ventricular remodelling and a worsening of the hypertrophic response, as well as inflammation and apoptosis. Consequently, the effect of hyperleptinaemia upon the heart remains unknown, but is important because of the relationship between leptin, obesity, and cardiac hypertrophy.

### 3.4.6 Insulin

Fasting levels of serum insulin did not differ between groups fed either a HFD or WD (table 3.4). However, there was a trend for WD animals to exhibit increased insulin concentrations despite similar fasting serum glucose concentrations (table 3.4).

Using a diet containing 60% SFA, Chess et al.(2008) demonstrated a similar response to the current study. Indeed, this insulin response has also been observed following diets high in PUFAs (Okere et al., 2006b). Conversely, others have demonstrated that a HFD leads to the development of IR (Matsuzawa-Nagata et al., 2008). Interestingly, these authors noted that prior to the onset of hyperinsulinaemia and IR, there was evidence of increased oxidative

stress via enhanced hepatic β-oxidation, activity of ACO, and cytochrome P450 2E1 (CYP2E1), and reduced ROS scavenging capability. Consequently, hepatic lipid metabolism may play a crucial role in regulating insulin sensitivity. Furthermore, mice fed a HFD demonstrated delayed glucose clearance following oral glucose administration and respond less rapidly to i/p insulin when compared to standard-chow fed controls, speculated to be a result of abrogated peripheral sensitivity following elevated serum FFAs (Sumiyoshi et al., 2006). Indeed, the present study has identified that FFAs were elevated following HFD and WD feeding, mirroring the obese phenotype (Mayer-Davis et al., 1997). Consequently, it may be inferred that the increased dietary fat gives rise to IR, therefore creating a favourable environment for elevated dietary sugar to promote hyperglycaemia.

Insulin has been implicated in the ventricular remodelling process with transgenic mice studies lending much weight to this hypothesis. Deletion of the cardiac insulin receptor leads to impaired cardiac growth and subsequent attenuated expression of protein kinase B (Akt) (Belke et al., 2002, Shiojima et al., 2002). Importantly, patients with LVH have a higher plasma insulin and greater degree of IR (Watanabe et al., 1999, Ilercil et al., 2002). Indeed, the relationship between LV mass and insulin still existed following correction for blood pressure and body mass (Ilercil et al., 2002). Interestingly, even when skeletal muscle exhibits IR, cardiac insulin sensitivity is preserved (Utriainen et al., 1998). As such, hyperinsulinaemia of obesity may be a physiological mechanism for maintaining skeletal muscle and liver insulin sensitivity but may lead to over-stimulation of the cardiac insulin cascade and potentially exacerbating LVH in response to hypertension.

#### 3.4.7 Summary

In the current study, animals fed a HFD or WD showed progressive weight-gain over a 9 week period. Leptin concentrations were increased and correlated strongly with changes in adiposity and BW. A HFD or WD led to a subtle increase in blood glucose and TG, but a much greater increase in serum FAs, and substantial hepatic lipid accumulation. Limited impact was observed upon cardiac morphology following HFD or WD feeding in Con animals. Conversely, AC animals developed significant cardiac hypertrophy as anticipated, and demonstrated similar serum changes to their dietary matched controls. Furthermore, the hypertrophic response was greatest in animals fed either a SD or WD. This study demonstrates that the combination of dietary manipulation and LVH leads to differential cardiac responses but not HF within the time frame of the experiments.

Chapter 4: In vitro cardiac function and metabolism

# 4.1 Introduction

Although it has been argued that HFDs can induce obesity, high-sugar-containing diets can also be detrimental to health and increase adiposity (Swarbrick et al., 2008, Stanhope et al., 2009). Importantly, increased adiposity is strongly associated with hypertension and coronary artery disease, with hypertension a strong predictor of left ventricular mass and subsequent hypertrophy (Rame and Dries, 2007). Indeed, LVH is strongly associated with the development of heart failure (HF) (Rame and Dries, 2007). Understanding the mechanisms which regulate the transition from compensated LVH to HF remains an important research field. Moreover, recent studies have begun to examine the specific impact certain macronutrients have upon this remodelling process, frequently producing conflicting data.

### 4.1.1 Regulation of metabolism in cardiac hypertrophy

The crucial role PPARs play in regulating cardiac metabolism (chapter 1, section 1.2) lend themselves to study during hypertrophic growth, with the PPAR $\alpha$  pathway being the most widely studied due to the relationship with cardiac lipid metabolism (Barger et al., 2000). In cardiomyocyte hypertrophy induced by phenylephrine stimulation, decreased PPAR $\alpha$  mRNA expression has been observed concomitantly with decreased mCPT1 mRNA and reduced FAO (Barger et al., 2000, Kato et al., 2010). Similarly, models of LVH induced by TAC and abdominal AC also recapitulate this (Barger et al., 2000, Akki et al., 2008) and PPAR $\alpha$  mRNA in the left ventricle decreases as ventricular mass increases (Sack et al., 1996). Indeed, expression of PPAR $\alpha$  in LVH is reduced to a level expressed in the foetal phenotype the hypertrophied ventricle (Sack et al., 1997).

PGC-1 $\alpha$  is a PPAR $\alpha$ -coactivator induced under conditions related to increased energy production, such as adaptive thermogenesis (Puigserver et al., 1998), and is highly expressed in tissues with elevated rates of FAO, or tissues with high mitochondrial content such as the heart and brown adipose tissue (Puigserver and Spiegelman, 2003). Furthermore, an important role for PGC-1 $\alpha$  in regulating the metabolic adaptation that accompanies hypertrophy has been deduced from its mitochondrial biogenic properties (Lehman et al., 2000). Data show that PGC-1 $\alpha$  is decreased in pathological cardiac hypertrophy (Barger et al., 2000) and consequently result in a decline in mitochondrial content which may be a speculative cause for the energy depletion observed in HF (Neubauer, 2007).

#### 4.1.2 Impact of diet upon ventricular function

The impact of diet upon ventricular remodelling has frequently produced conflicting data with studies identifying a positive (Okere et al., 2006a) (Okere et al., 2006b) or negative (Ouwens et al., 2005) impact upon function. Indeed, increased dietary fat consumption enhanced the expression of PPAR $\alpha$  without a negative impact upon function (Okere et al., 2006b). Furthermore, data indicate that diets high in carbohydrate can lead to cardiac dysfunction (Duda et al., 2008, Deng et al., 2007). Furthermore, increasing dietary carbohydrate in combination with high fat content (mimicking a WD) led to a reduction in cardiac function and increased oxygen consumption when compared to low-fat fed controls (Wilson et al., 2007, Akki and Seymour, 2009).

#### 4.1.3 Dietary impact upon function in LVH

Increased consumption of dietary lipid has yielded opposing data regarding the effect upon function in the hypertrophied heart. Several studies have indicated that increased fat consumption does not exacerbate deterioration in function (Morgan et al., 2006b, Chess et al., 2008). High-fat feeding in DSS rats attenuated ventricular dilation, preserves EDV, and maintains end systolic volume (ESV) when compared to low-fat fed littermates (Okere et al., 2006b). Conversely, Akki and Seymour (2009) have shown using *in vitro* perfusion studies that LVH induced by AC in rats fed a WD (45% kcal) reduced cardiac RPP and increased oxygen consumption. Hypertensive DSS rats fed a high-carbohydrate (starch) diet for 12 weeks show substantial systolic dysfunction when compared to hypertensive animals fed a HFD (Okere et al., 2006b), with a similar result observed for high-sucrose and high-fructose feeding (Chess et al., 2007, Sharma et al., 2008).

### 4.1.4 Dietary modification of hypertrophic metabolism

The impact of dietary manipulation on metabolic remodelling has been an area of considerable focus in recent years. Activating PPAR $\alpha$  in the hypertrophied heart may preserve FAO and limit the switch to a foetal phenotype. High-fat feeding maintains both the expression of PPAR $\alpha$  mRNA in the hypertrophied rat heart and the activity of MCAD (Okere et al., 2006b, Akki and Seymour, 2009). However, others have shown decreased PPAR mRNA expression in TAC mice fed a HFD, but elevated MCAD activity (Chess et al., 2008). Similarly, high-fat feeding in an infarct model of HF did not modulate either PPAR $\alpha$  mRNA or protein expression, or its downstream targets (Morgan et al., 2006b). Combined, high fat and high sugar diets may

promote partial activation of PPAR $\alpha$  and therefore lead to incomplete upregulation of FAO in the face of enhanced FA uptake (Wilson et al., 2007).

### 4.1.5 Lipotoxicity

Inappropriate cardiac lipid accumulation may be central to the contractile dysfunction observed in obese and/or diabetic persons, and can potentially accelerate the development of HF (Christoffersen et al., 2003). Enhanced lipid uptake can lead to lipid accumulation and dysfunction (Park et al., 2008). Furthermore, lipid accumulation can occur despite increased activation of PPAR $\alpha$  (Finck et al., 2002). Indeed, if  $\beta$ -oxidation is decreased in the face of normal FA uptake, cardiomyopathy can develop (figure 4.1). Deficiency of very long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase and long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (VLCAD and LCAD, respectively) manifest as cardiac hypertrophy in mice (Cox et al., 2009) and humans (Spiekerkoetter, 2010) primarily due to decreased energy provision. Furthermore, LCAD deficiency can enhance cardiac lipid accumulation in fasted mice (Bakermans et al., 2011) indicating that discord between FA uptake and oxidation is sufficient to induce lipid accumulation.



**Figure 4.1 Mechanisms for cardiac lipotoxicity.** MHC, myosin heavy chain; PPAR $\alpha$ , peroxisome proliferator activated receptor- $\alpha$ . Adapted from Sharma et al. (2004).

### 4.1.6 Objectives

LVH is characterised by alterations to metabolism, with a decrease in the oxidation of FAs and an enhanced reliance on glucose. The combined effect of both increased supply of lipid and glucose to the heart due to high circulating concentrations as in obesity may promote ectopic lipid deposition if FA uptake is preserved.

The objective of this study was to determine the impact of increased dietary lipid and sucrose upon *in vitro* functional and metabolic cardiac remodelling associated with pressure-overload hypertrophy. Alterations in the profile of substrate usage were assessed using <sup>13</sup>C labelled substrates followed by <sup>13</sup>C NMR isotopomer analysis. Changes in the expression of key regulatory proteins as well as mitochondrial enzyme activities were determined in cardiac tissue extracts. In addition, the oxygen cost of contraction and basal metabolism was assessed to determine potential changes in efficiency.

# 4.2 Materials and Methods

## 4.2.1 Induction of LVH

LVH was induced in male Sprague-Dawley rats as described in section 2.2.1 with appropriate weight-matched controls. Animals were studied at 9 weeks post-surgery.

### 4.2.2 Dietary Intervention

48 hours post-surgery, animals were assigned to dietary regimens described in section 2.2.3, generating 6 experimental groups:

- Control + standard chow (Con-SD)
- Control + high-fat diet (Con-HFD)
- Control + western Diet (Con-WD)
- Aortic Constriction + standard chow (AC-SD)
- Aortic Constriction + high-fat diet (AC-HFD)
- Aortic Constriction + western Diet (AC-WD).

# 4.2.3 Experimental protocols

Hearts were excised, perfused and *in vitro* cardiac function and metabolism determined (as previously described in section 2.2.5). Perfusion protocols are shown in figure 4.2.





**Figure 4.2 Perfusion protocols used in the current studies.** A) Standard and <sup>13</sup>C labelled substrate perfusion; and B) oxygen consumption study perfusion protocol.

Western blotting was performed in freeze-clamped cardiac tissue as described in section 2.2.11. The activities of MCAD, CS, and PDH were determined as described in section 2.2.7. Cardiac glycogen and TG concentrations were determined at the end of experiments as described (section 2.2.6). Histological determination of myocardial neutral lipid content was performed as described in section 2.2.10. The oxygen cost of contraction and basal metabolism was determined by inhibiting contraction with 20mM potassium.

# 4.3 Results

### 4.3.1 In Vitro Cardiac Function

The effect of dietary manipulation on cardiac function in Con and AC hearts is given in table 4.1. SP was unaffected by diet alone. Equally, left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP), rate of contraction (dP/dtmax) and relaxation (dP/dtmin) were not altered following dietary intervention. Consequently, rate pressure product (RPP) was unaffected by any dietary intervention in controls (table 4.1 and figure 4.3).

SP was significantly increased in AC hearts from the WD group compared to SD counterparts (table 4.1). LVDP was significantly elevated by HFD and WD in animals subjected to AC compared to their respective controls, and also versus the SD group (AC-SD) (table 4.1). However, no alterations were observed in the rates of contraction (dP/dtmax) and relaxation (dP/dtmin) in AC groups, (table 4.1). AC-HFD and AC-WD groups showed a marked increase in RPP in comparison to the standard diet group.

Significant changes in MVO<sub>2</sub> were observed following dietary intervention (figure 4.5). This was significantly lower in the Con-WD group compared to its SD and HFD groups. Con-HFD and Con-WD groups exhibited a small increase in cardiac CE (figure 4.4) due to an elevated RPP and (figure 4.3) reduced myocardial oxygen consumption.

MVO<sub>2</sub> did not differ between AC-SD and AC-HFD hearts whereas the AC-WD group showed further reductions on oxygen consumption in comparison to the AC-HFD group. The only intragroup differences were observed between Con-SD and AC-SD hearts (figure 4.4). In the AC groups, CE was increased in both HFD and WD groups when compared to their SD counterparts (figure 4.5).

### Table 4.1 In vitro cardiac function

	SP	LVDP	(dP/dt)max	(dP/dt)min
	(mmHg)	(mmHg)	(mmHg/S)	(mmHg/S)
Con-SD (n=3)	128 ±6	118 ±4	3522 ±421	-2411 ±147
Con-HFD (n=20)	134 ±12	120 ±5	3622 ±211	-2354 ±122
Con-WD (n=15)	118 ±7	106 ±12	3654 ±153	-2657 ±192
AC-SD (n=4)	119 ±4	110 ±6	4206 ±156	-2673 ±202
AC-HFD (n=15)	151 ±16	145 ±11 <sup>#†</sup>	4365 ±457	-2781 ±256
AC-WD (n=12)	159 ±19†	148 ±9 <sup>#†</sup>	4491 ±184	-2891 ±132

Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet; SP, systolic pressure; LVDP, left ventricular developed pressure. # P < 0.05 vs. respective dietary control. † P < 0.05 vs. AC-SD. Data presented as mean ± SEM.



Figure 4.3. In vitro rate pressure product in perfused control or aortic constricted hearts after exposure to different dietary regiments for 9 weeks. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. \* P < 0.05 vs. AC-SD, Data presented as mean ± SEM.


Figure 4.4 Myocardial oxygen consumption in perfused control and aortic constricted hearts exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. # P < 0.05 vs. Con-SD. \* P < 0.05 vs. Con-HFD. \*\* P < 0.05 vs. AC-HFD. Data presented as mean ± SEM.



Figure 4.5 Cardiac efficiency in perfused control and aortic constricted hearts exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. \* P < 0.05 vs. AC-SD. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

# 4.3.2 <sup>13</sup>C NMR analysis of oxidative metabolism

The oxidation of palmitate was reduced following WD feeding in the Con group and a small reduction in use of unlabelled substrates (including endogenous substrates). This was in part compensated by a corresponding increase in lactate oxidation (figure 4.6). Similarly, palmitate oxidation was reduced in AC groups compared to their controls (figure 4.6). Thus, WD had a greater impact upon the metabolic remodelling associated with cardiac hypertrophy.





#### 4.3.3. Metabolic protein expression

PPARα protein expression did not change in any of the control groups, whereas its expression was substantially reduced in both AC-SD and AC-WD hearts compared to their respective controls (figure 4.7). However, this decrease in PPARα expression between AC and Con groups was not observed in hearts from AC animals fed the HFD (figure 4.7).





CD36 expression did not differ between any of the control groups (figure 4.8). However, there was an apparent increase in CD36 expression in Con-HFD relative to its control group, and the WD diet further enhanced CD36 expression (figure 4.7).



**Figure 4.8 Western blot analysis of CD36 from control and aortic constricted hearts exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks.** A) representative blots; B) densitometirc analysis normalised to actin expression and relative to Con-HFD. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

A similar increase in CD36 expression was also observed in the AC group, with a progressive increase in CD36 expression in the HFD and WD hearts.

GLUT4 expression was determined in sarcolemmal (SR) and intracellular membranes (ICMs) to determine if there was a compensatory increase in carbohydrate uptake. Hearts from the Con-

WD group exhibited enhanced SR and ICM GLUT4 in comparison to the Con-HFD group. Hearts from the AC-HFD group also demonstrated an 88% increase in the SR content of GLUT4 compared to the control group (figure 4.9), whereas hearts from WD animals exhibited over 50% increase in GLUT4 expression in both SR and ICM fractions (figure 4.9). Both AC-HFD and AC-WD groups showed an increased expression of SR GLUT4 compared to the ICM fraction. Therefore, total GLUT4 was increased following WD feeding. Na+/K+ ATPAse was used as a marker for the SR fraction and was not detected in the ICM fraction.





#### 4.3.4 Mitochondrial enzyme activity

Con-HFD hearts exhibited a significant decrease in percentage PDHa/PDHt relative to SD counterparts (figure 4.10) as would be expected due to higher dietary fat content. Hearts from the Con-WD group demonstrated a percentage PDHa/PDHt ratio that was significantly higher than the HFD group (figure 4.10) suggesting that enhancing dietary sugar can modulate the PDH response to increasing fat utilisation.



Figure 4.10 Percentage active pyruvate dehydrogenase activity in control and aortic constricted hearts exposed to different dietary regimens for 9 weeks. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet.\* P < 0.05 vs. SD counterpart; # P < 0.05. vs. SD and HFD counterpart. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

In the AC groups the percentage of PDH in the active form relative to total PDH exhibited a similar pattern to the control groups (figure 4.10). Both AC-HFD and AC-WD groups showed a marked reduction in the PDHa/PDHt ratio compared to SD counterparts. Again, the AC-HFD group exhibited the lowest PDHa/PDHt ratio (figure 4.10). Neither dietary intervention nor AC had any impact upon PDHt content.

CS activity was significantly enhanced in the HFD group compared to SD counterparts, reflecting an increase in mitochondrial density. WD feeding produced a further increase in CS activity. A similar pattern was observed for all AC groups, with AC-WD hearts exhibiting the

greatest CS activity (table 4.2). Overall, these results indicate that mitochondrial content may be influenced by dietary manipulation – irrespective of the presence of hypertrophy.

The activity of medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (MCAD) did not differ significantly between groups, irrespective of diet or AC (table 4.2). When MCAD activity was normalised to CS. the MCAD:CS ratio (a putative indicator of  $\beta$ -oxidation) (Chess et al., 2007) was significantly decreased in the Con-WD group when compared to SD and HFD counterparts. AC groups showed a similar pattern to the control groups, with the AC-WD group showing the greatest reduction the MCAD:CS ratio (table 4.2)

	Con-SD	Con-HFD	Con-WD	AC-SD	AC-HFD	AC-WD
	(n=6)	(n=-17)	(n=12)	(n=6)	(n=20)	(n=12)
CS (µM/min/g)	55.2 ±2.9	71.1 ±2.8#	102 ±2.1*	46.1 ±1.8	66.7 ±2.0#	92.6 ±3.3*
MCAD (µM/min/g)	12 ±1.0	13.8 ±0.5	14.2 ±0.2	11 ±1.0	12.0 ±0.5	12.1 ±0.3
MCAD:CS	0.22 ±0.01	0.20±0.01	0.14±0.01*	0.23 ±0.00	0.18 ±0.01	0.13 ±0.01*

#### Table 4.2 Cardiac mitochondrial enzyme activity

Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet.\* P < 0.05 vs. SD and HFD counterpart, # P < 0.05 vs. SD counterpart. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

# 4.3.5 Myocardial glycogen and triglyceride content

Glycogen progressively accumulated with increasing dietary sugar (table 4.3), with Con-WD exhibiting the greatest degree of glycogen accumulation. AC hearts from HFD and WD rats also showed increased glycogen accumulation. However, WD feeding in the AC group did not lead to further increases in glycogen (table 4.3).

#### Table 4.3 Endogenous storage substrates

	Con-SD	Con-HFD	Con-WD	AC-SD	AC-HFD	AC-WD
Glycogen (x10 <sup>3</sup> µmol glucose equivalents/g)	2.7 ±0.2 (n=3)	3.8 ±0.3* (n=6)	5.0 ±0.1 <sup>#</sup> (n=6)	2.6 ±0.4 (n=6)	3.6 ±0.3* (n=6)	3.8 ±0.4* (n=6)
Triglyceride	1.6 ±0.1	1.5 ±0.1	2.7 ±0.1‡	1.7 ±0.2	1.5 ±0.2	2.3 ±0.1‡
(µmol/g)	(n=3)	(n=17)	(n=12)	(n=4)	(n=20)	(n=12)

Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. \* P < 0.05 vs. respective SD counterpart. # P < 0.05 vs. SD HFD counterpart. ‡ P < 0.01 vs. SD and HFD counterparts. Data presented as mean ± SEM.

TG concentrations were unaffected by SD or HFD alone (table 4.3). However, WD feeding produced a significant increase in myocardial TG accumulation in control hearts (table 4.3). Similarly, AC hearts from both SD and HFD groups demonstrated no significant difference in TG concentration (table 4.3), whereas AC-WD hearts exhibited a significantly greater concentration of TG in comparison (table 4.3).

### 4.3.6 Determination of contractile and basal oxygen consumption

Based upon the earlier findings of enhanced function in the AC-HFD and AC-WD groups (table 4.1), the oxygen cost of contractile function and basal metabolism were determined in HFD and WD hyperkalaemia (20 mM) protocol. This protocol allowed determination of total MVO<sub>2</sub> (reflecting the combined cost of contractile function and metabolic demand during normoxia), and the oxygen requirement of basal metabolism (calculated during the period of arrest following hyperkalaemia).

Following K<sup>+</sup> arrest, all experimental groups demonstrated a significant decrease in RPP (figure 4.11). Consequently, this led to significant decrease in the oxygen requirement in all groups giving a measure of the metabolic cost (figure 4.12). Importantly, the decrease in  $MVO_2$  observed following K<sup>+</sup> arrest was unaffected by diet or AC, with basal metabolism accounting for 67-73% of the total  $MVO_2$  (figure 4.12).



**Figure 4.11 Rate pressure product in control and aortic constricted hearts exposed to either a HFD or WD for 9 weeks.** Perfusate containing a high potassium concentration was infused between 20 and 45 minutes. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. Data presented as mean ± SEM.



Figure 4.12 Mean myocardial oxygen consumption during contraction and arrest in hearts isolated from control or aortic constricted animals after 9 weeks of dietary intervention. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. \* P < 0.05 vs. respective baseline and recovery values. Data presented as mean ± SEM relative to baseline values.

# 4.4 Discussion

The present study identified that dietary manipulation had a profound effect upon cardiac metabolism. A specific role of the combination of high dietary lipid and sucrose (WD) promoted a reduction in FAO, increased oxidation of carbohydrate and accumulation of glycogen and TG. Importantly, these metabolic changes were not associated with alterations in *in vitro* cardiac function despite a significant decrease in MVO<sub>2</sub>, and were not apparent in the SD or HFD groups. Conversely, hypertrophied hearts exposed to a HFD or WD exhibited enhanced contractility when compared to controls. This together with the decrease in MVO<sub>2</sub> and increased efficiency indicates a compensatory phase of cardiac hypertrophy.

In parallel to the hyperfunction observed in AC-HFD and -WD hearts, substantial cardiac metabolic remodelling was evident which was more pronounced in WD-fed animals, characterised by decreased cardiac palmitate oxidation and a compensatory increase in carbohydrate usage. Furthermore, this change in the oxidative profile was associated with increased TG accumulation. These data suggest that by 9 weeks, diets high in lipid and sucrose have no deleterious impact upon cardiac function but lead to substantial metabolic remodelling.

## 4.4.1 In vitro functional response to dietary intervention

*In vitro* cardiac function was unaffected by dietary intervention (table 4.1, figures 4.3 and 4.5). Indeed, this observation is consistent with both rodent (Okere et al., 2006a, Wilson et al., 2007) and human studies (Holloway et al., 2011). Indeed, Holloway et al. (2011) demonstrated no change in stroke volume or ejection fraction following 14 days 75% fat diet despite a significant reduction in the cardiac PCr/ATP ratio. Conversely, Sprague-Dawley rats fed a HFD for 9 weeks showed reduced RPP and elevated MVO<sub>2</sub>, subsequently reducing efficiency (Akki and Seymour, 2009). However, the cause of this reduction was related to a decrease in HR following a HFD, as there was no difference in LVDP (Akki and Seymour, 2009). An increase in MVO<sub>2</sub> was also observed by Wilson et al. (2007) with a reduced CE. As hearts were paced at 300 bpm in the present study, this may explain the observed preservation of cardiac function following a HFD.

Wilson et al. (2007) showed that 48 weeks of a WD reduced cardiac power, speculated to be due to inadequate activation of genes associated with FAO (Wilson et al., 2007). Indeed, this blunted FAO gene response and reduced FAO may support the current observation of reduced MVO<sub>2</sub> following WD feeding (figure 4.4). In addition to the effect of enhanced fat consumption, rats fed a diet supplemented with fructose-sweetened drinking water showed signs of reduced cardiac function and a reduction in stroke volume and ejection fraction (Deng et al., 2007). Although the metabolic properties of fructose differ to other sugars, similar results have also been observed with high sucrose diets (Duda et al., 2008), suggesting increased dietary sugar per se may be an important determinant of cardiac function.

Previous studies have suggested a potential role of dietary lipid as a regulator of cardiac hypertrophy (Morgan et al., 2006b, Okere et al., 2006b, Chess et al., 2008). Interestingly, the present study identified significant hypertrophy in all AC groups (chapter 3, section 3.3.2), yet hyperfunction was only observed in the HFD and WD group, reflected by an augmented LVDP and RPP (table 4.1, figures 4.3 and 4.5). Thus, these observations would suggest that a HFD can maintain cardiac function during pressure-overload hypertrophy. Indeed, Morgan et al. (2006b) demonstrated when mice with infarct-induced HF were fed a diet rich in lipid, cardiac function was not worsened in comparison to low-fat fed mice, suggesting a positive effect of dietary lipid on maintaining cardiac function. Similarly, 16 weeks of a HFD in a model of TACinduced HF did not adversely affect ejection fraction compared to low-fat fed controls (Chess et al., 2008). Furthermore, the deterioration in function associated with cardiac hypertrophy derived from chronic hypertension in DSS rats was substantially attenuated by consumption of a HFD, with a reduction in both diastolic and systolic volumes, as well as enhanced ejection fraction (Okere et al., 2006b). However, this observation is not uniform and other groups have demonstrated that HFDs cause dysfunction in the hypertrophied heart over short- and longterm feeding regimes (Raher et al., 2008, Akki and Seymour, 2009). This discrepancy between studies may in part relate to the FA composition of the experimental diets, and their ability to regulate cardiac gene expression (Bordoni et al., 2007) and cardiomyocyte apoptosis (Aguila et al., 2005).

Increasing consumption of dietary carbohydrate at the expense of lipid can be more detrimental to cardiac function than diets high in fat (Okere et al., 2006b). Consumption of standard rodent chow (high in carbohydrate) increased functional remodelling associated with hypertension and worsened function in comparison to a HFD (Okere et al., 2006b). Furthermore, mortality was significantly greater in a hypertensive group of rats fed a high carbohydrate diet, and those in which oxfenicine was used to inhibit FAO (Okere et al., 2006b). Oxfenicine is a potent CPT1 inhibitor, and therefore suggests that maintaining the ability of mitochondria to oxidise LCFA may be important in not only supplying sufficient energy, but potentially reducing intracellular TG accumulation as a result of depressed oxidation. When hypertensive DSS rats were fed a diet rich in fructose for 8 weeks systolic dysfunction became evident, with reduced ejection fraction (Sharma et al., 2008). Similarly, in TAC mice, high-starch diets maintained EDD, ESD, and ejection fraction at levels similar to control mice, however, high-fructose feeding led to depressed systolic performance (Chess et al., 2007). Data also support the concept that sucrose impactes negatively upon cardiac function, with a significant decrease in ejection fraction (Chess et al., 2007). The functional consequences following HFD and WD feeding may therefore be derived from a combination of increased lipid, heightened bioavailability of carbohydrate, and – similar to HFDs – the systemic effects the diet promotes. Combined, these 3 parameters may account for the disparity in results between different studies.

Basal MVO<sub>2</sub> was determined during a period of arrest and was found to be unaffected by a HFD or WD, or AC (figure 4.12). Previous studies by How et al. (2005, 2006) demonstrated that increasing the supply of FAs to the myocardium reduced CE by enhancing the oxygen cost of the unloaded heart, but did not reduce cardiac function. Furthermore, in the db/db heart the increase in MVO<sub>2</sub> may be due to futile metabolic cycling (How et al., 2006). This concept was demonstrated by Wilson et al., showing increased uncoupling protein (UCP) 3, cytosolic thioesterase 1 (CTE1), and mitochondrial thioesterase 1 (MTE1) mRNA expression in hearts exposed to a HFD or WD (Wilson et al. 2007), and by Cole et al. (2011). WDs have been shown partially to activate futile cycling elements, and that the full activation observed following a HFD may prevent harmful oxidation of lipids and cardiac dysfunction (Wilson et al., 2007). Elevated expression of UCP3 would be expected to dissipate the inner mitochondrial membrane proton gradient and thereby increase oxygen consumption, as well as facilitating removal of FA species from the mitochondrial matrix (Schrauwen et al., 2001). Furthermore, others have shown that in the ob/ob mouse contractile function is impaired with an elevation in MVO<sub>2</sub>, causing a reduction in CE (Mazumder et al., 2004, Dong et al., 2006). Indeed, this mechanism for reducing CE has been observed in response to a HFD (Akki and Seymour, 2009). Although difficult to reconcile, the reduction in MVO<sub>2</sub> and preserved cardiac function observed in WD hearts may relate to changes in cardiac metabolism, with a shift away from the

oxidation of FAs towards carbohydrate. Taken together, this would suggest that changes in cardiac energy provision precede the development of contractile dysfunction.

#### 4.4.2 Metabolic protein expression

PPARα expression was slightly lower in hypertrophied hearts compared to non-hypertrophied controls (figure 4.7). However, this decrease in protein expression was only observed in hypertrophied hearts from rats fed either a SD or WD. As such, this may suggest that in the AC-HFD group, dietary lipid is sufficient to maintain PPARα protein expression at a level similar to Con-HFD hearts. Indeed, the reduced protein expression of PPARα in the AC-WD group may be a reflection of greater remodelling.

Both PPAR $\alpha$  mRNA and protein expression are decreased in experimental models of LVH and in hypertensive and failing human hearts (Sack et al., 1996, Barger et al., 2000), consistent with the findings here. Similarly, the co-activators of PPAR $\alpha$  (RXR and PGC-1 $\alpha$ ) are also reduced (Osorio et al., 2002, Garnier et al., 2003, Morgan et al., 2006a, Ventura-Clapier et al., 2008). Attenuating the decline in PPAR $\alpha$  expression in the hypertrophied heart has frequently produced conflicting data, with reports of no change in or an improvement (Chess et al., 2008, Morgan et al., 2006b, Okere et al., 2006b), or a substantial decrease (Raher et al., 2008, Akki and Seymour, 2009) in cardiac function. Thus, the interpretation of the reactivation of PPAR $\alpha$ in the hypertrophied heart remains controversial. However the disparity between the studies described above may be due to the source of dietary lipid. Indeed, the fat used by Raher et al (2008) was derived from lard whereas that of Okere et al. (2006b) and Chess et al. (2008) was derived from cocoa butter, and may therefore expose the heart to a very different systemic environment. Raher et al. (2006) reported that a HFD derived from lard increased plasma insulin concentrations, whereas the HFD derived from cocoa butter did not (Chess et al., 2008).

The disparity between the effect of high-fat diets upon the expression of PPAR $\alpha$  extends to the use of dietary carbohydrate. Duda et al. (2008) found no effect of either starch or sucrose upon PPAR $\alpha$  mRNA expression in hypertrophied hearts. Conversely, Sharma et al. (2007) showed that high-fructose feeding led to a significant decrease in PPAR $\alpha$  mRNA expression compared to high-fat or high-starch feeding in DSS rats. Furthermore, standard rodent chow (containing 55% energy from starch and 5% from sucrose) caused a significant reduction in PPAR $\alpha$  protein in the hypertrophied heart (Akki et al., 2008), and would support the 105

observation in the AC-SD group. Indeed, this is most likely due to reduced ligand-activation, explaining the observed normalisation of PPAR $\alpha$  protein in the AC-HFD group (figure 4.7). The present data also indicate that increasing sucrose consumption in the face of high dietary fat is insufficient to maintain PPAR $\alpha$  protein expression in the AC-WD group. Thus, it may be inferred that the combination of high dietary fat and sugar leads to the incomplete activation of PPAR $\alpha$  which may be reflected in alterations in downstream target proteins associated with FA metabolism.

Additional evidence regarding the consequences of PPAR $\alpha$  activation comes from the use of specific synthetic PPAR $\alpha$  ligands. Indeed, fenofibrate administration reduced HW in AC rats (Rose et al., 2007), endothelin (ET)-1-induced cardiac hypertrophy (Irukayama-Tomobe et al., 2004), aldosterone-induced LVH (LeBrasseur et al., 2007), and in DSS rats (Ichihara et al., 2006). Linz et al. (2009) showed that the PPAR $\alpha$  agonist, AVE8134, improved cardiac output in hearts subject to MI, and increased life expectancy in aged spontaneously hypertensive rats. These studies further support the concept that activation of PPAR $\alpha$  can attenuate the progression of hypertrophy, supporting the present observations. The mechanisms by which fibrates modulate the antihypertrophic effect, however, remain largely unknown, but may relate to their effects on lipid metabolism (Staels et al., 1998). Indeed, fibrates increase lipolysis of TG-rich lipoproteins (TRLs) and lead to enhanced hepatic uptake of FAs via increased expression of FA transport protein (FATP) and lowering of apolipoprotein C-III (apoC-III) gene expression (Motojima et al., 1998, Minnich et al., 2001). Furthermore, it was shown that ureido-fibrate-5 increased mitochondrial palmitate oxidation in both liver and skeletal muscle, and induced CPT1 expression via a PPAR $\alpha$ -dependent mechanism (Minnich et al., 2001). Therefore, in the heart, fibrates may stimulate PPAR $\alpha$  and the associated genes involved with FA transport and oxidation. It may be speculated dysregulation of FA uptake and oxidation may be the cause of dysfunction in some models of LVH.

CD36 protein expression, although not markedly different in any of the AC groups, showed a progressive increase in expression in AC-HFD and AC-WD hearts (figure 4.8). Previously, it has been shown that the increase in CD36 mRNA associated with high-fat feeding is blunted by the development of hypertrophy (Okere et al., 2006b), suggesting that LVH is associated with a decreased ability of LCFA transport. Interestingly, other studies showed that high-fat feeding led to increased expression of CD36 protein, irrespective of LVH (Akki and Seymour, 2009). Thus, decreased CD36 protein expression may be protective in the hypertrophied heart by

limiting the entry of LCFA into the cardiomyocyte when the capacity for FAO is reduced. Indeed, a recent study has suggested that CD36 KO mice subjected to TAC showed reduced cardiac function but were protected from dysfunction when they were faced with a WD (Steinbusch et al., 2011). Consequently, heightened expression of CD36 in the AC-WD group and reduced PPARa expression suggests dysregulation of FA metabolism and uptake.

In addition to changes in CD36 protein expression, differences were observed in the subcellular distribution of GLUT4 protein in the hearts of AC-HFD and AC-WD animals, (figure 4.9). Total GLUT4 protein was increased in the WD group suggesting responsiveness to circulating insulin, but increased reliance on carbohydrate as a source of energy. Hypertrophied hearts exhibit a reduced GLUT4/GLUT1 ratio suggesting an impaired ability to increase GLUT4 protein expression in response to insulin (Paternostro et al., 1999), therefore suggesting specific cardiac IR in the hypertrophied heart. Furthermore, it has recently been demonstrated that both GLUT1 and GLUT4 expression are inversely related to CD36 expression in ventricular biopsies from patients diagnosed with aortic stenosis (Heather et al., 2011). Specifically, it was observed that as cardiac mass increases, CD36 expression decreased with a proposed compensatory elevation in GLUT1 and GLUT4 expression (Heather et al., 2011). Although different to the present data, this may be partly explained by the high dietary fat and sugar content, which promotes both CD36 and GLUT4 expression. However, the increased content of GLUT4 within the ICM fraction of the AC-WD group may imply impaired GLUT4 vesicle trafficking, in comparison to HFD counterparts (Zierath et al., 1997, Wright et al., 2009). Importantly, mice with cardiac-specific GLUT4 deletion develop a more pronounced hypertrophy when subjected to AC (Domenighetti et al., 2010). Thus, the potentially impaired GLUT4 trafficking in WD hearts may represent a critical stage in the remodelling process associated with the progression of LVH. Determining the expression of GLUT1 would further add to the understanding of metabolism in the present model.

# 4.4.3 Modification of mitochondrial metabolism in LVH

AC-HFD and AC-WD exhibited lower rates of palmitate oxidation than their respective control groups (figure 4.6), but a parallel increase in the oxidation of lactate, suggesting a reversion to a foetal metabolic phenotype (Kolwicz Jr and Tian, 2009). Importantly, this increased reliance upon carbohydrate was more pronounced in the WD group.

Similar to the control groups, AC-HFD and AC-WD groups demonstrated a significant increase in CS activity when compared to the AC-SD group, with the highest activity observed in the WD group (table 4.2). Consequently, this would suggest a direct role of dietary lipid and sugar in regulating mitochondrial density (Okere et al., 2006a). However, CS activity was consistently lower in AC hearts than controls (table 4.2). In the failing heart, CS activity is reduced indicating impaired energy provision from the TCA cycle (Kalsi et al., 1999, Lei et al., 2004), or reduced mitochondrial content. Furthermore, when dog hearts subjected to chronic tachycardiainduced HF recovered, CS activity remained reduced, suggesting persistent derangement (Qanud et al., 2008). Therefore, preventing the decline in CS activity (and thereby mitochondrial number) in the hypertrophied heart may be advantageous in maintaining energy provision.

Morgan et al. (2006b) have shown no additive effect of increased dietary lipid or PPAR $\alpha$ agonism with fenofibrate upon the activity of CS in infarcted hearts or hypertrophied ventricles (Chess et al., 2008, Chicco et al., 2008, Chess et al., 2009). Rather, these studies demonstrate that high-fat feeding prevents the decline in CS activity associated with LVH (Okere et al., 2006b), suggesting a positive effect of a HFD in maintaining mitochondrial number. Additionally, diets high in fructose (61%) or-sucrose (61%) fail to maintain CS activity in DSS rats (Sharma et al., 2008), further supporting the concept that increased lipid consumption is an important determinant of mitochondrial content. Indeed, the improvement in cardiac function observed following certain HFDs (Okere et al., 2006b, Chess et al., 2009) may be the result of preserved mitochondrial content. However, it has been shown that a WD induces oxidative stress and reduced expression of anti-apoptotic protein Bcl2 and an increased ratio of Bcl2/BAD, alongside increased mitochondrial biogenesis (Ballal et al., 2010). In this regard, the increased biogenesis may reflect a compensatory mechanism to normalise overall mitochondrial function whilst Bcl2 expression is low (Ballal et al., 2010), and thus mitochondrial biogenesis in the HFD and WD may be a compensatory effect due to defective mitochondrial function. Determining mitochondrial function in the HFD and WD groups would be an important addition to this work.

In contrast, the activity of MCAD was not significantly affected by diet but was consistently lower in AC hearts when compared to their respective controls (table 4.2). This decrease in the activity of MCAD following the development of hypertrophy has been well documented (Sack et al., 1996, Depre et al., 1998, Barger et al., 2000). Previously, HFDs maintained the activity of

MCAD at a similar level to non-hypertrophied ventricles (Okere et al., 2006b, Akki and Seymour, 2009), or increased MCAD activity in comparison to hypertrophied hearts isolated from animals fed a low-fat diet (Chess et al., 2008). In the present study, when MCAD activity was normalised to CS activity, there was a significant decrease observed in AC-WD hearts indicating that despite an increase in mitochondrial number,  $\beta$ -oxidation is selectively decreased (table 4.2). Furthermore, this decrease in the MCAD:CS ratio was not observed in other AC groups, and this is further supported by the observation that PPAR $\alpha$  expression was reduced in AC-WD hearts but not in the AC-HFD group. The observation that a HFD maintains the MCAD:CS ratio is in agreement with previous studies in the hypertrophied heart (Okere et al., 2006b, Chess et al., 2008). However, the increased supply of carbohydrate in the WD group may negatively regulate the expression of PPAR $\alpha$ -governed genes, or facilitate the enhanced reliance on carbohydrate oxidation, which is energetically more efficient than FAO (figure 4.6).

Increased reliance on carbohydrate is reflected in the activity of PDH. Indeed, the percentage of PDHa was greatest in hypertrophied hearts from rats fed either a SD, or WD (figure 4.10), consistent with previous studies (Akki et al., 2008). Increased expression of PDK4 mRNA has been observed in hypertrophied hearts from high-fat fed rats (Chess et al., 2008, Akki and Seymour, 2009). Stimulation of PPARα would therefore, be anticipated to increase transcription of PDK4 and thus lead to inhibition of PDH (chapter 1, section 1.1.4). Indeed, this is supported by the observation that when PPARα was reduced (as in the AC-WD group, figure 4.7), the percentage of PDHa was increased (figure 4.10). Although this would account for the increased PDHa activity observed in the AC-WD group, PPARα protein expression remained unchanged in the control group (figure 4.7), suggesting that both experimental groups exhibit disruption to the PPARα regulation mechanism of cardiac metabolism.

### 4.4.4 Changes in endogenous substrate in the hypertrophied heart

Cardiac glycogen content was significantly increased in AC-HFD and AC-WD hearts (table 4.3). However the mechanism by which dietary intervention led to glycogen accumulation remains unclear. Previous studies have suggested that diets high in fat lead to reduced glycogen synthesis via impaired insulin sensitivity and attenuated glycogen synthase activity (Chalkley et al., 1998). However, Miller et al. (2005a) demonstrated that elevated AMPK activity enhanced UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase and subsequent glycogen accumulation. Stimulation of AMPK has been documented in response to increases in FAs (Watt et al., 2006), but does not increase glycogen accumulation following a HFD. In AC-WD hearts, the absence of a further increase in 109 glycogen (as observed in the respective control group, table 4.3) may reflect AMPK desensitivity to endogenous metabolites or diversion of glucose into other pathways, including the pentose phosphate or hexosamine monophosphate pathways (Chess and Stanley, 2008, Chatham and Marchase, 2010).

#### 4.4.5 Triglyceride accumulation in WD hearts

Myocardial TG accumulation was evident in both Con and AC hearts from the WD group, consistent with reduced expression of PPAR $\alpha$ , increased CD36, and attenuated  $\beta$  oxidation. Importantly, the degree of lipid accumulation and the magnitude of the reduction in  $\beta$ -oxidation were similar irrespective of LVH. The mechanism for the accumulation of cardiac TG in the Con- and AC-WD groups may therefore be different. In the control group, the increased expression of PPAR $\alpha$  protein may not be sufficient to maintain mitochondrial  $\beta$ -oxidation in the face of heightened FA uptake, therefore leading to TG accumulation. Indeed, this would be similar to models of PPAR $\alpha$  overexpression (Finck et al., 2003). However, reduced PPAR $\alpha$  protein expression in the AC group may ultimately lead to a decrease in  $\beta$ -oxidation, which when combined with unaltered CD36 expression, leads to TG accumulation. However, crucially, at this stage in the metabolic remodelling process, function was not compromised.

Data regarding the impact of TG accumulation in the hypertrophied heart are conflicting. Akki and Seymour (2009) showed that 9 weeks of high-fat feeding led to cardiac TG accumulation and depressed cardiac function in AC hearts. Conversely, others have shown that a HFD led to TG and neutral lipid accumulation with no deterioration in function in the hearts of hypertensive DSS rats (Okere et al., 2006b). However, Chess et al. (2009) showed that high-fat feeding did not increase cardiac TG in TAC mice, a more severe model of hypertrophy. The consequence of decreased FAO alongside preserved expression of CD36, may manifest as significant TG accumulation in hearts of the WD group, and reinforces the observed disturbances to the regulation of metabolism.

Increasing dietary sugar consumption in combination with a HFD led to lipid accumulation in the absence of cardiac dysfunction (Axelsen et al., 2010), supporting the observations in the present study. Interestingly, there was no evidence of neutral lipid accumulation in AC-WD hearts. This could potentially be explained by incorporation of lipids into the phospholipid membrane (Christoffersen et al., 2003) before droplets became visible through microscopy. Indeed, incorporation of endogenous FAs into the phospholipid membrane has been shown to have differential effects upon membrane structure and subsequent enhanced susceptibility to peroxidation (Lemieux et al., 2011). The decrease in FAO observed in AC-WD hearts yet increased CD36 protein expression, may lead to a situation where uptake of FAs exceeds their rate of oxidation, hence promoting storage. The mechanisms behind the dysfunction observed in some experimental models following HFDs may ultimately relate to the fate of non-oxidised FA species.

## 4.4.6 Summary

In the present model, 9 weeks of high-fat or WD-feeding did not lead to changes in cardiac function. When combined with AC, both the HFD and WD improved cardiac function when compared to SD counterparts. WD hearts exhibited substantial metabolic changes, characterised by a reduction in FAO despite an increase in mitochondrial density, and a significant increase in TG content. Although function was not compromised, these metabolic changes may underpin the transition to HF via lipotoxicity.

Chapter 5 Cardiac lipotoxicity and ceramide content

# **5.1 Introduction**

# 5.1.1 Cardiac lipotoxicity

Long-chain fatty acids remain the predominant source of ATP in the healthy adult heart; however pathology can result from a mismatch between the uptake and oxidation of FAs, increasing acyl-CoA species (figure 5.1) (Unger and Orci, 2002). The deleterious effects of increased lipid supply and accumulation has been described as lipotoxicity. Lipotoxicity in cardiac tissue has been observed in models of PPARα overexpression (Finck et al., 2002, Finck et al., 2003), disrupted FAO and starvation (Bakermans et al., 2011), short-term lipid infusion (Hexeberg et al., 1995), increased lipid uptake (Yagyu et al., 2003, Park et al., 2008), and HF (Sharma et al., 2004). Thus, dietary constituents may hold a crucial role upon the development of the lipotoxic phenotype.



**Figure 5.1 Consequences of increased cellular acyl-CoA.** A decrease in the ability to oxidise FAs leads to the accumulation of acyl-CoA species and potential shuttling into triglyceride formation, phospholipid, or ceramide synthesis. Adapted from Unger (2005).

There have been widely documented reports of numerous FAs species behaving as inducers of cellular stress and apoptosis, including palmitate (Kong and Rabkin, 2000, Ostrander et al., 2001, Fauconnier et al., 2007), and stearate (Listenberger and Schaffer, 2002, Rabkin and Lodha, 2009). Importantly however, apoptosis associated with SFAs does not occur with oleate (de Vries et al., 1997). Indeed, it has been suggested that MUFAs can attenuate apoptosis associated with SFAs (de Vries et al., 1997, Van Bilsen et al., 1997, Miller et al., 2005b). Furthermore, apoptosis induced by palmitate can be attenuated by the addition of carnitine (Miller et al., 2005b), suggesting that reduced mitochondrial oxidation precipitates increased

apoptosis. This concept is further supported by the observation that despite similar levels of TG, high PUFA feeding reduces the number of apoptotic events associated with SFAs in hearts of Wistar rats (Okere et al., 2006a).

#### 5.1.2 Palmitate as a mediator of cellular dysfunction

Cell death induced by palmitate has been regarded as an apoptotic process, evidenced by cytochrome c (cyt c) release into the cytosol, caspase activation and DNA laddering (Kong and Rabkin, 2000), although it has been demonstrated that palmitate may also induce necrotic cell death (Kong and Rabkin, 2003). Importantly, mitochondria appear to be central to cell death associated with palmitate in cardiomyocytes (Kong and Rabkin, 2000). Characteristically, palmitate induces mitochondrial dysfunction via disruption of membrane potential, induction of mitochondrial swelling, and release of cyt c (Sparagna et al., 2000, Ostrander et al., 2001). Cytosolic cyt c leads to activation of caspases and subsequent stimulation of apoptosis. Importantly, palmitate may potentially stimulate mitochondrial dysfunction via generation of ceramide, increased ROS production, and decreased cardiolipin synthesis (Kong and Rabkin, 2000, Ostrander et al., 2001, Fauconnier et al., 2007), although it is arguable as to whether ceramide formation is required for palmitate-induced cell death (Listenberger et al., 2001).

## 5.1.3 Ceramide synthesis

Sphingolipid (SL) synthesis and catabolism is a complex process involving several distinct but often overlapping metabolic pathways, ultimately producing a wide array of metabolic intermediates (figure 5.2). Importantly ceramides lie at the centre of this network due to their requirement as a precursor for the synthesis of more complex SLs.

Ceramide can be generated either through *de novo* synthesis requiring serine, palmitoyl-CoA and another fatty acyl-CoA species, or via recycling of more complex SL species, principally sphingomyelin (SM) (figure 5.2). *De novo* synthesis of ceramide begins with the condensation of palmitoyl-CoA with serine, catalysed by the rate limiting enzyme, serine palmitoyltransferase (SPT). The important intermediate of this pathway is dihydroceramide, formed via (dihydro)ceramide synthase. Dihydroceramide does not possesses any of the apoptotic properties associated with ceramide and can even hinder its activity (Siskind et al., 2006).



**Figure 5.2 Principle pathways of sphingolipid synthesis and catabolism.** Numerous pathways converge upon the formation of ceramide. Although ceramide can be converted to several different metabolites, the only exit from the sphingolipid series of reactions is via sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) lyase. CDase, ceramidase; CK, ceramide kinase; DAG, diacylglycerol; GCase, glucosyl ceramidase; GCS, glucosylceramide synthase; PC, phosphatidylcholine; SK, sphingosine kinase; SMase, sphingomyelinase; SMS, sphingomyelin synthase; SPPase, sphingosine phosphate phosphatase; SPT, serine palmitoyl transferase. Adapted from (Hannun and Obeid, 2008).

Ceramide is produced from dihydroceramide by desaturation via desaturase (figure 5.2). Additional sources of intracellular ceramide are hydrolysis of membrane SM via sphingomyelinases (SMases), or more complex SLs such as glucosylceramide and galactosylceramide, and from sphingosine. The only exit for ceramide is via the formation of sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) from sphingosine (SP) and subsequent cleavage via sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase (S1P lyase). Indeed, the balance between ceramide, sphingosine, and S1P may hold an important role in determining cell fate (Olivier, 2002).

# 5.1.4 Location of sphingolipid generation

The different pathways of ceramide synthesis and degradation have been shown to occur in different subcellular locations. Synthesis of ceramide via the *de novo* pathway occurs predominantly on the surface of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Stiban et al., 2008), and on the surface of other membranes associated with the mitochondria, termed mitochondrial-associated membranes (MAM), whereas synthesis of the more complex SLs such as SM and GluCer occurs within the Golgi (Halter et al., 2007). ER-generated ceramide can potentially translocate to several different cellular locations, indicating the complexity of interpreting alterations in ceramide content.

#### 5.1.5 Ceramide and cardiomyocyte apoptosis

Studies have suggested that ceramide accumulation in cardiomyocytes may be positively associated with apoptosis in *in vitro* (Bielawska et al., 1997, Dyntar et al., 2001) and *in vivo* (Bielawska et al., 1997, Zhou et al., 2000, Zhang et al., 2001, Okere et al., 2006a) studies. Indeed, several key studies by Siskind et al. (2000, 2002) have demonstrated that ceramide can induce pore formation in mitochondrial membranes and mitochondrial fission (Parra et al., 2008) thus allowing intramembraneous cyt c release, and activation of the apoptotic cascade (Wang et al., 2000).

# 5.1.6 Objectives

The objective of this study was to determine the impact of pressure-overload hypertrophy and increased dietary lipid and sucrose upon cardiac long-chain ceramide formation. The most robust method for measuring individual ceramide species is mass spectrometry. However, an additional aim was to develop and optimise high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) to separate cardiac ceramide species for subsequent coupling with time of flight (TOF) mass spectrometry (MS).

# 5.2 Materials and methods

# 5.2.1 Identification of ceramide species

Stock solutions of ceramide standards were prepared in HPLC-grade ethanol at 5 µg/ml. Ceramides of longer acyl-chain length (C20 and C24) required warming to solubilise at this concentration. Experiments to optimise MS acquisition parameters were performed using C16, C17, and C18 ceramides. Solutions of 50 ng/µl were prepared and injected into the mass spectrometer (Applied Biosystems API QSTAR Pulsar i) using a Hamilton-Microsyringe, an infusion pump and a TurbolonSpray electrospray ionisation (ESI) source at 10 µl/min. Spectra were acquired in the positive ion (+) mode. Optimised MS parameters for maximal peak detection were as follows: ion source (IS) voltage: 5000 V; temperature: 400°C; gas source 1 and 2 (GS1 and GS2): 30 and 50, respectively; curtain gas (CUR) 20.0; declustering potential (DP): 45 V; focussing potential (FP): 145 V; DP2: 15 V; collision gas (CAD): 3.0; ion release delay (IRD): 6.0; ion release width (IRW): 5.0; pulse duration was set at 8µs. The mass spectrometer was set to record ions with a mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) from 400 to 600 (based upon the ceramide standard molecular weights).

Initial experiments revealed two major ions (figure 5.3), the higher m/z corresponding to the singly charged molecular ion  $(M+H)^+$  and the lower m/z corresponding to a fragmentation ion due to the loss of water  $((M-H_2O)+H)^+$ . Two other minor ions, 1 mass unit higher than the major ions, were also observed. These correspond to ions containing 1 atom of <sup>13</sup>C (due to the natural isotopic abundance of <sup>13</sup>C).



**Figure 5.3 Positive ESI-MS spectra of ceramide species.** A, C16 ceramide; B, C17 ceramide; C, C18 ceramide.

#### 5.2.2 HPLC separation, LC-MS and LC-MS/MS of ceramide species

HPLC experiments were performed using an Agilent 1100 system fitted with a C<sub>18</sub> 5  $\mu$ m 150 x 3.2 mm column (Phenomenex, UK) at 40°C in a column oven. The initial HPLC mobile phase mixtures were based on those described by Merrill et al. (2005) and comprised of solvents A [containing methanol, water, and formic acid (74:25:1 v/v/v)] and solvent B [containing methanol and formic acid (99:1 v/v)]. Both solvent A and B contained ammonium formate (5mM). Ceramide standards were prepared in 0.5 ml A:B (20:80 v/v) in glass autosampler vials (Agilent, UK). 5  $\mu$ l samples were used for preliminary studies, starting with a composition of 20:80 (v/v) A:B. Solvent B was increased to 100% over 8 min and maintained at this level for 2 min, after which was returned to 80% with a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min throughout.

The HPLC was coupled to a QSTAR tandem mass spectrometer using the TurbolonSpray source, set at 5400 V. MS settings were optimised for HPLC separation; DP and FP were reduced to 30 V and 130 V, respectively with an acquisition time of 15 minutes. For MS/MS experiments, quadrupole 2 (Q2) was set to fragment selected ions from quadrupole 1 (Q1). This collision-induced dissociation (CID) was performed to aid molecular identification of ceramide species and their fragmentation patterns. It is known that the ions m/z 262.5 and 264.5 can be generated from SLs, corresponding to major ion fragments from sphingadienine and sphingosine, respectively (Colsch et al., 2004). Only the m/z 264.5 ion was of interest in this study due to its association with ceramide. GS2 was increased to 80 and CUR to 30. Collision gas was increased to 6 and collision energy was set at 25 V (expt2) and 40 V (expt3). The mass spectrometer was set to record ions with an m/z from 100 to 600 to capture smaller fragmentation ions.

Results using the Phenomenex column with separate injections of C16, C17, and C18 ceramide indicated good separation between components (figure 5.4). C16 eluted at 8.36 min, C17 at 9.63 min and C18 at 10.93 min. Furthermore, these standards gave identical ESI-MS spectra to those previously obtained (figure 5.3).



**Figure 5.4 LC-MS TIC for C16, C17, and C18 ceramide species.** A) C16 ceramide; B) C17 ceramide; C) C18 ceramide.

All ceramide species analysed by LC-MS/MS produced a characteristic fragment with an m/z ratio of 264 (figure 5.5) with complete absence of the  $(M+H)^+$  ion. During MS/MS scans, precursor ions  $((M+H)^+)$  were selected in Q1 and fragmented in Q2 using the collision gas. These fragments were transferred into the TOF analyser and recorded. In expt3, the greater collision energy in Q2 reduced the appearance of the  $((M-H_2O)+H)^+$  and increased the intensity of the 264 fragment (data not shown).

To confirm that the separation on HPLC could separate compounds in cardiac tissue, a ceramide mixture was prepared containing equal amounts (30 ng/ $\mu$ l) of C8, C16, C17 and C18 (figure 5.6). Analysis of the TIC showed clear separation of the four ceramide standards (figure 5.6), with C8 ceramide eluting at 2.66 min. All other ceramide standards were detected at similar times to those described in figure 5.6.

Larger ceramide species (C20 and C24) were also analysed within the same 15 minutes. The initial step in achieving this was replacement of the Phenomenex column with an ACE C<sub>18</sub> column (Advanced Chromatography Technologies, 5  $\mu$ m, 100 x 3 mm). Employing a modification of the Merrill gradient combined with the ACE column, increased the speed at which the ceramide standards eluted from the column without affecting peak separation, and hence allowed a greater window of analysis post C18 ceramide. Specifically, C8 eluted at 1.86 min, C16 at 4.20 min, C17 at 4.81 min, and C18 at 5.72 min.



**Figure 5.5 Product ion scan of C16, C17 and C18 ceramide species.** A) C16 ceramide (precursor ion m/z 538.53); B) C17 ceramide (precursor ion m/z 552.54); C) C18 ceramide (precursor ion m/z 566.55).



**Figure 5.6 LC-MS TIC of ceramide standard mixtures separated on different HPLC columns**. A: modified gradient (as shown in figure 5.2) with ACE C<sub>18</sub> 5 μm 100 x 3 mm (Advanced Chromatography Technologies, UK) ; B: modified gradient with C<sub>18</sub> 5 μm 150 x 3.2 mm column (Phenomenex, UK).

Following optimisation of the HPLC gradient system, C20 and C24 ceramide were initially analysed individually. Both ceramide species were readily observable (figure 5.7, A-B) and produced the characteristic two-ion pattern  $((M+H)^+$  and  $(M-H2O)+H)^+$ ) exhibited by all other ceramide species analysed (figure 5.7, C-D). Fragmentation of C20 and C24 ceramide also yielded the characteristic m/z 264 fragment (figure 5.8).



Figure 5.7 LC-MS spectra for C20 and C24 ceramide. A) TIC for C20; B) TIC for C24. C) LC-ESI-MS spectra for C20 ceramide; D) LC-ESI-MS spectra for C24 ceramide.



**Figure 5.8 Product ion scan of C20 and C24**. A) C20 ceramide (precursor ion m/z 594.61); B) C24 ceramide (precursor ion m/z 650.72).

# 5.2.3 Quantitation of ceramide species

A mixture of ceramide standards ranging from C16-C24 was prepared to determine adequate peak separation within a 15 minute period (figure 5.9). Mixtures of C16, C18, C20, and C24 ceramide standards were prepared from original stock solutions at concentrations ranging from  $1ng/\mu I$  to 30  $ng/\mu I$ . C17 ceramide was included as an internal standard (IS) at a concentration of 25  $ng/\mu I$ .



Figure 5.9 Example of LC-MS TIC mixture of ceramide standards. Separation was performed using the gradient profile described in figure 5.2. Naturally occurring ceramides, C16, C18, C20 & C24, at 30 ng/ $\mu$ l; internal standard, C17, at 25 ng/ $\mu$ l.

For quantitation purposes, the peak area of the analyte was normalised to the peak area of the IS. Both peak areas were obtained by integration, with manual adjustment, using the quantitation routine provided within Analyst QS (version 1.1). Subsequently, the ratio of the analyte peak area to IS peak area (APA:ISPA) was used to generate a series of standard curves (figure 5.10).



**Figure 5.10 Example standard curve for C16 ceramide**. Analyte peak area (APA) was normalised to the internal standard peak area (ISPA). Each point is the average of 4 readings.
#### 5.2.4 Experimental groups

48 hours post-surgery, animals were assigned to dietary regimens as described in section 2.2.3:

- Control + standard chow (Con-SD)
- Control + high-fat diet (Con-HFD)
- Control + western diet (Con-WD)
- Aortic Constriction + standard chow (AC-SD)
- Aortic Constriction + high-fat diet (AC-HFD)
- Aortic Constriction + western diet (AC-WD).

Separate experiments were performed using an established model of HF induced using adriamycin (ADR) (Lu et al., 2009). Animals were maintained on a WD for 9 weeks but were dosed with 6 i/p injections of ADR from weeks 7 to 9 (2.5 mg/kg for a cumulative dose of 15 mg/kg) (Lu et al., 2009). Control animals were dosed with equal volumes of sterile isotonic saline

After 9 weeks, animals were anaesthetised, hearts were excised, rinsed, freeze-clamped and processed as described in 2.2.10.

#### 5.2.5 Sample preparation for analysis of ceramides by LC-MS

300 mg of powdered cardiac tissue was homogenised in 1ml of PBS (pH 7.4) for 10 x 30 s using an Ultra Turrax homogeniser at maximum speed at 4°C. The homogenate was sonicated using a probe-type sonicator for 2 x 5 s. From this, 0.1 ml was transferred to a clean 10-SV screwtopped glass vial (13 mm x 100 mm, Chromacol, UK) and prepared as described by Merrill et al. (2005). Briefly, 0.75 ml of chloroform:methanol (2:1 v/v) was added and the sample mixed thoroughly. 10  $\mu$ l C17 internal standard (500 ng/ $\mu$ l) was added to each tube and samples heated at 48°C for 14 h. 75  $\mu$ l of 1M KOH in methanol was added to each vial, sonicated for 15 min, and incubated at 37°C in a waterbath for 120 min. Samples were centrifuged at 760 x g for 10 min at room temperature, the supernatant transferred to glass autosampler vials (Agilent, UK), and dried using a SC210A SpeedVac Plus concentrator (Thermo-Scientific, UK). Samples were resuspended in 0.5 ml 50% methanol.

# 5.3 Results

All morphological characteristics of the experimental groups were similar to those previously observed in chapter 3.

### 5.3.1 Cardiac ceramide content

No significant difference in any ceramide species analysed was observed in control groups fed a SD or HFD (figure 5.11). Following WD intervention, levels of the 4 ceramide species assayed were significantly increased when compared to SD and HFD counterparts (figure 5.11). No significant difference was observed in any ceramide species analysed between AC-SD and AC-HFD groups (figure 5.11). However, the combination of AC and WD led to a significant increase in all ceramide (figure 5.11). No intra-group differences were observed.

A common ceramide profile was observed in all experimental groups, with C18 and C24 ceramides being the most predominant species observed (figure 5.11). WD feeding had the most pronounced effect upon C18 ceramide (figure 5.11).

### 5.3.2 Cardiac ceramide content in adriamycin-administered hearts

A significant increase in cardiac C16 and C18 ceramide content was observed following ADR administration but no change in C20 and C24 ceramide (figure 5.12).

### 5.3.3 Total cardiac ceramide content

Total cardiac ceramide content was not affected following HFD intervention, or AC alone (figure 5.13). WD feeding augmented total ceramide content in both Con and AC hearts, potentially due to increased C18 and C24 (figure 5.13). Total ceramide content was significantly elevated in hearts of WD animals compared to other dietary groups, in part due to increased C16 and C18 ceramide content (figure 5.13).



**Figure 5.11 Alterations to cardiac ceramide content following 9 weeks dietary intervention or aortic constriction.** Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet. \**P* < 0.001 vs. SD and HFD counterparts. Data show mean ± SEM.



Figure 5.12 Changes in the cardiac ceramide profile following dietary intervention and adriamycin administration. Con-WD, control western diet; WD-ADR, western diet + ADR administration. \*P < 0.01 vs. same ceramide species in Con-WD group. Data show mean ± SEM.



Figure 5.13 Total cardiac ceramide (C16-C24) content following dietary intervention, aortic constriction, and adriamycin administration. Con, control; AC, aortic constriction; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD; WD-ADR, western diet; ADR, adriamycin.\*P < 0.001 vs. SD and HFD counterparts, # P < 0.05 vs. SD, HFD, Con-WD, and AC-WD. Data show mean ± SEM.

### 5.3.4 Physiological data of adriamycin-administered animals

By the end of the dosing protocol, administration of ADR to rats led to a deterioration in health including lethargy, poor coat condition, and porphyrin staining around the nose and eyes.

HW:BW and HW:TL were significantly reduced following ADR treatment (table 5.1). No difference was observed in the degree of lung fluid content, EAT or RPAT, or kidney weights between the Con and ADR-administered group (table 5.1).

	Con-WD (n=5)	WD-ADR (n=4)
Terminal Body weight (g)	552 ±14	544 ±12
Tibia length (cm)	4.3 ±0.06	4.6 ±0.09
Heart weight (g)	2.05 ±0.09	1.87 ±0.15
HW:BW (g/kg)	3.73 ±0.21	3.45 ±0.11
HW:TL (g/cm)	0.47 ±0.03	0.40 ±0.02*
Lung wet wgt:dry wgt (%)	75 ±2	78 ±3
EAT (g)	11.5 ±0.6	12.4 ±0.9
RPAT (g)	16.5 ±0.8	14.0 ±1.7
L K:R K	1.0 ±0.0	$1.0 \pm 0.0$

#### Table 5.1 Physiological characteristics of adriamycin-administered animals

Con-WD, control western diet; WD-ADR, western diet + adriamycin treatment, HW:BW, heart weight-to-body weight; heart weight-to-tibia length, HW:TL; EAT, epididymal adipose tissue; RPAT, retroperitoneal + perirenal adipose tissue; L K:R K, left kidney:right kidney ratio. \* P < 0.05 vs. Con-WD. Data show mean ± SEM.

### 5.4 Discussion

The present study indicates that dietary manipulation has a significant impact upon cardiac ceramide generation. Furthermore, this remodelling is most apparent in hearts exposed to a WD, with an increase in all ceramide species measured. Importantly, the dietary effect of ceramide accumulation was not exacerbated by AC, suggesting that, at this stage of LVH, WD *per se* exerts greater influence upon the cardiac ceramide pool. Importantly, WD animals also exhibited the most pronounced metabolic remodelling, characterised by reduced FAO and increased TG accumulation (chapter 4, sections 4.3.4 and 4.3.5). Interestingly, no significant impact was observed in the HFD group when compared to the SD-fed animals (figure 5.12). The mechanisms underlying the increase in ceramide content following oversupply of FAs may involve increased activation of PPAR $\alpha$  via FA ligands, or disruption to  $\beta$ -oxidation in the face of unaltered uptake. This latter element is particularly important in organs with a high turnover of FAs, such as the heart (Schaffer, 2003).

#### 5.4.1 Cardiac ceramide changes following dietary intervention

9 weeks of WD-feeding led to a significant increase in all ceramide species measured and elevated total cardiac ceramide content when compared to other dietary groups (figures 5.12 and 5.13). In support of the deleterious impact of WD, Steinbusch et al. (2011) have shown that 16 weeks of WD-feeding in mice led to the accumulation of lipid and ceramide. Importantly, this accumulation of ceramide was attenuated with deletion of CD36 (Steinbusch et al., 2011), suggesting that ceramide accumulation may be a product of enhanced FA uptake in the face of altered FA metabolism. However, others have shown that longer WD-feeding protocols (up to 48 weeks) do not affect cardiac ceramide content (Harmancey et al., 2010). Consequently, the mechanisms by which diet is able to regulate ceramide formation require further investigation.

Ceramide metabolism has been more widely studied in response to HFDs. In mice with cardiacspecific overexpression of PPAR $\alpha$ , 8 weeks of a HFD increased cardiac TG accumulation and enhanced ceramide content despite upregulation of  $\beta$ -oxidation (Finck et al., 2003). This study found no evidence of apoptosis despite significant ventricular dysfunction. Similarly, others have suggested that heightened levels of ceramide are associated with increased DNA laddering, apoptosis, and a decline in cardiac function (Zhou et al., 2000, Sharma et al., 2004); findings which are in contrast to the impact of a WD upon function in the current study (chapter 4, section 4.3.1). Thus, modulating lipid metabolism may be an important way in which ceramide synthesis is regulated.

Further support for the importance of PPAR $\alpha$  in regulating ceramide synthesis is offered by Baranowski et al. (2007). Pharmacological activation of PPAR $\alpha$  with WY-14643 (a synthetic PPAR $\alpha$  ligand) or a high-PUFA diet increased all long chain ceramide species assayed (C14-C24). Stimulation of PPAR $\alpha$  combined with the high-fat feeding increased SPT activity, but not in animals not receiving WY-14643. However, a potential explanation for the increased ceramide content from exogenous PPAR $\alpha$  stimulation and high PUFA feeding is suggested by the observation that the high PUFA diet reduced nCDase, aCDase, and alCDase expression, thereby attenuating the clearance of ceramide (figure 5.2) (Baranowski et al., 2007). Consequently, elevated dietary lipid may lead to ceramide formation, but may also alter the rate of its clearance from the cell. Indeed, this concept is interesting as the HFD and WD used in the present study contained the same percentage of fat, suggesting that the cardiac metabolic profile promoted by WD-feeding may be the sole driver of ceramide accumulation.

Further complicating the relationship between intracellular TG and ceramide are studies which suggest dietary FAs can differentially influence ceramide content independently of TG concentration (Okere et al., 2006a). Specifically, a reduction in C16 ceramide content was observed with a 60% MUFA/PUFA diet (composed of oleic and linoleic), with no change in TG content. Conversely, 60% SFA-feeding raised TG and ceramide content compared to the MUFA/PUFA diet group with a concomitant increase in the number of apoptotic events (Okere et al., 2006a). Additionally, high-fat feeding in mice for 12 weeks induced a near 2-fold increase in ceramide without increasing cardiac TG (Sung et al., 2011). Interestingly, the accumulation of ceramide did not impair cardiac function, consistent with the present observations (chapter 4, section 4.3.1).

Increasing SFA may facilitate elevated flux through SPT and ceramide generation via the de novo pathway. In support of this, high PUFA-feeding alone did not increase SPT activity in rabbit hearts (Baranowski et al., 2007). Indeed, in mice with cardiac-specific overexpression of LPL, deletion of the LCB1 subunit of SPT prolongs survival and improves systolic function (Park et al., 2008). In contrast, wildtype mice are not protected from increased de novo ceramide formation, and the excess FAs generated via the overexpressed LPL are shuttled into ceramide

formation (Park et al., 2008). Using rapeseed oil feeding for 20 weeks Dewailly et al. (1977) demonstrated a two-fold increase in cardiac SM content, through enhanced incorporation of euricic acid (+10.5%). Similarly, Riediger et al. (2008) noted substantial changes in phospholipid composition, including changes to SM following feeding with *n*-3 PUFAs. Consequently, susceptibility of the membrane to diet-induced changes may lead to the potential for generation of ceramide via the action of SMases (figure 5.2).

The present study showed that of the ceramide species measured, C24 ceramide was the most abundant (figure 5.12), consistent with previously observations in interfibrillar and subsarcolemmal mitochondrial membranes, and cardiac tissue homogenates from standard chow-fed rats (Monette et al., 2010). In contrast, Baranowski et al. (2007) observed that C16 and C18 ceramide were the most predominant species, irrespective of diet. However, their study also demonstrated that ceramide remodelling extended far beyond the traditionally studied C16 ceramide (Okere et al., 2006a), supporting the concept that dietary influences can affect many different ceramide species. Ceramides of varying chain length can also be generated via the activities of specific (dihydro)CerS isoforms, and by utilisation of dihydrosphingosine derived from recycling of endogenous SM and varying fatty acyl-CoAs, ranging from C14-, C16-, C18-, C20-, and C24-acyl-CoA (Mizutani et al., 2005). The contribution of SM derived ceramide precursors remains to be determined, but nSMase activity was elevated in hearts of rats subjected to MI, alongside a decrease in Bcl-2 protein content and increased cleavage of caspase 3 indicative of apoptosis (Adamy et al., 2007). Mitochondrial hydrolysis of SM by targeted expression of bacterial SMase led to increased cyt c release and subsequent apoptosis (Birbes et al., 2001). In addition, the presence of ceramide rafts in the plasma membrane (Silva et al., 2007) also raised questions regarding the specific location of ceramide synthesis/accumulation. Importantly, ceramide formation must be a tightly regulated process so as not to induce apoptosis. Cell death associated with ceramide accumulation may therefore be influenced by the rate of ceramide degradation to an inactive form, or by the metabolism to S1P, itself an important anti-apoptotic molecule (Maceyka et al., 2002).

#### 5.4.2 Cardiac ceramide changes following dietary intervention and AC

AC did not affect the ceramide profile irrespective of the dietary intervention compared to controls (figure 5.11). However, AC-WD hearts exhibited a significant increase in the levels of all ceramide species measured (figure 5.11), although this was not different to their respective 136

controls. Furthermore, total ceramide was increased in AC-WD hearts, similar to the Con-WD group, indicating that at this stage in disease progression, WD may be more detrimental to cardiac health than LVH (figure 5.11).

There have been few studies recording the changes in ceramide content in the hypertrophied heart when challenged with increasing dietary fat consumption. However, it has previously been shown that increased activity of SPT could lead to cardiac hypertrophy, ventricular dilation, and depressed function in LPL transgenic hearts (Park et al., 2008). Indeed, this would suggest that oversupply of lipid to the heart could induce systolic dysfunction and ceramide generation. However, following 45% fat feeding, ceramide content is not significantly different to control animals, despite a significant increase in tissue TG (Morgan et al., 2006b). Moreover, C16 ceramide content is elevated in the hearts of low-fat/high salt fed rats treated with the CPT1 inhibitor, oxfenicine (Okere et al., 2006b), suggesting that a decrease in mitochondrial FAO might lead to the diversion of acyl-CoA species from oxidation into the formation of sphingolipids. Indeed, increasing SFA supply (60% of daily calories) to rats with HF doubles C16 ceramide content and increases TG levels, but had no impact upon function (Rennison et al., 2009), supporting the observations in the present study. Recent studies, examining the impact of WD feeding upon cardiac ceramide levels, support the current data. 16 weeks of WD feeding in mice subjected to TAC produces a significant increase in cardiac ceramide (Steinbusch et al., 2011). Importantly, this study also demonstrated that both sham and TACoperated animals showed similar levels of ceramide levels, recapitulating the present data (Steinbusch et al., 2011). Thus, similar to the control group, WD-feeding infers a greater degree of SL remodelling, whether imposed upon AC or not.

#### 5.4.3 Cardiac ceramide changes following adriamycin administration

The present study demonstrated that ADR treatment in combination with WD led to significant alterations in the cardiac ceramide profile (figure 5.12). Specifically, this was characterised by an increase in C16 and C18 ceramide, with other ceramide species assayed remaining unchanged (figure 5.12). Consequently, ADR-administered animals had the greatest degree of ceramide accumulation of all experimental groups (figure 5.13).

The elevation in C18 ceramide has been recently been shown to be a novel serum marker of tumour response to ADR and Gemcitabine treatment (Saddoughi et al., 2011). In particular,

serum C18 ceramide correlates positively with tumour response, whereas no relationship is observed with C16 ceramide (Saddoughi et al., 2011). Consequently, elevated levels of C18 ceramide in the hearts of WD-ADR rats may lead to increased vacuolisation and apoptosis (Lu et al., 2009). In addition, increased lipid consumption sensitises the heart to ADR-induced toxicity via increased oxidative stress and impaired ATP synthesis (Mitra et al., 2008)

The mechanisms underlying the generation of intracellular ceramide in response to ADR treatment are conflicting. ADR administration amplified the activity of aSMase with a subsequent decrease in SM and increase in ceramide in adult rat cardiomyocytes (Andrieu-Abadie et al., 1999). This suggested that enhanced liberation of SM was in part responsible for the increased ceramide formation in the hearts of ADR-administered rats. Conversely, ceramide could also be generated via the de novo pathway in response to ADR treatment (Rath et al., 2009). C18 ceramide is preferentially elevated by ADR treatment via specific increased expression of human longevity assurance gene 1 (LASS1) mRNA [encoding (dihydro)CerS which generates C18 ceramide] (Senkal et al., 2007). Furthermore, when de novo synthesis of ceramide is blocked by the addition of fumonisin B1 [FB1, an inhibitor of (dihydro)CerS], ceramide levels are not enhanced following ADR treatment (Rath et al., 2009), suggesting ceramide might also be increased via hydrolysis of SM. Importantly, these authors noted that neither nSMase and aSMase were affected by ADR treatment, confirming the importance of the de novo pathway (Rath et al., 2009), in contrast to the study of Andrieu-Abadie et al. (1999). Thus, depending upon the model used, ADR treatment may lead to differential activation of ceramide synthesis pathways.

#### 5.4.4 Mechanisms for ceramide-induced cellular dysfunction

Ceramide has a wide range of cardiac effects, including interaction with the respiratory chain of mitochondria (Gudz et al., 1997, Di Paola et al., 2000), membrane permeabilisation (Siskind and Colombini, 2000, Siskind et al., 2002, Siskind et al., 2006), involvement in mediating the effects of ROS production (Hernandez et al., 2000), and mitogenic signalling via regulating the phosphorylation state of Akt and glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta (GSK-3 $\beta$ ) (Park et al., 2008). In addition, isolated cardiomyocytes incubated with S1P develop hypertrophy characterised by an increase in cell size, enhanced incorporation of phenylalanine, and expression of brain natriurietic peptide (BNP) (Robert et al., 2001). Furthermore, inhibition of the S1P receptor indicates that the S1P hypertrophic response requires G<sub>i</sub> coupled signalling pathways, with activation of MAPKs, Akt, and p70S6K (Robert et al., 2001). Ceramide activates cardiac serine/threonine protein phosphatases (PP1 and PP2A) (Puthanveetil et al., 2011). Interestingly, the finding that increased dietary lipid manifests heightened PP2A expression (Puthanveetil et al., 2011) is not seen in cardiac tissue from rats fed a high-sucrose diet (Vasanji et al., 2006) suggesting that ceramide-activated protein phosphatases (CAPPS [PP1 and PP2A]) activity may be related to dietary lipid content.

Cardiac c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs) are activated by ceramides following hypoxiareoxygenation; a response which can be blocked by pre-treatment of cells with antioxidants suggesting that oxidative stress is important in regulating ceramide synthesis and stimulation of JNK (Hernandez et al., 2000). Furthermore, targeted cardiac expression of dominant negative JNK reduces c-Jun kinase activity and increases hypertrophic remodelling following TAC (Liang et al., 2003). Similarly, inhibition of JNK during ischaemia reduces phosphorylation of c-Jun, attenuates infarct size and significantly reduces the number of TUNEL-positive cells, suggesting a reduction in apoptotic cell-loss (Ferrandi et al., 2004). As such, increased ceramide-JNK signalling may promote apoptosis, and lead to organ dysfunction as described in studies examining the impact of high fat- and WD-feeding (Fang et al., 2008, Ballal et al., 2010). Importantly, however, no such dysfunction was observed following HFD- or WD-feeding in the present study. Thus, ceramide signalling cascades in the hypertrophied heart faced with increased dietary lipid require further investigation.

Sung et al. (2011) have shown that elevated ceramide levels in the mouse heart following a HFD are associated with reduced phosphorylation of AMPK. Furthermore, ceramide treatment of AC16 cardiomyocytes leads to decreased phosphorylation of Akt and GSK-3 $\beta$  (Park et al., 2008), suggesting a potential role for ceramide in regulating cardiac growth. Indeed, activation of protein kinase C (PKC)  $\zeta$  via ceramide has also been shown to inhibit Akt translocation (Powell et al., 2003), potentially dependent upon PP2A (Guenther et al., 2008). Additionally, augmented ceramide production reduces pro-insulin gene expression in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells via decreased activity of the ERK pathway due to increased PP2A (Guo et al., 2010). Thus, ceramide accumulation may directly regulate cardiomyocyte metabolism and morphology. Furthermore, impaired Akt signalling as a result of ceramide accumulation may result in reduced inhibition of the pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members Bad, Bax, Bid, and Bim, and hence increase apoptosis (Datta et al., 1997). Indeed, a well-studied mechanism of ceramide mediated cellular dysfunction involves disruption to mitochondrial function and activation of the intrinsic death pathway (Siskind, 2005), although there is a paucity of cardiac-specific data.

However, long-term WD feeding reduced the expression of Bcl-2 proteins in the heart, an observation not seen with HFDs (Ballal et al., 2010). Furthermore, hearts from WD-fed animals exhibit increased caspase-3 cleavage and show a greater number of TUNEL-positive cells, indicating enhanced apoptosis (Ballal et al., 2010).

#### 5.4.5 Summary

In the current model, 9 weeks of a HFD did not lead to changes in cardiac long-chain ceramide content. In comparison, WD-feeding led to a significant elevation of C16-C24 ceramide. Furthermore, AC did not further augment the increase in ceramide content. When animals fed a WD were subjected to ADR-induced HF, a specific increase in C16 and C18 ceramide content was observed, with no change in C20 and C24 ceramide. These data suggest that HF induces a specific change in the ceramide profile of the heart, strongly suggesting an important role for ceramide in the development of HF following lipid accumulation.

Chapter 6 Discussion and future directions

## 6.1 Discussion

Surgical induction of pressure-overload hypertrophy resulted in significant LVH in all experimental groups. Furthermore, the hypertrophic response was found to differ following dietary intervention, with diets high in carbohydrate (SD and WD) producing the greatest increase in LVH compared to a diet high in fat (HFD). At 9 weeks, cardiac function was not compromised following AC or dietary intervention, despite substantial changes in cardiac metabolism. Consequently, this suggests that consumption of a WD – although not initially detrimental to function – may in the long term lead to deterioration in function secondary to metabolic remodelling. Indeed, increased TG may lead to the accumulation of ceramide observed in the hearts of animals consuming a WD (figure 6.1). These data suggest that metabolic remodelling precedes the development of contractile dysfunction in the hypertrophied heart. Furthermore, the metabolic phenotype generated by the WD may offer a speculative mechanism by which this dietary pattern enhances the risk of developing HF. A summary

The HFD attenuated the development of LVH and prevented the increase in HW associated with pressure-overload, a process which was exaggerated by increasing carbohydrate inclusion in diet. It is interesting that the beneficial effect of the HFD was lost with WD feeding, despite a similar FA profile. This suggests that the favourable effect of lipid is lost with heightened sugar consumption and implicates systemic changes in the ventricular remodelling response. However, besides attenuating the increase in HW associated with AC combined with SD and WD feeding, the effect of the HFD occurred despite significant increases in adiposity and leptin, challenging the view that increasing fat mass is detrimental to cardiac performance. Although these observations are in line with previous studies (Chess et al., 2009) and to high-salt feeding (Okere et al., 2005, Okere et al., 2006b), and exacerbated by high levels of carbohydrate (Chess et al., 2007, Sharma et al., 2008), extending the duration of the experimental protocol may elicit greater ventricular remodelling in response to both diet and AC. Indeed, a more pathological model would complement the current experimental design, and allow changes in cardiac function and metabolism to be assessed as the disease progresses.



**Figure 6.1 Summary of main observations following dietary intervention or the combined effect of dietary manipulation and cardiac hypertrophy.** BW, body weight; HW, heart weight; HW:TL, heart weight-to-tibia length; HW:BW, heart weight-to-body weight; LVDP, left ventricular developed pressure; MVO<sub>2</sub>, myocardial oxygen consumption; MCAD:CS, mediumchain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase:citrate synthase; TG, triglyceride; PPARα, Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor; SD, standard diet; HFD, high-fat diet; WD, western diet

Decreased FAO (Planavila et al., 2005, Akki et al., 2008) and increased reliance upon glycolytic substrates (Allard et al., 1994b, Akki et al., 2008, Leong et al., 2002) has been observed in hypertrophied hearts, and also in HF (Sack et al., 1996, Depre et al., 1998, Barger et al., 2000), and are in agreement with this study. However, the subtle difference between control and experimental animals in the present study likely reflects the severity of the procedure, as rats subjected to a more severe experimental intervention show greater remodelling (Chess et al., 2009).

Facilitating FAO in HF has been shown to improve cardiac function and reduce mortality. Increased carnitine supplementation, and thereby greater mitochondrial uptake of LCFAs, improved mortality in HF patients (Ioannis, 2000), and elevated consumption of SFAs led to improved survival in hamsters with genetic cardiomyopathy (Galvao et al., 2012). Furthermore, rats fed a HFD showed an improved cardiac response to a dobutamine stress test (Berthiaume et al., 2010). Blocking LCFA uptake via inhibition of CPT1 with oxifenicine did not improve cardiac function in the hypertrophied DSS rat heart (Okere et al., 2006b) or manifest cardiac hypertrophy in Wistar rats fed a HFD (Okere et al., 2007). However, in HF of ischaemic origin, the use of Trimetazidine (TMZ) to inhibit long-chain 3-ketoacyl thiolase – and therefore FAO – improved cardiac function (Fragasso et al., 2006, Fragasso et al., 2011), and has been shown to increase the fractional oxidation of glucose in a model of pressure-overload hypertrophy following ischaemia, without affecting palmitate oxidation (Saeedi et al., 2005). However, this effect was not observed prior to ischaemia. It would therefore be interesting to study cardiac function following ischaemia in the HFD and WD models to determine if increased oxidation of FA under basal conditions predisposes the heart to enhanced dysfunction. Thus, regulating cardiac FAO in the hypertrophied or failing heart via dietary intervention may be an important additional therapy for the treatment of HF.

A HFD did not lead to significant changes in the metabolic markers studied other than reducing PDHa, as anticipated with increasing FA supply and oxidation (Randle, 1998), suggesting that a HFD may prevent the decline in FAO associated with LVH. Increased dietary carbohydrate augmented the left ventricular remodelling process in response to hypertension in the DSS rat (Okere et al., 2006b), supporting the observation in the present study. Additionally, the potential activation of PDH in response to such a small increase in dietary sucrose requires further investigation. Although spectrophotometric determination of enzyme activity is useful, for an enzyme which is as highly regulated as PDH the measurement of pyruvate flux through the enzyme *in vivo* would be more insightful. This has been achieved by using hyperpolarised 1-<sup>13</sup>C pyruvate in the hearts of diabetic rats (Schroeder et al., 2008).

Additionally, it has been shown that pressure-overload hypertrophy is associated with reduced activity of malonyl-CoA dehydrogenase (MCD) (Young et al., 2001). The blunted PPAR $\alpha$  response observed in AC-WD hearts may in part lead to the combined effect of attenuated FAO via decreased transcription of enzymes associated with  $\beta$ -oxidation, and mitochondrial FA transport, ultimately resulting in TG accumulation. Additional support for this notion is

provided by studies using transgenic mouse models of increased glucose uptake, which show a decrease in PPARα and elevated ACC mRNA (Yan et al., 2009). Thus, the provision of a substrate for endogenous TG synthesis when FAO is reduced would facilitate increased TG accumulation, as observed in WD hearts. Determination of MCD and ACC protein expression, in addition to CPT1 activity in the different dietary groups would allow the dissociation of altered FAO and mitochondrial FA uptake to be examined fully, thus allowing identification of the cause of TG accumulation following the WD protocol.

Chronic AC did not impact upon the measured ceramide species when combined with SD and HFD feeding. In contrast to this, WD feeding led to a significant increase in cardiac ceramide content. Furthermore, when animals fed a WD are treated with ADR to induce HF (Lu et al., 2009), total ceramide was further increased with the specific accumulation of C16 and C18 ceramide. Lipotoxicity is a recognised mechanism for the deterioration in function in HF patients, in particular in association with pathologies which increase FA delivery to the myocardium (Park et al., 2008) such as high-fat feeding (Zhou et al., 2000), obesity and diabetes (Sharma et al., 2004).

Although no difference was observed in the measured saturated ceramide content in AC hearts following HFD intervention it is possible that other ceramide species undergo remodelling. However, the present data are supported by a previous study examining the effect of diet alone (Baranowski et al., 2007). WD-feeding led to a significant increase in ceramides containing SFA species, irrespective of AC. The mechanisms behind this increase are unclear, especially due to the diet containing the same FA profile to that of the HFD, but may relate to increased SPT activity or reduced removal of ceramide by ceramidases (Baranowski et al., 2007). Indeed, inhibition of SPT via myriocin reduced ceramide accumulation in hearts overexpressing LPL and rescued the deterioration in function associated with this phenotype (Park et al., 2008). Furthermore, obese failing human hearts showed reduced PPARα, CPT1, and MCAD mRNA which can be restored to non-failing levels by obesity, however the consequence of this is increased lipid accumulation (Sharma et al., 2004). In contrast to this, we observed hyperfunction in AC hearts fed a WD, and normal function in respective controls despite TG and ceramide accumulation, supported by a previous study (Okere et al., 2006a). It may be anticipated that by maintaining the activity of enzymes associated with FAO prevented the accumulation of TG when challenged with a heightened supply of FAs. This may be due to all dietary regimens commencing at the same time of the induction of hypertrophy. Therefore,

for the HFD, hypertrophy develops alongside a heightened supply of FAs. This may attenuate the development of hypertrophic metabolism (decreased FAO and increased carbohydrate usage). Indeed, the ability of HFDs to upregulate the full cassette of FA responsive genes may be crucially important for attenuating the increase in intracellular ceramide, and highlights metabolic regulators of FAO as important targets for modulating cardiac metabolism in disease.

### 6.2 Strengths and limitations

The Langendorff method of heart perfusion has been widely used for the study of cardiac function in response to numerous interventions, including diabetes (Nawata et al., 2002, Aasum et al., 2003, Belke et al., 2004), ischaemia/ischaemia reperfusion injury (Nawata et al., 2002, Wei and Vander Heide, 2010), measurement of infarct size (Ferrera et al., 2009), hypertrophy (Eberli et al., 1998, Akki et al., 2008, Dupont et al., 2012), and for measuring electrical activity (Yanagi et al., 2001), although as reviewed by Skrzypiec-Spring et al. (2007), the rat heart suffers from a short action potential duration which therefore limits its use in arrrhythmogenic studies. However, the development of sophisticated computer programs combined with the use of numerous isotopic substrate labels has allowed determination of myocardial metabolism *in vitro* (Malloy et al., 1990).

The isolated Langendorff heart perfusion has several important advantages, including a large degree of reproducibility and a low level of technicality in comparison to the working-heart preparation. Similar to the working heart preparation, excision of the heart from the thorax removes all associations with the autonomic and central nervous system, and endogenous neurohormonal control mechanisms, thereby allowing the direct study of intrinsic cardiac function and metabolism. Although this is highly desirable, there are limitations associated with this approach. For metabolic studies, isolation of the heart from the body removes the potential for plasma substrate usage. Indeed, this may become increasingly important when analysing cardiac function. However, the opportunity to include a wider range of physiological substrates within the perfusate is an strength of the current method, in comparison to those which have been perfused solely with carbohydrate substrates (Konior et al., 2011). Additionally, the presence of albumin in the crystalloid buffer permits the use of FAs

and reduces the well-known osmotic effects of such perfusates (Bell et al., 2011). However, a limitation of such a buffer is its low oxygen-carrying capacity in comparison to whole-blood (Bell et al., 2011) and the necessity for a relatively high CFR which may increase endothelial sheer stress.

Although the composition of the perfusate medium was designed to mimic *in vivo* conditions, there is potential that the increased function observed in AC hearts from HFD and WD groups could be due to substrate unloading, as previous studies have shown a significant contribution of endogenous lipoproteins to cardiac metabolism (Niu et al., 2004, Niu and Evans, 2008). Furthermore, the endogenous source of FAs derived from *in vivo* hydrolysis of lipoproteins may in part account for an elevated supply of FAs and increased TG content in WD hearts. Indeed, the absence of lipoproteins from the perfusate may be important in the current model and may indirectly modulate myocardial metabolism *ex vivo*, accounting for the high lactate consumption in hearts perfused with <sup>13</sup>C substrates.

The oxygen consumption experiments described in chapter 4 (section 4.3.6) demonstrate an approximately 30% reduction in MVO<sub>2</sub> following arrest, suggesting that in the present perfusion method, cardiac contraction would account for approximately 30% of the oxygen cost. In comparison, values of 80% are observed with the working heart preparation (Pepe and McLennan, 2002). Additionally, it has been shown that *in* vivo, work is greater than in experimentally perfused hearts (Chatham et al., 1999), with this factor potentially altering substrate metabolism. An additional limitation is the difficulty in extrapolating *in vitro* observations to *in vivo* conditions and to human disease. In particular, the additional metabolic regulation mechanisms such as variations in heart rate, oxygen content, and hormonal influences are absent in the present experimental model (Lydell et al., 2002), and are a recognised limitation of the isolated heart preparation.

### 6.3 Future work

By 9 weeks of pressure-overload, all groups exhibited signs of LVH with preserved or mild hyperfunction. However, although cardiac function is evidently not compromised at this stage, subclinical alterations may be evident in addition to the metabolic changes observed in the present study. A longer period of study intervention would allow a more severe cardiac phenotype to develop, which in WD hearts may be due to excessive TG accumulation and ceramide generation. In addition to the cardiac phenotype, long-term studies would allow more systemic abnormalities to develop following different dietary patterns, including hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulinaemia, and diabetes. Indeed, the observed accumulation of hepatic lipid in the present study suggests disturbances to the actions of insulin at this experimental stage (Bugianesi et al., 2005), which may actually be detrimental to the hypertrophied heart in terms of excessive insulin-stimulated protein synthesis. It would be interesting to observe the effect of improving insulin sensitivity upon cardiac metabolism in hypertrophied hearts from the WD group.

The pathways for ceramide generation - although well studied in numerous cancers – remain largely unstudied in the heart, although a recent study has attempted to examine this (Baranowski et al., 2007). The intimate association between elevated ceramide levels and apoptosis (Okere et al., 2006a) necessitates further studies to quantify this in the present model. Indeed, apoptosis may be evident and increased by WD feeding yet at this experimental stage does not significantly influence function, similar to the finding of Okere et al. (2006a). Furthermore, it would be insightful to measure the activity of SPT in control and hypertrophied hearts in the presence of myriocin, thus allowing the contribution of de novo ceramide synthesis to be determined. Additionally, the activities of ceramidases and SMases could be examined, further enhancing the understanding of the mechanisms for altered ceramide biology in the experimental model.

In the present model of LVH, subtle metabolic remodelling was observable at 9 weeks and showed susceptibility to dietary influence. Consistent with previous work from the laboratory, PPAR $\alpha$  protein expression was lower in hypertrophied hearts fed a standard rodent diet (Akki et al., 2008). Following high-fat feeding, PPAR $\alpha$  protein expression was not reduced in the hypertrophied heart, yet was diminished following WD intervention. The PPAR $\alpha$  response may in part also be regulated by PGC-1 $\alpha$  (Puigserver and Spiegelman, 2003). In particular, as well as a cofactor for PPAR $\alpha$ , PGC-1 $\alpha$  is involved in regulating mitochondrial biogenesis (Ventura-Clapier et al., 2008). CS activity was used as a marker of mitochondrial density and was enhanced following increased fat and sucrose consumption; potentially secondary to heightened mitochondrial damage (Ballal et al., 2010). Thus, determining PGC-1 $\alpha$  expression in the hypertrophied hearts in the current model may lead to a greater understanding of the

dietary impact upon mitochondrial function, as excessive mitochondrial biogenesis has been shown to manifest cardiomyopathy (Russell et al., 2004).

# **Publications**

#### Papers

BUTLER, T. J., SEYMOUR, A-M. L., and ASHFORD, D. 2012 Long-chain ceramide accumulation in the hypertrophied heart – impact of western diet (in preparation).

#### **Presented Abstracts**

BUTLER, T.J., and SEYMOUR, A-M. L. Impact of obesity on left ventricular hypertrophy. Presented at Society for Heart and Vascular Metabolism, Padova, Italy (2009).

BUTLER, T. J., SEYMOUR, A-M. L., and ASHFORD, D. Impact of dietary fat upon myocardial ceramide species in cardiac hypertrophy. Presented at Society for Heart and Vascular Metabolism, Kananaskis, Canada (2010).

BUTLER, T. J., SEYMOUR, A-M. L., and ASHFORD, D. Western diet and the hypertrophied heart: the sugary path to failure? Presented at Society for Heart and Vascular Metabolism, Brussels, Belgium (2011) and The Northern Cardiac Meeting, Hull, UK (2011).

BUTLER, T. J., SEYMOUR, A-M. L., and ASHFORD, D. Alterations in the myocardial ceramide pool following dietary intervention in an experimental model of cardiac hypertrophy. To be presented at the Frontiers in Cardiovascular Biology, London, 2012.

# References

- AASUM, E., HAFSTAD, A. D., SEVERSON, D. L. & LARSEN, T. S. 2003. Age-Dependent Changes in Metabolism, Contractile Function, and Ischemic Sensitivity in Hearts From db/db Mice. *Diabetes*, 52, 434-441.
- ABATE, N., GARG, A., PESHOCK, R. M., STRAY-GUNDERSEN, J., ADAMS-HUET, B. & GRUNDY, S.
   M. 1996. Relationship of generalized and regional adiposity to insulin sensitivity in men with NIDDM. *Diabetes*, 45, 1684-93.
- ABE, Y., ONO, K., KAWAMURA, T., WADA, H., KITA, T., SHIMATSU, A. & HASEGAWA, K. 2007. Leptin induces elongation of cardiac myocytes and causes eccentric left ventricular dilatation with compensation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 292, H2387-96.
- ABUMRAD, N. A., EL-MAGHRABI, M. R., AMRI, E. Z., LOPEZ, E. & GRIMALDI, P. A. 1993. Cloning of a rat adipocyte membrane protein implicated in binding or transport of long-chain fatty acids that is induced during preadipocyte differentiation. Homology with human CD36. J Biol Chem, 268, 17665-8.
- ADAMY, C., MULDER, P., KHOUZAMI, L., ANDRIEU-ABADIE, N., DEFER, N., CANDIANI, G., PAVOINE, C., CARAMELLE, P., SOUKTANI, R., LE CORVOISIER, P., PERIER, M., KIRSCH, M., DAMY, T., BERDEAUX, A., LEVADE, T., THUILLEZ, C., HITTINGER, L. & PECKER, F.
  2007. Neutral sphingomyelinase inhibition participates to the benefits of Nacetylcysteine treatment in post-myocardial infarction failing heart rats. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 43, 344-353.
- AGUILA, M. B. & MANDARIM-DE-LACERDA, C. A. 2001. Blood pressure, ventricular volume and number of cardiomyocyte nuclei in rats fed for 12 months on diets differing in fat composition. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 122, 77-88.
- AGUILA, M. B., PINHEIRO, A. R. & MANDARIM-DE-LACERDA, C. A. 2005. Spontaneously hypertensive rats left ventricular cardiomyocyte loss attenuation through different edible oils long-term intake. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 100, 461-466.
- AHIMA, R. S. 2006. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 14 Suppl 5, 242S-249S.
- AKIYAMA, T., TACHIBANA, I., SHIROHARA, H., WATANABE, N. & OTSUKI, M. 1996. High-fat hypercaloric diet induces obesity, glucose intolerance and hyperlipidemia in normal adult male Wistar rat. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, 31, 27-35.
- AKKI, A. & SEYMOUR, A. M. 2009. Western diet impairs metabolic remodelling and contractile efficiency in cardiac hypertrophy. *Cardiovasc Res,* 81, 610-7.
- AKKI, A., SMITH, K. & SEYMOUR, A. M. 2008. Compensated cardiac hypertrophy is characterised by a decline in palmitate oxidation. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 311, 215-24.
- AKSENTIJEVIC, D., BHANDARI, S. & SEYMOUR, A. M. 2009. Insulin resistance and altered glucose transporter 4 expression in experimental uremia. *Kidney Int*, 75, 711-8.
- ALLARD, M. F., FLINT, J. D., ENGLISH, J. C., HENNING, S. L., SALAMANCA, M. C., KAMIMURA, C.
   T. & ENGLISH, D. R. 1994a. Calcium overload during reperfusion is accelerated in isolated hypertrophied rat hearts. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 26, 1551-63.
- ALLARD, M. F., PARSONS, H. L., SAEEDI, R., WAMBOLT, R. B. & BROWNSEY, R. 2007. AMPK and metabolic adaptation by the heart to pressure overload. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 292, H140-148.
- ALLARD, M. F., SCHONEKESS, B. O., HENNING, S. L., ENGLISH, D. R. & LOPASCHUK, G. D. 1994b. Contribution of oxidative metabolism and glycolysis to ATP production in hypertrophied hearts. *Am J Physiol*, 267, H742-50.

ALONSO-GALICIA, M., BRANDS, M. W., ZAPPE, D. H. & HALL, J. E. 1996. Hypertension in obese Zucker rats. Role of angiotensin II and adrenergic activity. *Hypertension*, 28, 1047-54.

ALPERT, M. A. 2001. Obesity cardiomyopathy: pathophysiology and evolution of the clinical syndrome. *Am J Med Sci*, 321, 225-36.

- ALPERT, M. A., TERRY, B. E. & KELLY, D. L. 1985. Effect of weight loss on cardiac chamber size, wall thickness and left ventricular function in morbid obesity. *The American journal of cardiology*, 55, 783-786.
- ANDRIEU-ABADIE, N., JAFFRÉZOU, J.-P., HATEM, S., LAURENT, G., LEVADE, T. & MERCADIER, J.-J. 1999. L-carnitine prevents doxorubicin-induced apoptosis of cardiac myocytes: role of inhibition of ceramide generation. *The FASEB Journal*, 13, 1501-1510.
- ANKER, S. D. & VON HAEHLING, S. 2011. The Obesity Paradox in Heart Failure: Accepting Reality and Making Rational Decisions. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 90, 188-190.
- ANVERSA, P., BEGHI, C., KIKKAWA, Y. & OLIVETTI, G. 1986. Myocardial infarction in rats. Infarct size, myocyte hypertrophy, and capillary growth. *Circ Res*, 58, 26-37.
- ANVERSA, P. & KAJSTURA, J. 1998. Ventricular myocytes are not terminally differentiated in the adult mammalian heart. *Circ Res*, 83, 1-14.
- ARAGNO, M., TOMASINELLI, C. E., VERCELLINATTO, I., CATALANO, M. G., COLLINO, M., FANTOZZI, R., DANNI, O. & BOCCUZZI, G. 2009. SREBP-1c in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease induced by Western-type high-fat diet plus fructose in rats. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 47, 1067-1074.
- ARANDA, A. & PASCUAL, A. 2001. Nuclear Hormone Receptors and Gene Expression. *Physiol. Rev.*, 81, 1269-1304.
- ARMSTRONG, M. B. & TOWLE, H. C. 2001. Polyunsaturated fatty acids stimulate hepatic UCP-2 expression via a PPARalpha-mediated pathway. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 281, E1197-204.
- ASCHERIO, A. 2002. Epidemiologic studies on dietary fats and coronary heart disease. *Am J Med*, 113 Suppl 9B, 9S-12S.
- AUGUSTIN, R. 2010. The protein family of glucose transport facilitators: It's not only about glucose after all. *IUBMB Life*, 62, 315-33.
- AVELAR, E., CLOWARD, T. V., WALKER, J. M., FARNEY, R. J., STRONG, M., PENDLETON, R. C., SEGERSON, N., ADAMS, T. D., GRESS, R. E., HUNT, S. C. & LITWIN, S. E. 2007. Left ventricular hypertrophy in severe obesity: interactions among blood pressure, nocturnal hypoxemia, and body mass. *Hypertension*, 49, 34-9.
- AXELSEN, L. N., LADEMANN, J. B., PETERSEN, J. S., HOLSTEIN-RATHLOU, N.-H., PLOUG, T., PRATS, C., PEDERSEN, H. D. & KJØLBYE, A. L. 2010. Cardiac and metabolic changes in long-term high fructose-fat fed rats with severe obesity and extensive intramyocardial lipid accumulation. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 298, R1560-R1570.
- BAER, D. J., JUDD, J. T., CLEVIDENCE, B. A. & TRACY, R. P. 2004. Dietary fatty acids affect plasma markers of inflammation in healthy men fed controlled diets: a randomized crossover study. Am J Clin Nutr, 79, 969-73.
- BAIRRAS, C., MAURIEGE, P., BUKOWIECKI, L. & ATGIE, C. 2007. Regulation of lypolysis in white adipose tissues of lean and obese Zucker rats. *J Physiol Biochem*, 63, 287-96.
- BAKER, S. K., MCCULLAGH, K. J. & BONEN, A. 1998. Training intensity-dependent and tissuespecific increases in lactate uptake and MCT-1 in heart and muscle. *J Appl Physiol*, 84, 987-94.
- BAKERMANS, A. J., GERAEDTS, T. R., VAN WEEGHEL, M., DENIS, S., FERRAZ, M. J., AERTS, J. M.
   F. G., ATEN, J., NICOLAY, K., HOUTEN, S. M. & PROMPERS, J. J. 2011. Fasting-Induced Myocardial Lipid Accumulation in Long-Chain Acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Knock-Out Mice Is Accompanied by Impaired Left Ventricular Function. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Imaging*.
- BALDASSARRE, D., AMATO, M., ELIGINI, S., BARBIERI, S. S., MUSSONI, L., FRIGERIO, B.,
   KOZAKOVA, M., TREMOLI, E., SIRTORI, C. R. & COLLI, S. 2006. Effect of n-3 fatty acids on carotid atherosclerosis and haemostasis in patients with combined hyperlipoproteinemia: a double-blind pilot study in primary prevention. *Ann Med*, 38, 367-75.

- BALLAL, K., WILSON, C., HARMANCEY, R. & TAEGTMEYER, H. 2010. Obesogenic high fat western diet induces oxidative stress and apoptosis in rat heart. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 344, 221-230.
- BARANOWSKI, M., BLACHNIO, A., ZABIELSKI, P. & GORSKI, J. 2007. PPARalpha agonist induces the accumulation of ceramide in the heart of rats fed high-fat diet. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 58, 57-72.
- BARGER, P. M., BRANDT, J. M., LEONE, T. C., WEINHEIMER, C. J. & KELLY, D. P. 2000. Deactivation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha during cardiac hypertrophic growth. J Clin Invest, 105, 1723-30.
- BAROUCH, L. A., BERKOWITZ, D. E., HARRISON, R. W., O'DONNELL, C. P. & HARE, J. M. 2003. Disruption of Leptin Signaling Contributes to Cardiac Hypertrophy Independently of Body Weight in Mice. *Circulation*, 108, 754-759.
- BARRICK, C. J., ROJAS, M., SCHOONHOVEN, R., SMYTH, S. S. & THREADGILL, D. W. 2007. Cardiac response to pressure overload in 129S1/SvImJ and C57BL/6J mice: temporaland background-dependent development of concentric left ventricular hypertrophy. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 292, H2119-H2130.
- BELKE, D. D., BETUING, S., TUTTLE, M. J., GRAVELEAU, C., YOUNG, M. E., PHAM, M., ZHANG, D., COOKSEY, R. C., MCCLAIN, D. A., LITWIN, S. E., TAEGTMEYER, H., SEVERSON, D., KAHN, C. R. & ABEL, E. D. 2002. Insulin signaling coordinately regulates cardiac size, metabolism, and contractile protein isoform expression. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 109, 629-639.
- BELKE, D. D., LARSEN, T. S., GIBBS, E. M. & SEVERSON, D. L. 2000. Altered metabolism causes cardiac dysfunction in perfused hearts from diabetic (db/db) mice. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 279, E1104-E1113.
- BELKE, D. D., SWANSON, E. A. & DILLMANN, W. H. 2004. Decreased Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Activity and Contractility in Diabetic db/db Mouse Heart. *Diabetes*, 53, 3201-3208.
- BELL, R. M., MOCANU, M. M. & YELLON, D. M. 2011. Retrograde heart perfusion: The Langendorff technique of isolated heart perfusion. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 50, 940-950.
- BENDER, D. A. 2008. Introduction to Nutrition and Metabolism, 4th Edition, Boca Raton, CRC Press.
- BERG, A. H., COMBS, T. P. & SCHERER, P. E. 2002. ACRP30/adiponectin: an adipokine regulating glucose and lipid metabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 13, 84-9.
- BERGMAN, R. N., KIM, S. P., CATALANO, K. J., HSU, I. R., CHIU, J. D., KABIR, M., HUCKING, K. & ADER, M. 2006. Why Visceral Fat is Bad: Mechanisms of the Metabolic Syndrome. *Obesity*, 14, 16S-19S.
- BERRY, E., EISENBERG, S., HARATZ, D., FRIEDLANDER, Y., NORMAN, Y., KAUFMANN, N. & STEIN,
   Y. 1991. Effects of diets rich in monounsaturated fatty acids on plasma lipoproteins-- the Jerusalem Nutrition Study: high MUFAs vs high PUFAs. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 53, 899-907.
- BERRY, J. M., NASEEM, R. H., ROTHERMEL, B. A. & HILL, J. A. 2007. Models of cardiac hypertrophy and transition to heart failure. *Drug Discovery Today: Disease Models*, 4, 197-206.
- BERTHIAUME, J. M., BRAY, M. S., MCELFRESH, T. A., CHEN, X., AZAM, S., YOUNG, M. E., HOIT, B. D. & CHANDLER, M. P. 2010. The myocardial contractile response to physiological stress improves with high saturated fat feeding in heart failure. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 299, H410-H421.
- BIELAWSKA, A. E., SHAPIRO, J. P., JIANG, L., MELKONYAN, H. S., PIOT, C., WOLFE, C. L., TOMEI, L. D., HANNUN, Y. A. & UMANSKY, S. R. 1997. Ceramide is involved in triggering of cardiomyocyte apoptosis induced by ischemia and reperfusion. *Am J Pathol*, 151, 1257-63.

- BINAS, B., DANNEBERG, H., MCWHIR, J., MULLINS, L. & CLARK, A. J. 1999. Requirement for the heart-type fatty acid binding protein in cardiac fatty acid utilization. *FASEB J*, 13, 805-12.
- BIRBES, H., EL BAWAB, S., HANNUN, Y. A. & OBEID, L. M. 2001. Selective hydrolysis of a mitochondrial pool of sphingomyelin induces apoptosis. *FASEB J*, 15, 2669-79.
- BISHOP, S. P. & ALTSCHULD, R. A. 1970. Increased glycolytic metabolism in cardiac hypertrophy and congestive failure. *Am J Physiol*, 218, 153-9.
- BLIGH, E. G. & DYER, W. J. 1959. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. *Can J Biochem Physiol*, 37, 911-7.
- BOATENG, S., SEYMOUR, A. M., DUNN, M., YACOUB, M. & BOHELER, K. 1997. Inhibition of endogenous cardiac phosphatase activity and measurement of sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium uptake: a possible role of phospholamban phosphorylation in the hypertrophied myocardium. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 239, 701-5.
- BONANOME, A., PAGNAN, A., BIFFANTI, S., OPPORTUNO, A., SORGATO, F., DORELLA, M., MAIORINO, M. & URSINI, F. 1992. Effect of dietary monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids on the susceptibility of plasma low density lipoproteins to oxidative modification. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 12, 529-533.
- BONEN, A., LUIKEN, J. J., ARUMUGAM, Y., GLATZ, J. F. & TANDON, N. N. 2000. Acute regulation of fatty acid uptake involves the cellular redistribution of fatty acid translocase. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 14501-8.
- BORDONI, A., ASTOLFI, A., MORANDI, L., PESSION, A., DANESI, F., DI NUNZIO, M., FRANZONI,
   M., BIAGI, P. & PESSION, A. 2007. N 3 PUFAs modulate global gene expression profile in cultured rat cardiomyocytes. Implications in cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure.
   FEBS Letters, 581, 923-929.
- BOUCHARD-THOMASSIN, A.-A., LACHANCE, D., DROLET, M.-C., COUET, J. & ARSENAULT, M. 2011. A high-fructose diet worsens eccentric left ventricular hypertrophy in experimental volume overload. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 300, H125-H134.
- BRADSHAW, A. D., BAICU, C. F., RENTZ, T. J., VAN LAER, A. O., BOGGS, J., LACY, J. M. & ZILE, M.
   R. 2009. Pressure overload-induced alterations in fibrillar collagen content and myocardial diastolic function: role of secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine (SPARC) in post-synthetic procollagen processing. *Circulation*, 119, 269-80.
- BRANDT, J. M., DJOUADI, F. & KELLY, D. P. 1998. Fatty acids activate transcription of the muscle carnitine palmitoyltransferase I gene in cardiac myocytes via the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 23786-92.
- BRENNAN, C. L., HOENIG, M. & FERGUSON, D. C. 2004. GLUT4 but not GLUT1 expression decreases early in the development of feline obesity. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology*, 26, 291-301.
- BROWN, J. M., SHELNESS, G. S. & RUDEL, L. L. 2007. Monounsaturated fatty acids and atherosclerosis: opposing views from epidemiology and experimental animal models. *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, 9, 494-500.
- BUCHANAN, J., MAZUMDER, P. K., HU, P., CHAKRABARTI, G., ROBERTS, M. W., YUN, U. J., COOKSEY, R. C., LITWIN, S. E. & ABEL, E. D. 2005. Reduced Cardiac Efficiency and Altered Substrate Metabolism Precedes the Onset of Hyperglycemia and Contractile Dysfunction in Two Mouse Models of Insulin Resistance and Obesity. *Endocrinology*, 146, 5341-5349.
- BUETTNER, R., PARHOFER, K. G., WOENCKHAUS, M., WREDE, C. E., KUNZ-SCHUGHART, L. A., SCHÖLMERICH, J. & BOLLHEIMER, L. C. 2006. Defining high-fat-diet rat models: metabolic and molecular effects of different fat types. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, 36, 485-501.
- BUGIANESI, E., GASTALDELLI, A., VANNI, E., GAMBINO, R., CASSADER, M., BALDI, S., PONTI, V., PAGANO, G., FERRANNINI, E. & RIZZETTO, M. 2005. Insulin resistance in non-diabetic

patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: sites and mechanisms. *Diabetologia*, 48, 634-642.

- CAPRIO, S., TAMBORLANE, W. V., SILVER, D., ROBINSON, C., LEIBEL, R., MCCARTHY, S., GROZMAN, A., BELOUS, A., MAGGS, D. & SHERWIN, R. S. 1996. Hyperleptinemia: an early sign of juvenile obesity. Relations to body fat depots and insulin concentrations. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 271, E626-E630.
- CARABELLO, B. A. 2006. Aortic Stenosis: From Pressure Overload to Heart Failure. *Heart Failure Clinics*, 2, 435-442.
- CARROLL, J. F., DWYER, T. M., GRADY, A. W., REINHART, G. A., MONTANI, J. P., COCKRELL, K., MEYDRECH, E. F. & MIZELLE, H. L. 1996. Hypertension, cardiac hypertrophy, and neurohumoral activity in a new animal model of obesity. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 271, H373-H378.
- CARROLL, J. F., SUMMERS, R. L., DZIELAK, D. J., COCKRELL, K., MONTANI, J.-P. & MIZELLE, H. L. 1999. Diastolic Compliance Is Reduced in Obese Rabbits. *Hypertension*, 33, 811-815.
- CASPARI, P. G., NEWCOMB, M., GIBSON, K. & HARRIS, P. 1977. Collagen in the normal and hypertrophied human ventricle. *Cardiovascular Research*, 11, 554-558.
- CAUGHEY, G., MANTZIORIS, E., GIBSON, R., CLELAND, L. & JAMES, M. 1996. The effect on human tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 1 beta production of diets enriched in n-3 fatty acids from vegetable oil or fish oil. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 63, 116-122.
- CHAKKO, S., MAYOR, M., ALLISON, M. D., KESSLER, K. M., MATERSON, B. J. & MYERBURG, R. J. 1991. Abnormal left ventricular diastolic filling in eccentric left ventricular hypertrophy of obesity. *The American journal of cardiology*, 68, 95-98.
- CHALKLEY, S. M., HETTIARACHCHI, M., CHISHOLM, D. J. & KRAEGEN, E. W. 1998. Five-hour fatty acid elevation increases muscle lipids and impairs glycogen synthesis in the rat. *Metabolism*, 47, 1121-1126.
- CHALKLEY, S. M., HETTIARACHCHI, M., CHISHOLM, D. J. & KRAEGEN, E. W. 2002. Long-term high-fat feeding leads to severe insulin resistance but not diabetes in Wistar rats. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 282, E1231-8.
- CHANG, C. L., SEO, T., MATSUZAKI, M., WORGALL, T. S. & DECKELBAUM, R. J. 2009. n-3 Fatty Acids Reduce Arterial LDL-Cholesterol Delivery and Arterial Lipoprotein Lipase Levels and Lipase Distribution. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology,* 29, 555-561.
- CHATHAM, J. C., DES ROSIERS, C. & FORDER, J. R. 2001. Evidence of separate pathways for lactate uptake and release by the perfused rat heart. *American Journal of Physiology* -*Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 281, E794-E802.
- CHATHAM, J. C., GAO, Z.-P. & FORDER, J. R. 1999. Impact of 1 wk of diabetes on the regulation of myocardial carbohydrate and fatty acid oxidation. *American Journal of Physiology* -*Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 277, E342-E351.
- CHATHAM, J. C. & MARCHASE, R. B. 2010. The role of protein O-linked β-N-acetylglucosamine in mediating cardiac stress responses. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects*, 1800, 57-66.
- CHENG, L., DING, G., QIN, Q., HUANG, Y., LEWIS, W., HE, N., EVANS, R. M., SCHNEIDER, M. D., BRAKO, F. A., XIAO, Y., CHEN, Y. E. & YANG, Q. 2004. Cardiomyocyte-restricted peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-[delta] deletion perturbs myocardial fatty acid oxidation and leads to cardiomyopathy. *Nat Med*, 10, 1245-1250.
- CHESS, D. J., KHAIRALLAH, R. J., O'SHEA, K. M., XU, W. & STANLEY, W. C. 2009. A high-fat diet increases adiposity but maintains mitochondrial oxidative enzymes without affecting development of heart failure with pressure overload. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 297, H1585-93.
- CHESS, D. J., LEI, B., HOIT, B. D., AZIMZADEH, A. M. & STANLEY, W. C. 2007. Deleterious effects of sugar and protective effects of starch on cardiac remodeling, contractile

dysfunction, and mortality in response to pressure overload. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 293, H1853-1860.

- CHESS, D. J., LEI, B., HOIT, B. D., AZIMZADEH, A. M. & STANLEY, W. C. 2008. Effects of a high saturated fat diet on cardiac hypertrophy and dysfunction in response to pressure overload. *J Card Fail*, 14, 82-8.
- CHESS, D. J. & STANLEY, W. C. 2008. Role of diet and fuel overabundance in the development and progression of heart failure. *Cardiovascular Research*, 79, 269-278.
- CHICCO, A. J., SPARAGNA, G. C., MCCUNE, S. A., JOHNSON, C. A., MURPHY, R. C., BOLDEN, D. A., REES, M. L., GARDNER, R. T. & MOORE, R. L. 2008. Linoleate-Rich High-Fat Diet Decreases Mortality in Hypertensive Heart Failure Rats Compared With Lard and Low-Fat Diets. *Hypertension*, 52, 549-555.
- CHRISTOFFERSEN, C., BOLLANO, E., LINDEGAARD, M. L. S., BARTELS, E. D., GOETZE, J. P., ANDERSEN, C. B. & NIELSEN, L. B. 2003. Cardiac Lipid Accumulation Associated with Diastolic Dysfunction in Obese Mice. *Endocrinology*, 144, 3483-3490.
- CNOP, M., HAVEL, P. J., UTZSCHNEIDER, K. M., CARR, D. B., SINHA, M. K., BOYKO, E. J., RETZLAFF, B. M., KNOPP, R. H., BRUNZELL, J. D. & KAHN, S. E. 2003. Relationship of adiponectin to body fat distribution, insulin sensitivity and plasma lipoproteins: evidence for independent roles of age and sex. *Diabetologia*, 46, 459-69.
- COATE, K. C., SCOTT, M., FARMER, B., MOORE, M. C., SMITH, M., ROOP, J., NEAL, D. W., WILLIAMS, P. & CHERRINGTON, A. D. 2010. Chronic consumption of a high-fat/highfructose diet renders the liver incapable of net hepatic glucose uptake. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 299, E887-E898.
- COBURN, C. T., KNAPP, F. F., FEBBRAIO, M., BEETS, A. L., SILVERSTEIN, R. L. & ABUMRAD, N. A. 2000. Defective Uptake and Utilization of Long Chain Fatty Acids in Muscle and Adipose Tissues of CD36 Knockout Mice. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275, 32523-32529.
- COLE, M., MURRAY, A., COCHLIN, L., HEATHER, L., MCALEESE, S., KNIGHT, N., SUTTON, E., JAMIL, A., PARASSOL, N. & CLARKE, K. 2011. A high fat diet increases mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation and uncoupling to decrease efficiency in rat heart. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 106, 447-457.
- COLSCH, B., AFONSO, C., POPA, I., PORTOUKALIAN, J., FOURNIER, F., TABET, J.-C. & BAUMANN, N. 2004. Characterization of the ceramide moieties of sphingoglycolipids from mouse brain by ESI-MS/MS. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 45, 281-286.
- COORT, S. L. M., HASSELBAINK, D. M., KOONEN, D. P. Y., WILLEMS, J., COUMANS, W. A., CHABOWSKI, A., VAN DER VUSSE, G. J., BONEN, A., GLATZ, J. F. C. & LUIKEN, J. J. F. P.
   2004. Enhanced Sarcolemmal FAT/CD36 Content and Triacylglycerol Storage in Cardiac Myocytes From Obese Zucker Rats. *Diabetes*, 53, 1655-1663.
- COX, K. B., LIU, J., TIAN, L., BARNES, S., YANG, Q. & WOOD, P. A. 2009. Cardiac hypertrophy in mice with long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase or very long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency. *Lab Invest*, 89, 1348-1354.
- CRESCIMANNO, M., ARMATA, M. G., RAUSA, L., GUELI, M. C., NICOTRA, C. & D'ALESSANDRO, N. 1989. Cardiac Peroxisomal Enzymes and Starvation. *Free Radical Research*, **7**, 67-72.
- DÄMMRICH, J. & PFEIFER, U. 1983. Cardiac hypertrophy in rats after supravalvular aortic constriction. *Virchows Archiv B Cell Pathology Zell-pathologie*, 43, 265-286.
- DATTA, S. R., DUDEK, H., TAO, X., MASTERS, S., FU, H., GOTOH, Y. & GREENBERG, M. E. 1997. Akt Phosphorylation of BAD Couples Survival Signals to the Cell-Intrinsic Death Machinery. *Cell*, 91, 231-241.
- DE CATERINA, R., LIAO, J. K. & LIBBY, P. 2000. Fatty acid modulation of endothelial activation. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **71**, 213S-223S.
- DE ROOS, N. M., BOTS, M. L. & KATAN, M. B. 2001. Replacement of dietary saturated fatty acids by trans fatty acids lowers serum HDL cholesterol and impairs endothelial function in healthy men and women. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 21, 1233-7.

- DE VRIES, J. E., VORK, M. M., ROEMEN, T. H., DE JONG, Y. F., CLEUTJENS, J. P., VAN DER VUSSE, G. J. & VAN BILSEN, M. 1997. Saturated but not mono-unsaturated fatty acids induce apoptotic cell death in neonatal rat ventricular myocytes. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 38, 1384-94.
- DEGENS, H., DE BROUWER, K., GILDE, A., LINDHOUT, M., WILLEMSEN, P., JANSSEN, B., VAN DER VUSSE, G. & VAN BILSEN, M. 2006. Cardiac fatty acid metabolism is preserved in the compensated hypertrophic rat heart. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 101, 17-26.
- DENG, J.-Y., HUANG, J.-P., LU, L.-S. & HUNG, L.-M. 2007. Impairment of cardiac insulin signaling and myocardial contractile performance in high-cholesterol/fructose-fed rats. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 293, H978-H987.
- DENTON, R. M., RANDLE, P. J. & MARTIN, B. R. 1972. Stimulation by calcium ions of pyruvate dehydrogenase phosphate phosphatase. *Biochem J*, 128, 161-3.
- DEPRE, C., RIDER, M. H., VEITCH, K. & HUE, L. 1993. Role of fructose 2,6-bisphosphate in the control of heart glycolysis. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 13274-9.
- DEPRE, C., SHIPLEY, G. L., CHEN, W., HAN, Q., DOENST, T., MOORE, M. L., STEPKOWSKI, S., DAVIES, P. J. A. & TAEGTMEYER, H. 1998. Unloaded heart in vivo replicates fetal gene expression of cardiac hypertrophy. *Nat Med*, *4*, 1269-1275.
- DEPRE, C., VANOVERSCHELDE, J.-L. J. & TAEGTMEYER, H. 1999. Glucose for the Heart. *Circulation*, 99, 578-588.
- DESPRES, J. P. 1998. The insulin resistance-dyslipidemic syndrome of visceral obesity: effect on patients' risk. *Obes Res,* 6 Suppl 1, 8S-17S.
- DEWAILLY, P., SEZILLE, G., NOUVELOT, A., FRUCHART, J. C. & JAILLARD, J. 1977. Changes in rat heart phospholipid composition after rapeseed oil feeding. *Lipids*, **12**, 301-6.
- DI PAOLA, M., COCCO, T. & LORUSSO, M. 2000. Ceramide Interaction with the Respiratory Chain of Heart Mitochondria<sup>+</sup>. *Biochemistry*, 39, 6660-6668.
- DOENST, T., PYTEL, G., SCHREPPER, A., AMORIM, P., FÄRBER, G., SHINGU, Y., MOHR, F. W. & SCHWARZER, M. 2010. Decreased rates of substrate oxidation ex vivo predict the onset of heart failure and contractile dysfunction in rats with pressure overload. *Cardiovascular Research*, 86, 461-470.
- DOGGRELL, S. A. & BROWN, L. 1998. Rat models of hypertension, cardiac hypertrophy and failure. *Cardiovasc Res*, 39, 89-105.
- DOLL, S., PACCAUD, F., BOVET, P., BURNIER, M. & WIETLISBACH, V. 2002. Body mass index, abdominal adiposity and blood pressure: consistency of their association across developing and developed countries. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 26, 48-57.
- DOMENIGHETTI, A. A., DANES, V. R., CURL, C. L., FAVALORO, J. M., PROIETTO, J. & DELBRIDGE, L. M. 2010. Targeted GLUT-4 deficiency in the heart induces cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and impaired contractility linked with Ca(2+) and proton flux dysregulation. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 48, 663-72.
- DONG, F., ZHANG, X., YANG, X., ESBERG, L. B., YANG, H., ZHANG, Z., CULVER, B. & REN, J. 2006. Impaired cardiac contractile function in ventricular myocytes from leptin-deficient ob/ob obese mice. *Journal of Endocrinology*, **188**, 25-36.
- DREL, V. R., MASHTALIR, N., ILNYTSKA, O., SHIN, J., LI, F., LYZOGUBOV, V. V. & OBROSOVA, I. G. 2006. The Leptin-Deficient (ob/ob) Mouse. *Diabetes*, 55, 3335-3343.
- DUDA, M. K., O'SHEA, K. M., LEI, B., BARROWS, B. R., AZIMZADEH, A. M., MCELFRESH, T. E., HOIT, B. D., KOP, W. J. & STANLEY, W. C. 2008. Low-Carbohydrate/High-Fat Diet Attenuates Pressure Overload–Induced Ventricular Remodeling and Dysfunction. *Journal of Cardiac Failure*, 14, 327-335.
- DUPONT, S., MAIZEL, J., MENTAVERRI, R., CHILLON, J.-M., SIX, I., GIUMMELLY, P., BRAZIER, M., CHOUKROUN, G., TRIBOUILLOY, C., MASSY, Z. A. & SLAMA, M. 2012. The onset of left ventricular diastolic dysfunction in SHR rats is not related to hypertrophy or hypertension. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*.
- DYNTAR, D., EPPENBERGER-EBERHARDT, M., MAEDLER, K., PRUSCHY, M., EPPENBERGER, H. M., SPINAS, G. A. & DONATH, M. Y. 2001. Glucose and Palmitic Acid Induce

Degeneration of Myofibrils and Modulate Apoptosis in Rat Adult Cardiomyocytes. *Diabetes*, **50**, 2105-2113.

- EBERLI, F. R., SAM, F., NGOY, S., APSTEIN, C. S. & COLUCCI, W. S. 1998. Left-Ventricular Structural and Functional Remodeling in the Mouse after Myocardial Infarction: Assessment with the Isovolumetrically-contracting Langendorff Heart. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 30, 1443-1447.
- EL ALAOUI-TALIBI, Z., LANDORMY, S., LOIREAU, A. & MORAVEC, J. 1992. Fatty acid oxidation and mechanical performance of volume-overloaded rat hearts. *Am J Physiol*, 262, H1068-74.
- ESCHER, P., BRAISSANT, O., BASU-MODAK, S., MICHALIK, L., WAHLI, W. & DESVERGNE, B. 2001. Rat PPARs: Quantitative Analysis in Adult Rat Tissues and Regulation in Fasting and Refeeding. *Endocrinology*, 142, 4195-4202.
- ESPOSITO, K., MARFELLA, R., CIOTOLA, M., DI PALO, C., GIUGLIANO, F., GIUGLIANO, G., D'ARMIENTO, M., D'ANDREA, F. & GIUGLIANO, D. 2004. Effect of a Mediterranean-Style Diet on Endothelial Dysfunction and Markers of Vascular Inflammation in the Metabolic Syndrome. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 292, 1440-1446.
- FANG, C. X., DONG, F., THOMAS, D. P., MA, H., HE, L. & REN, J. 2008. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in high-fat diet-induced obesity: role of suppression of forkhead transcription factor and atrophy gene transcription. *American Journal of Physiology -Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 295, H1206-H1215.
- FAUCONNIER, J., ANDERSSON, D. C., ZHANG, S.-J., LANNER, J. T., WIBOM, R., KATZ, A., BRUTON, J. D. & WESTERBLAD, H. 2007. Effects of Palmitate on Ca2+ Handling in Adult Control and ob/ob Cardiomyocytes. *Diabetes*, 56, 1136-1142.
- FERRANDI, C., BALLERIO, R., GAILLARD, P., GIACHETTI, C., CARBONI, S., VITTE, P.-A., GOTTELAND, J.-P. & CIRILLO, R. 2004. Inhibition of c-Jun N-terminal kinase decreases cardiomyocyte apoptosis and infarct size after myocardial ischemia and reperfusion in anaesthetized rats. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 142, 953-960.
- FERRERA, R., BENHABBOUCHE, S., BOPASSA, J., LI, B. & OVIZE, M. 2009. One Hour Reperfusion is Enough to Assess Function and Infarct Size With TTC Staining in Langendorff Rat Model. *Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy*, 23, 327-331.
- FERRUCCI, L., CHERUBINI, A., BANDINELLI, S., BARTALI, B., CORSI, A., LAURETANI, F., MARTIN, A., ANDRES-LACUEVA, C., SENIN, U. & GURALNIK, J. M. 2006. Relationship of Plasma Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids to Circulating Inflammatory Markers. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 91, 439-446.
- FINCK, B. N., HAN, X., COURTOIS, M., AIMOND, F., NERBONNE, J. M., KOVACS, A., GROSS, R. W. & KELLY, D. P. 2003. A critical role for PPARα-mediated lipotoxicity in the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy: Modulation by dietary fat content. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100, 1226-1231.
- FINCK, B. N., LEHMAN, J. J., LEONE, T. C., WELCH, M. J., BENNETT, M. J., KOVACS, A., HAN, X., GROSS, R. W., KOZAK, R., LOPASCHUK, G. D. & KELLY, D. P. 2002. The cardiac phenotype induced by PPARα overexpression mimics that caused by diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 109, 121-130.
- FOROUHI, N. G., JENKINSON, G., THOMAS, E. L., MULLICK, S., MIERISOVA, S., BHONSLE, U., MCKEIGUE, P. M. & BELL, J. D. 1999. Relation of triglyceride stores in skeletal muscle cells to central obesity and insulin sensitivity in European and South Asian men. *Diabetologia*, 42, 932-5.
- FRAGASSO, G., PALLOSHI, A., PUCCETTI, P., SILIPIGNI, C., ROSSODIVITA, A., PALA, M., CALORI, G., ALFIERI, O. & MARGONATO, A. 2006. A Randomized Clinical Trial of Trimetazidine, a Partial Free Fatty Acid Oxidation Inhibitor, in Patients With Heart Failure. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 48, 992-998.
- FRAGASSO, G., SALERNO, A., LATTUADA, G., CUKO, A., CALORI, G., SCOLLO, A., RAGOGNA, F., ARIOLI, F., BASSANELLI, G., SPOLADORE, R., LUZI, L., MARGONATO, A. & PERSEGHIN, G.

2011. Effect of partial inhibition of fatty acid oxidation by trimetazidine on whole body energy metabolism in patients with chronic heart failure. *Heart*, **97**, 1495-1500.

- FREDERICH, R. C., HAMANN, A., ANDERSON, S., LOLLMANN, B., LOWELL, B. B. & FLIER, J. S. 1995. Leptin levels reflect body lipid content in mice: Evidence for diet-induced resistance to leptin action. *Nat Med*, 1, 1311-1314.
- FREDERSDORF, S., THUMANN, C., ULUCAN, C., GRIESE, D. P., LUCHNER, A., RIEGGER, G. A., KROMER, E. P. & WEIL, J. 2004. Myocardial hypertrophy and enhanced left ventricular contractility in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. *Cardiovasc Pathol*, 13, 11-9.
- FRIEDMAN, J. M. 2011. Leptin and the regulation of body weight. *Keio J Med*, 60, 1-9.
- FUENTES, F., LOPEZ-MIRANDA, J., SANCHEZ, E., SANCHEZ, F., PAEZ, J., PAZ-ROJAS, E., MARIN, C., GOMEZ, P., JIMENEZ-PEREPEREZ, J., ORDOVAS, J. M. & PEREZ-JIMENEZ, F. 2001. Mediterranean and low-fat diets improve endothelial function in hypercholesterolemic men. Ann Intern Med, 134, 1115-9.
- FUJITA, K., MAEDA, N., SONODA, M., OHASHI, K., HIBUSE, T., NISHIZAWA, H., NISHIDA, M., HIUGE, A., KURATA, A., KIHARA, S., SHIMOMURA, I. & FUNAHASHI, T. 2008.
   Adiponectin Protects Against Angiotensin II-Induced Cardiac Fibrosis Through Activation of PPAR-{alpha}. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 28, 863-870.
- FUKUCHI, S., HAMAGUCHI, K., SEIKE, M., HIMENO, K., SAKATA, T. & YOSHIMATSU, H. 2004. Role of fatty acid composition in the development of metabolic disorders in sucroseinduced obese rats. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*, 229, 486-93.
- FUNG, T. T., REXRODE, K. M., MANTZOROS, C. S., MANSON, J. E., WILLETT, W. C. & HU, F. B. 2009. Mediterranean diet and incidence of and mortality from coronary heart disease and stroke in women. *Circulation*, 119, 1093-100.
- GABRIELY, I., MA, X. H., YANG, X. M., ATZMON, G., RAJALA, M. W., BERG, A. H., SCHERER, P., ROSSETTI, L. & BARZILAI, N. 2002. Removal of Visceral Fat Prevents Insulin Resistance and Glucose Intolerance of Aging. *Diabetes*, 51, 2951-2958.
- GALAN, X., LLOBERA, M. & RAMIREZ, I. 1994. Lipoprotein lipase and hepatic lipase in Wistar and Sprague-Dawley rat tissues. Differences in the effects of gender and fasting. *Lipids*, 29, 333-6.
- GALVAO, T. F., BROWN, B. H., HECKER, P. A., O'CONNELL, K. A., O'SHEA, K. M., SABBAH, H. N., RASTOGI, S., DANEAULT, C., DES ROSIERS, C. & STANLEY, W. C. 2012. High intake of saturated fat, but not polyunsaturated fat, improves survival in heart failure despite persistent mitochondrial defects. *Cardiovascular Research*, 93, 24-32.
- GAMCSIK, M. P., FORDER, J. R., MILLIS, K. K. & MCGOVERN, K. A. 1996. A versatile oxygenator and perfusion system for magnetic resonance studies. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 49, 348-54.
- GARNIER, A., FORTIN, D., DELOMENIE, C., MOMKEN, I., VEKSLER, V. & VENTURA-CLAPIER, R. 2003. Depressed mitochondrial transcription factors and oxidative capacity in rat failing cardiac and skeletal muscles. *J Physiol*, 551, 491-501.
- GARRIDO-SANCHEZ, L., GARCIA-FUENTES, E., ROJO-MARTINEZ, G., CARDONA, F., SORIGUER, F. & TINAHONES, F. J. 2008. Inverse relation between levels of anti-oxidized-LDL antibodies and eicosapentanoic acid (EPA). *Br J Nutr*, 100, 585-9.
- GASTALDELLI, A., MIYAZAKI, Y., PETTITI, M., BUZZIGOLI, E., MAHANKALI, S., FERRANNINI, E. & DEFRONZO, R. A. 2004. Separate Contribution of Diabetes, Total Fat Mass, and Fat Topography to Glucose Production, Gluconeogenesis, and Glycogenolysis. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 89, 3914-3921.
- GHISLA, S. & THORPE, C. 2004. Acyl-CoA dehydrogenases. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 271, 494-508.
- GIBALA, M., YOUNG, M. & TAEGTMEYER, H. 2000. Anaplerosis of the citric acid cycle: role in energy metabolism of heart and skeletal muscle. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, 168, 657-665.
- GILDE, A. J., VAN DER LEE, K. A., WILLEMSEN, P. H., CHINETTI, G., VAN DER LEIJ, F. R., VAN DER VUSSE, G. J., STAELS, B. & VAN BILSEN, M. 2003. Peroxisome proliferator-activated

receptor (PPAR) alpha and PPARbeta/delta, but not PPARgamma, modulate the expression of genes involved in cardiac lipid metabolism. *Circ Res*, 92, 518-24.

- GIUGLIANO, G., NICOLETTI, G., GRELLA, E., GIUGLIANO, F., ESPOSITO, K., SCUDERI, N. & D'ANDREA, F. 2004. Effect of liposuction on insulin resistance and vascular inflammatory markers in obese women. *British Journal of Plastic Surgery*, 57, 190-194.
- GOLDBERG, I. J. 1996. Lipoprotein lipase and lipolysis: central roles in lipoprotein metabolism and atherogenesis. *J Lipid Res*, 37, 693-707.
- GOODPASTER, B. H., THERIAULT, R., WATKINS, S. C. & KELLEY, D. E. 2000. Intramuscular lipid content is increased in obesity and decreased by weight loss. *Metabolism*, 49, 467-472.
- GRANDI, A. M., ZANZI, P., PIANTANIDA, E., GAUDIO, G., BERTOLINI, A., GUASTI, L. & VENCO, A. 2000. Obesity and left ventricular diastolic function: noninvasive study in normotensives and newly diagnosed never-treated hypertensives. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 24, 954-8.
- GRUNDY, S. M. 2008. Metabolic Syndrome Pandemic. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 28, 629-636.
- GUDZ, T. I., TSERNG, K.-Y. & HOPPEL, C. L. 1997. Direct Inhibition of Mitochondrial Respiratory Chain Complex III by Cell-permeable Ceramide. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272, 24154-24158.
- GUENTHER, G. G., PERALTA, E. R., ROSALES, K. R., WONG, S. Y., SISKIND, L. J. & EDINGER, A. L. 2008. Ceramide starves cells to death by downregulating nutrient transporter proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 17402-7.
- GUO, J., QIAN, Y., XI, X., HU, X., ZHU, J. & HAN, X. 2010. Blockage of ceramide metabolism exacerbates palmitate inhibition of pro-insulin gene expression in pancreatic β-cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 338, 283-290.
- GUZZALONI, G., GRUGNI, G., MINOCCI, A., MORO, D. & MORABITO, F. 2000. Liver steatosis in juvenile obesity: correlations with lipid profile, hepatic biochemical parameters and glycemic and insulinemic responses to an oral glucose tolerance test. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 24, 772-6.
- HAJER, G. R., VAN HAEFTEN, T. W. & VISSEREN, F. L. J. 2008. Adipose tissue dysfunction in obesity, diabetes, and vascular diseases. *European Heart Journal*, 29, 2959-2971.
- HALTER, D., NEUMANN, S., VAN DIJK, S. M., WOLTHOORN, J., DE MAZIERE, A. M., VIEIRA, O. V., MATTJUS, P., KLUMPERMAN, J., VAN MEER, G. & SPRONG, H. 2007. Pre- and post-Golgi translocation of glucosylceramide in glycosphingolipid synthesis. *J Cell Biol*, 179, 101-15.
- HANNUN, Y. A. & OBEID, L. M. 2008. Principles of bioactive lipid signalling: lessons from sphingolipids. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 9, 139-150.
- HANSFORD, R. G., HOGUE, B., PROKOPCZUK, A., WASILEWSKA, E. & LEWARTOWSKI, B. 1990. Activation of pyruvate dehydrogenase by electrical stimulation, and low-Na+ perfusion of guinea-pig heart. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1018, 282-6.
- HARMANCEY, R., WILSON, C. R., WRIGHT, N. R. & TAEGTMEYER, H. 2010. Western diet changes cardiac acyl-CoA composition in obese rats: a potential role for hepatic lipogenesis. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 51, 1380-1393.
- HARRIS, M. M., STEVENS, J., THOMAS, N., SCHREINER, P. & FOLSOM, A. R. 2000. Associations of fat distribution and obesity with hypertension in a bi-ethnic population: the ARIC study. Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. *Obes Res*, **8**, 516-24.
- HASSINK, S. G., SHESLOW, D. V., DE LANCEY, E., OPENTANOVA, I., CONSIDINE, R. V. & CARO, J.
   F. 1996. Serum leptin in children with obesity: relationship to gender and development. *Pediatrics*, 98, 201-3.
- HAUTON, D., BENNETT, M. J. & EVANS, R. D. 2001. Utilisation of triacylglycerol and nonesterified fatty acid by the working rat heart: myocardial lipid substrate preference. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1533, 99-109.

- HEALY, D. A., WALLACE, F. A., MILES, E. A., CALDER, P. C. & NEWSHOLM, P. 2000. Effect of lowto-moderate amounts of dietary fish oil on neutrophil lipid composition and function. *Lipids*, 35, 763-8.
- HEATHER, L. C., HOWELL, N. J., EMMANUEL, Y., COLE, M. A., FRENNEAUX, M. P., PAGANO, D. & CLARKE, K. 2011. Changes in Cardiac Substrate Transporters and Metabolic Proteins Mirror the Metabolic Shift in Patients with Aortic Stenosis. *PLoS One*, 6, e26326.
- HEIN, S., ARNON, E., KOSTIN, S., SCHONBURG, M., ELSASSER, A., POLYAKOVA, V., BAUER, E. P., KLOVEKORN, W.-P. & SCHAPER, J. 2003. Progression From Compensated Hypertrophy to Failure in the Pressure-Overloaded Human Heart: Structural Deterioration and Compensatory Mechanisms. *Circulation*, 107, 984-991.
- HEINEKE, J. & MOLKENTIN, J. D. 2006. Regulation of cardiac hypertrophy by intracellular signalling pathways. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 7, 589-600.
- HERNANDEZ, O. M., DISCHER, D. J., BISHOPRIC, N. H. & WEBSTER, K. A. 2000. Rapid activation of neutral sphingomyelinase by hypoxia-reoxygenation of cardiac myocytes. *Circ Res*, 86, 198-204.
- HESS, O., RITTER, M., SCHNEIDER, J., GRIMM, J., TURINA, M. & KRAYENBUEHL, H. 1984. Diastolic stiffness and myocardial structure in aortic valve disease before and after valve replacement. *Circulation*, 69, 855-865.
- HEXEBERG, S., HESSEVIK, I. & HEXEBERG, E. 1995. Intravenous lipid infusion results in myocardial lipid droplet accumulation combined with reduced myocardial performance in heparinized rabbits. *Acta Physiol Scand*, 153, 159-68.
- HIRANO, K., KUWASAKO, T., NAKAGAWA-TOYAMA, Y., JANABI, M., YAMASHITA, S. & MATSUZAWA, Y. 2003. Pathophysiology of human genetic CD36 deficiency. *Trends Cardiovasc Med*, 13, 136-41.
- HOLLOWAY, C. J., COCHLIN, L. E., EMMANUEL, Y., MURRAY, A., CODREANU, I., EDWARDS, L.
   M., SZMIGIELSKI, C., TYLER, D. J., KNIGHT, N. S., SAXBY, B. K., LAMBERT, B.,
   THOMPSON, C., NEUBAUER, S. & CLARKE, K. 2011. A high-fat diet impairs cardiac highenergy phosphate metabolism and cognitive function in healthy human subjects. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 93, 748-755.
- HORWICH, T. B., FONAROW, G. C., HAMILTON, M. A., MACLELLAN, W. R., WOO, M. A. & TILLISCH, J. H. 2001. The relationship between obesity and mortality in patients with heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 38, 789-795.
- HOTAMISLIGIL, G. S. & SPIEGELMAN, B. M. 1994. Tumor necrosis factor alpha: a key component of the obesity-diabetes link. *Diabetes*, 43, 1271-1278.
- HOUBEN, A., ERINGA, E., JONK, A., SERNE, E., SMULDERS, Y. & STEHOUWER, C. 2012. Perivascular Fat and the Microcirculation: Relevance to Insulin Resistance, Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Disease. *Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports*, 6, 80-90.
- HOW, O.-J., AASUM, E., SEVERSON, D. L., CHAN, W. Y. A., ESSOP, M. F. & LARSEN, T. S. 2006. Increased Myocardial Oxygen Consumption Reduces Cardiac Efficiency in Diabetic Mice. *Diabetes*, 55, 466-473.
- HOW, O. J., AASUM, E., KUNNATHU, S., SEVERSON, D. L., MYHRE, E. S. & LARSEN, T. S. 2005. Influence of substrate supply on cardiac efficiency, as measured by pressure-volume analysis in ex vivo mouse hearts. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 288, H2979-85.
- HUBERT, H. B., FEINLEIB, M., MCNAMARA, P. M. & CASTELLI, W. P. 1983. Obesity as an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease: a 26-year follow-up of participants in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*, 67, 968-77.
- HUGGETT, A. S. G. & NIXON, D. A. 1957. Use of Glucose Oxidase, Peroxidase, and O-Dianisidine in Determination of Blood and Urinary Glucose. *The Lancet*, 270, 368-370.
- IACOBELLIS, G., RIBAUDO, M. C., ZAPPATERRENO, A., IANNUCCI, C. V. & LEONETTI, F. 2004. Relation between epicardial adipose tissue and left ventricular mass. *The American journal of cardiology*, 94, 1084-1087.
- ICHIHARA, S., OBATA, K., YAMADA, Y., NAGATA, K., NODA, A., ICHIHARA, G., YAMADA, A., KATO, T., IZAWA, H., MUROHARA, T. & YOKOTA, M. 2006. Attenuation of cardiac

dysfunction by a PPAR-[alpha] agonist is associated with down-regulation of redoxregulated transcription factors. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 41, 318-329.

- IEMITSU, M., MIYAUCHI, T., MAEDA, S., SAKAI, S., KOBAYASHI, T., FUJII, N., MIYAZAKI, H., MATSUDA, M. & YAMAGUCHI, I. 2001. Physiological and pathological cardiac hypertrophy induce different molecular phenotypes in the rat. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 281, R2029-36.
- IEMITSU, M., SHIMOJO, N., MAEDA, S., IRUKAYAMA-TOMOBE, Y., SAKAI, S., OHKUBO, T., TANAKA, Y. & MIYAUCHI, T. 2008. The benefit of medium-chain triglyceride therapy on the cardiac function of SHRs is associated with a reversal of metabolic and signaling alterations. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 295, H136-144.
- ILERCIL, A., DEVEREUX, R. B., ROMAN, M. J., PARANICAS, M., O'GRADY, M. J., LEE, E. T., WELTY, T. K., FABSITZ, R. R. & HOWARD, B. V. 2002. Associations of Insulin Levels With Left Ventricular Structure and Function in American Indians. *Diabetes*, 51, 1543-1547.
- INDULEKHA, K., ANJANA, R. M., SURENDAR, J. & MOHAN, V. 2011. Association of visceral and subcutaneous fat with glucose intolerance, insulin resistance, adipocytokines and inflammatory markers in Asian Indians (CURES-113). *Clin Biochem*, 44, 281-7.
- INGWALL, J. S. & WEISS, R. G. 2004. Is the Failing Heart Energy Starved? *Circulation Research*, 95, 135-145.
- IOANNIS, R. 2000. Three-year survival of patients with heart failure caused by dilated cardiomyopathy and L-carnitine administration. *American Heart Journal*, 139, s120-s123.
- IRUKAYAMA-TOMOBE, Y., MIYAUCHI, T., SAKAI, S., KASUYA, Y., OGATA, T., TAKANASHI, M., IEMITSU, M., SUDO, T., GOTO, K. & YAMAGUCHI, I. 2004. Endothelin-1–Induced Cardiac Hypertrophy Is Inhibited by Activation of Peroxisome Proliferator–Activated Receptor-α Partly Via Blockade of c-Jun NH2-Terminal Kinase Pathway. *Circulation*, 109, 904-910.
- ITOH, Y., KAWAMATA, Y., HARADA, M., KOBAYASHI, M., FUJII, R., FUKUSUMI, S., OGI, K., HOSOYA, M., TANAKA, Y., UEJIMA, H., TANAKA, H., MARUYAMA, M., SATOH, R., OKUBO, S., KIZAWA, H., KOMATSU, H., MATSUMURA, F., NOGUCHI, Y., SHINOHARA, T., HINUMA, S., FUJISAWA, Y. & FUJINO, M. 2003. Free fatty acids regulate insulin secretion from pancreatic beta cells through GPR40. *Nature*, 422, 173-6.
- JAKOBSEN, M. U., O'REILLY, E. J., HEITMANN, B. L., PEREIRA, M. A., BÄLTER, K., FRASER, G. E., GOLDBOURT, U., HALLMANS, G., KNEKT, P., LIU, S., PIETINEN, P., SPIEGELMAN, D., STEVENS, J., VIRTAMO, J., WILLETT, W. C. & ASCHERIO, A. 2009. Major types of dietary fat and risk of coronary heart disease: a pooled analysis of 11 cohort studies. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 89, 1425-1432.
- JECKEL, K. M., MILLER, K. E., CHICCO, A. J., CHAPMAN, P. L., MULLIGAN, C. M., FALCONE, P. H., MILLER, M. L., PAGLIASSOTTI, M. J. & FRYE, M. A. 2011. The role of dietary fatty acids in predicting myocardial structure in fat-fed rats. *Lipids in health and disease*, 10, 92.
- JURGENS, H., HAASS, W., CASTANEDA, T. R., SCHURMANN, A., KOEBNICK, C., DOMBROWSKI, F., OTTO, B., NAWROCKI, A. R., SCHERER, P. E., SPRANGER, J., RISTOW, M., JOOST, H.-G., HAVEL, P. J. & TSCHOP, M. H. 2005. Consuming Fructose-sweetened Beverages Increases Body Adiposity in Mice. *Obesity Research*, 13, 1146-1156.
- JURICA, M. S., MESECAR, A., HEATH, P. J., SHI, W., NOWAK, T. & STODDARD, B. L. 1998. The allosteric regulation of pyruvate kinase by fructose-1,6-bisphosphate. *Structure*, 6, 195-210.
- KAHN, B. B. & PEDERSEN, O. 1993. Suppression of GLUT4 expression in skeletal muscle of rats that are obese from high fat feeding but not from high carbohydrate feeding or genetic obesity. *Endocrinology*, 132, 13-22.
- KALSI, K. K., SMOLENSKI, R. T., PRITCHARD, R. D., KHAGHANI, A., SEYMOUR, A. M. & YACOUB, M. H. 1999. Energetics and function of the failing human heart with dilated or hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 29, 469-77.

- KANG, P. M., YUE, P., LIU, Z., TARNAVSKI, O., BODYAK, N. & IZUMO, S. 2004. Alterations in apoptosis regulatory factors during hypertrophy and heart failure. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 287, H72-80.
- KANKAANPÄÄ, M., LEHTO, H. R., PARKKA, J. P., KOMU, M., VILJANEN, A., FERRANNINI, E., KNUUTI, J., NUUTILA, P., PARKKOLA, R. & IOZZO, P. 2006. Myocardial triglyceride content and epicardial fat mass in human obesity: relationship to left ventricular function and serum free fatty acid levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 91, 4689-95.
- KARASON, K., WALLENTIN, I., LARSSON, B. & SJOSTROM, L. 1998. Effects of obesity and weight loss on cardiac function and valvular performance. *Obesity research*, 6, 422-9.
- KATO, T., NIIZUMA, S., INUZUKA, Y., KAWASHIMA, T., OKUDA, J., TAMAKI, Y., IWANAGA, Y., NARAZAKI, M., MATSUDA, T., SOGA, T., KITA, T., KIMURA, T. & SHIOI, T. 2010. Analysis of Metabolic Remodeling in Compensated Left Ventricular Hypertrophy and Heart Failure. *Circ Heart Fail*, 3, 420-430.
- KATZ, A. M. 2011. *Physiology of the Heart, Philadelphia, Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.*
- KELLEY, D., TAYLOR, P., NELSON, G. & MACKEY, B. 1998. Arachidonic acid supplementation enhances synthesis of eicosanoids without suppressing immune functions in young healthy men. *Lipids*, 33, 125-130.
- KELLEY, D. E., THAETE, F. L., TROOST, F., HUWE, T. & GOODPASTER, B. H. 2000. Subdivisions of subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissue and insulin resistance. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 278, E941-E948.
- KENCHAIAH, S., EVANS, J. C., LEVY, D., WILSON, P. W. F., BENJAMIN, E. J., LARSON, M. G., KANNEL, W. B. & VASAN, R. S. 2002. Obesity and the Risk of Heart Failure. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 347, 305-313.
- KEOGH, J. B., GRIEGER, J. A., NOAKES, M. & CLIFTON, P. M. 2005. Flow-mediated dilatation is impaired by a high-saturated fat diet but not by a high-carbohydrate diet. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 25, 1274-9.
- KIFFMEYER, W. R. & FARRAR, W. W. 1991. Purification and properties of pig heart pyruvate kinase. *J Protein Chem*, 10, 585-91.
- KINSELLA, J., LOKESH, B. & STONE, R. 1990. Dietary n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and amelioration of cardiovascular disease: possible mechanisms. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 52, 1-28.
- KLEAVELAND, J. P., KUSSMAUL, W. G., VINCIGUERRA, T., DITERS, R. & CARABELLO, B. A. 1988. Volume overload hypertrophy in a closed-chest model of mitral regurgitation. *Am J Physiol*, 254, H1034-41.
- KOBAYASHI, K., FORTE, T. M., TANIGUCHI, S., ISHIDA, B. Y., OKA, K. & CHAN, L. 2000. The db/db mouse, a model for diabetic dyslipidemia: Molecular characterization and effects of western diet feeding. *Metabolism*, 49, 22-31.
- KODDE, I. F., VAN DER STOK, J., SMOLENSKI, R. T. & DE JONG, J. W. 2007. Metabolic and genetic regulation of cardiac energy substrate preference. *Comparative Biochemistry* and Physiology - Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology, 146, 26-39.
- KOLWICZ JR, S. C. & TIAN, R. 2009. Metabolic Therapy at the Crossroad: How to Optimize Myocardial Substrate Utilization? *Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine*, 19, 201-207.
- KONG, J. Y. & RABKIN, S. W. 2000. Palmitate-induced apoptosis in cardiomyocytes is mediated through alterations in mitochondria: prevention by cyclosporin A. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1485, 45-55.
- KONG, J. Y. & RABKIN, S. W. 2003. Mechanisms of Palmitate-induced Cardiomyocyte Apoptosis
- Cardiac Remodeling and Failure. In: SINGAL, P. K., DIXON, I. M. C., KIRSHENBAUM, L. A. & DHALLA, N. S. (eds.). Springer US.
- KONIOR, A., KLEMENSKA, E., BRUDEK, M., PODOLECKA, E., CZARNOWSKA, E. & BERĘSEWICZ, A. 2011. Seasonal superoxide overproduction and endothelial activation in guinea-pig heart; seasonal oxidative stress in rats and humans. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 50, 686-694.

- KOS, K., HARTE, A. L., DA SILVA, N. F., TONCHEV, A., CHALDAKOV, G., JAMES, S., SNEAD, D. R., HOGGART, B., O'HARE, J. P., MCTERNAN, P. G. & KUMAR, S. 2007. Adiponectin and resistin in human cerebrospinal fluid and expression of adiponectin receptors in the human hypothalamus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 92, 1129-36.
- KOUTSARI, C. & JENSEN, M. D. 2006. Thematic review series: Patient-Oriented Research. Free fatty acid metabolism in human obesity. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 47, 1643-1650.
- KRIS-ETHERTON, P. M., PEARSON, T. A., WAN, Y., HARGROVE, R. L., MORIARTY, K., FISHELL, V.
   & ETHERTON, T. D. 1999. High-monounsaturated fatty acid diets lower both plasma cholesterol and triacylglycerol concentrations. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 70, 1009-15.

KROGMANN, A., STAIGER, K., HAAS, C., GOMMER, N., PETER, A., HENI, M., MACHICAO, F., HÄRING, H.-U. & STAIGER, H. 2011. Inflammatory response of human coronary artery endothelial cells to saturated long-chain fatty acids. *Microvascular Research*, 81, 52-59.

- KUSMINSKI, C. M., MCTERNAN, P. G., SCHRAW, T., KOS, K., O'HARE, J. P., AHIMA, R., KUMAR, S.
   & SCHERER, P. E. 2007. Adiponectin complexes in human cerebrospinal fluid: distinct complex distribution from serum. *Diabetologia*, 50, 634-42.
- KUSUMOTO, A., ISHIKURA, Y., KAWASHIMA, H., KISO, Y., TAKAI, S. & MIYAZAKI, M. 2007. Effects of arachidonate-enriched triacylglycerol supplementation on serum fatty acids and platelet aggregation in healthy male subjects with a fish diet. *Br J Nutr*, 98, 626-35.
- LEBRASSEUR, N. K., DUHANEY, T.-A. S., DE SILVA, D. S., CUI, L., IP, P. C., JOSEPH, L. & SAM, F. 2007. Effects of Fenofibrate on Cardiac Remodeling in Aldosterone-Induced Hypertension. *Hypertension*, 50, 489-496.
- LEHMAN, J. J., BARGER, P. M., KOVACS, A., SAFFITZ, J. E., MEDEIROS, D. M. & KELLY, D. P. 2000. Peroxisome proliferator–activated receptor γ coactivator-1 promotes cardiac mitochondrial biogenesis. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 106, 847-856.
- LEHMAN, T. C., HALE, D. E., BHALA, A. & THORPE, C. 1990. An acyl-coenzyme a dehydrogenase assay utilizing the ferricenium ion. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 186, 280-284.
- LEI, B., LIONETTI, V., YOUNG, M. E., CHANDLER, M. P., D' AGOSTINO, C., KANG, E., ALTAREJOS, M., MATSUO, K., HINTZE, T. H., STANLEY, W. C. & RECCHIA, F. A. 2004. Paradoxical downregulation of the glucose oxidation pathway despite enhanced flux in severe heart failure. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 36, 567-576.
- LEMIEUX, H., BULTEAU, A. L., FRIGUET, B., TARDIF, J.-C. & BLIER, P. U. 2011. Dietary fatty acids and oxidative stress in the heart mitochondria. *Mitochondrion*, 11, 97-103.
- LEMIEUX, I., PASCOT, A., COUILLARD, C., LAMARCHE, B., TCHERNOF, A., ALMERAS, N., BERGERON, J., GAUDET, D., TREMBLAY, G., PRUD'HOMME, D., NADEAU, A. & DESPRES, J. P. 2000. Hypertriglyceridemic waist: A marker of the atherogenic metabolic triad (hyperinsulinemia; hyperapolipoprotein B; small, dense LDL) in men? *Circulation*, 102, 179-84.
- LENGQVIST, J., MATA DE URQUIZA, A., BERGMAN, A.-C., WILLSON, T. M., SJÖVALL, J., PERLMANN, T. & GRIFFITHS, W. J. 2004. Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Including Docosahexaenoic and Arachidonic Acid Bind to the Retinoid X Receptor α Ligandbinding Domain. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, **3**, 692-703.
- LEONG, H. S., GRIST, M., PARSONS, H., WAMBOLT, R. B., LOPASCHUK, G. D., BROWNSEY, R. & ALLARD, M. F. 2002. Accelerated rates of glycolysis in the hypertrophied heart: are they a methodological artifact? *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 282, E1039-1045.
- LERER-METZGER, M., RIZKALLA, S. W., LUO, J., CHAMP, M., KABIR, M., BRUZZO, F., BORNET, F. & SLAMA, G. 1996. Effects of long-term low-glycaemic index starchy food on plasma glucose and lipid concentrations and adipose tissue cellularity in normal and diabetic rats. *Br J Nutr*, 75, 723-32.
- LEVY, D., GARRISON, R. J., SAVAGE, D. D., KANNEL, W. B. & CASTELLI, W. P. 1990. Prognostic Implications of Echocardiographically Determined Left Ventricular Mass in the Framingham Heart Study. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 322, 1561-1566.
- LIANG, Q., BUENO, O. F., WILKINS, B. J., KUAN, C.-Y., XIA, Y. & MOLKENTIN, J. D. 2003. c-Jun Nterminal kinases (JNK) antagonize cardiac growth through cross-talk with calcineurin-NFAT signaling. *EMBO J*, 22, 5079-5089.
- LINZ, W., WOHLFART, P., BAADER, M., BREITSCHOPF, K., FALK, E., SCHAFER, H.-L., GERL, M., KRAMER, W. & RUTTEN, H. 2009. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-[alpha] (PPAR-[alpha]) agonist, AVE8134, attenuates the progression of heart failure and increases survival in rats. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*, 30, 935-946.
- LISTENBERGER, L. L., ORY, D. S. & SCHAFFER, J. E. 2001. Palmitate-induced Apoptosis Can Occur through a Ceramide-independent Pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276, 14890-14895.
- LISTENBERGER, L. L. & SCHAFFER, J. E. 2002. Mechanisms of lipoapoptosis: implications for human heart disease. *Trends Cardiovasc Med*, 12, 134-8.
- LITWIN, S. E. 2008. Which Measures of Obesity Best Predict Cardiovascular Risk? *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 52, 616-619.
- LITWIN, S. E., KATZ, S. E., WEINBERG, E. O., LORELL, B. H., AURIGEMMA, G. P. & DOUGLAS, P. S. 1995. Serial echocardiographic-Doppler assessment of left ventricular geometry and function in rats with pressure-overload hypertrophy. Chronic angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition attenuates the transition to heart failure. *Circulation*, 91, 2642-54.
- LOPEZ, B., GONZALEZ, A., QUEREJETA, R., LARMAN, M. & DIEZ, J. 2006. Alterations in the Pattern of Collagen Deposition May Contribute to the Deterioration of Systolic Function in Hypertensive Patients With Heart Failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 48, 89-96.
- LU, L., WU, W., YAN, J., LI, X., YU, H. & YU, X. 2009. Adriamycin-induced autophagic cardiomyocyte death plays a pathogenic role in a rat model of heart failure. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 134, 82-90.
- LYDELL, C. P., CHAN, A., WAMBOLT, R. B., SAMBANDAM, N., PARSONS, H., BONDY, G. P., RODRIGUES, B., POPOV, K. M., HARRIS, R. A., BROWNSEY, R. W. & ALLARD, M. F. 2002.
   Pyruvate dehydrogenase and the regulation of glucose oxidation in hypertrophied rat hearts. *Cardiovasc Res*, 53, 841-51.
- MACEYKA, M., PAYNE, S. G., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. 2002. Sphingosine kinase, sphingosine-1-phosphate, and apoptosis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1585, 193-201.
- MAEDA, N., SHIMOMURA, I., KISHIDA, K., NISHIZAWA, H., MATSUDA, M., NAGARETANI, H., FURUYAMA, N., KONDO, H., TAKAHASHI, M., ARITA, Y., KOMURO, R., OUCHI, N., KIHARA, S., TOCHINO, Y., OKUTOMI, K., HORIE, M., TAKEDA, S., AOYAMA, T., FUNAHASHI, T. & MATSUZAWA, Y. 2002. Diet-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking adiponectin/ACRP30. *Nat Med*, 8, 731-7.
- MAEDA, N., TAKAHASHI, M., FUNAHASHI, T., KIHARA, S., NISHIZAWA, H., KISHIDA, K., NAGARETANI, H., MATSUDA, M., KOMURO, R., OUCHI, N., KURIYAMA, H., HOTTA, K., NAKAMURA, T., SHIMOMURA, I. & MATSUZAWA, Y. 2001. PPARgamma ligands increase expression and plasma concentrations of adiponectin, an adipose-derived protein. *Diabetes*, 50, 2094-9.
- MALLOY, C. R., SHERRY, A. D. & JEFFREY, F. M. 1990. Analysis of tricarboxylic acid cycle of the heart using 13C isotope isomers. *Am J Physiol*, 259, H987-95.
- MARCHINGTON, J. M., MATTACKS, C. A. & POND, C. M. 1989. Adipose tissue in the mammalian heart and pericardium: Structure, foetal development and biochemical properties. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Comparative Biochemistry*, 94, 225-232.
- MASCARENO, E., BECKLES, D., DHAR-MASCARENO, M. & SIDDIQUI, M. A. Q. 2009. Enhanced hypertrophy in ob/ob mice due to an impairment in expression of atrial natriuretic peptide. *Vascular Pharmacology*, 51, 198-204.
- MASUO, K., MIKAMI, H., OGIHARA, T. & TUCK, M. L. 2000. Weight Gain-Induced Blood Pressure Elevation. *Hypertension*, 35, 1135-1140.

- MATSUZAWA-NAGATA, N., TAKAMURA, T., ANDO, H., NAKAMURA, S., KURITA, S., MISU, H., OTA, T., YOKOYAMA, M., HONDA, M., MIYAMOTO, K.-I. & KANEKO, S. 2008. Increased oxidative stress precedes the onset of high-fat diet—induced insulin resistance and obesity. *Metabolism*, 57, 1071-1077.
- MATTACKS, C. A. & POND, C. M. 1988. Site-specific and sex differences in the rates of fatty acid/triacylglycerol substrate cycling in adipose, tissue and muscle of sedentary and exercised dwarf hamsters (Phodopus sungorus). *Int J Obes*, **12**, 585-97.
- MAUGER, J. F., LICHTENSTEIN, A. H., AUSMAN, L. M., JALBERT, S. M., JAUHIAINEN, M., EHNHOLM, C. & LAMARCHE, B. 2003. Effect of different forms of dietary hydrogenated fats on LDL particle size. *Am J Clin Nutr,* 78, 370-5.
- MAYER-DAVIS, E. J., MONACO, J. H., HOEN, H. M., CARMICHAEL, S., VITOLINS, M. Z., REWERS, M. J., HAFFNER, S. M., AYAD, M. F., BERGMAN, R. N. & KARTER, A. J. 1997. Dietary fat and insulin sensitivity in a triethnic population: the role of obesity. The Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study (IRAS). *Am J Clin Nutr*, 65, 79-87.
- MAZUMDER, P. K., O'NEILL, B. T., ROBERTS, M. W., BUCHANAN, J., YUN, U. J., COOKSEY, R. C., BOUDINA, S. & ABEL, E. D. 2004. Impaired cardiac efficiency and increased fatty acid oxidation in insulin-resistant ob/ob mouse hearts. *Diabetes*, 53, 2366-74.
- MCGAFFIN, K. R., WITHAM, W. G., YESTER, K. A., ROMANO, L. C., O'DOHERTY, R. M., MCTIERNAN, C. F. & O'DONNELL, C. P. 2011. Cardiac-specific leptin receptor deletion exacerbates ischaemic heart failure in mice. *Cardiovascular Research*, 89, 60-71.
- MCGARRY, J. D., MILLS, S. E., LONG, C. S. & FOSTER, D. W. 1983. Observations on the affinity for carnitine, and malonyl-CoA sensitivity, of carnitine palmitoyltransferase I in animal and human tissues. Demonstration of the presence of malonyl-CoA in non-hepatic tissues of the rat. *Biochem J*, 214, 21-8.
- MENSINK, R. P. & KATAN, M. B. 1992. Effect of dietary fatty acids on serum lipids and lipoproteins. A meta-analysis of 27 trials. *Arterioscler Thromb*, 12, 911-9.
- MENSINK, R. P., ZOCK, P. L., KESTER, A. D. & KATAN, M. B. 2003. Effects of dietary fatty acids and carbohydrates on the ratio of serum total to HDL cholesterol and on serum lipids and apolipoproteins: a meta-analysis of 60 controlled trials. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 77, 1146-1155.
- MERRILL, A. H., JR., SULLARDS, M. C., ALLEGOOD, J. C., KELLY, S. & WANG, E. 2005. Sphingolipidomics: high-throughput, structure-specific, and quantitative analysis of sphingolipids by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Methods*, 36, 207-24.
- MICHAEL, M. D., KULKARNI, R. N., POSTIC, C., PREVIS, S. F., SHULMAN, G. I., MAGNUSON, M. A. & KAHN, C. R. 2000. Loss of Insulin Signaling in Hepatocytes Leads to Severe Insulin Resistance and Progressive Hepatic Dysfunction. *Molecular Cell*, 6, 87-97.
- MILAGRO, F. I., CAMPION, J. & MARTINEZ, J. A. 2006. Weight gain induced by high-fat feeding involves increased liver oxidative stress. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 14, 1118-23.
- MILLER, E. J., RUSSELL, R. R., LI, J. & YOUNG, L. H. 2005a. AMPK A pivotal rheostat in the control of cardiac metabolism. *Drug Discovery Today: Disease Mechanisms*, **2**, 93-100.
- MILLER, T. A., LEBRASSEUR, N. K., COTE, G. M., TRUCILLO, M. P., PIMENTEL, D. R., IDO, Y., RUDERMAN, N. B. & SAWYER, D. B. 2005b. Oleate prevents palmitate-induced cytotoxic stress in cardiac myocytes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 336, 309-315.
- MINHAS, K. M., KHAN, S. A., RAJU, S. V. Y., PHAN, A. C., GONZALEZ, D. R., SKAF, M. W., LEE, K., TEJANI, A. D., SALIARIS, A. P., BAROUCH, L. A., O'DONNELL, C. P., EMALA, C. W., BERKOWITZ, D. E. & HARE, J. M. 2005. Leptin repletion restores depressed βadrenergic contractility in ob/ob mice independently of cardiac hypertrophy. *The Journal of Physiology*, 565, 463-474.
- MINNICH, A., TIAN, N., BYAN, L. & BILDER, G. 2001. A potent PPARα agonist stimulates mitochondrial fatty acid β-oxidation in liver and skeletal muscle. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology And Metabolism,* 280, E270-E279.

- MINOKOSHI, Y., KIM, Y.-B., PERONI, O. D., FRYER, L. G. D., MULLER, C., CARLING, D. & KAHN, B.
   B. 2002. Leptin stimulates fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nature*, 415, 339-343.
- MITRA, M. S., DONTHAMSETTY, S., WHITE, B. & MEHENDALE, H. M. 2008. High fat diet-fed obese rats are highly sensitive to doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 231, 413-422.
- MIYACHI, M., YAZAWA, H., FURUKAWA, M., TSUBOI, K., OHTAKE, M., NISHIZAWA, T.,
   HASHIMOTO, K., YOKOI, T., KOJIMA, T., MURATE, T., YOKOTA, M., MUROHARA, T.,
   KOIKE, Y. & NAGATA, K. 2009. Exercise Training Alters Left Ventricular Geometry and
   Attenuates Heart Failure in Dahl Salt-Sensitive Hypertensive Rats. *Hypertension*, 53, 701-707.
- MIZUTANI, Y., KIHARA, A. & IGARASHI, Y. 2005. Mammalian Lass6 and its related family members regulate synthesis of specific ceramides. *Biochemical Journal*, 390, 263-271.
- MOENS, A. L., TAKIMOTO, E., TOCCHETTI, C. G., CHAKIR, K., BEDJA, D., CORMACI, G., KETNER, E. A., MAJMUDAR, M., GABRIELSON, K., HALUSHKA, M. K., MITCHELL, J. B., BISWAL, S., CHANNON, K. M., WOLIN, M. S., ALP, N. J., PAOLOCCI, N., CHAMPION, H. C. & KASS, D. A. 2008. Reversal of Cardiac Hypertrophy and Fibrosis From Pressure Overload by Tetrahydrobiopterin: Efficacy of Recoupling Nitric Oxide Synthase as a Therapeutic Strategy. *Circulation*, 117, 2626-2636.
- MONETTE, J. S., GÓMEZ, L. A., MOREAU, R. F., BEMER, B. A., TAYLOR, A. W. & HAGEN, T. M. 2010. Characteristics of the rat cardiac sphingolipid pool in two mitochondrial subpopulations. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 398, 272-277.
- MONTESSUIT, C. & THORBURN, A. 1999. Transcriptional Activation of the Glucose Transporter GLUT1 in Ventricular Cardiac Myocytes by Hypertrophic Agonists. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274, 9006-9012.
- MORGAN-HUGHES, J. A., DARVENIZA, P., KAHN, S. N., LANDON, D. N., SHERRATT, R. M., LAND, J. M. & CLARK, J. B. 1977. A mitochondrial myopathy characterized by a deficiency in reducible cytochrome b. *Brain*, 100, 617-40.
- MORGAN, E. E., CHANDLER, M. P., YOUNG, M. E., MCELFRESH, T. A., KUNG, T. A., RENNISON, J.
   H., TSERNG, K.-Y., HOIT, B. D. & STANLEY, W. C. 2006a. Dissociation between gene and protein expression of metabolic enzymes in a rodent model of heart failure. *European Journal of Heart Failure*, *8*, 687-693.
- MORGAN, E. E., RENNISON, J. H., YOUNG, M. E., MCELFRESH, T. A., KUNG, T. A., TSERNG, K.-Y., HOIT, B. D., STANLEY, W. C. & CHANDLER, M. P. 2006b. Effects of chronic activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-α or high-fat feeding in a rat infarct model of heart failure. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 290, H1899-H1904.
- MOTOJIMA, K., PASSILLY, P., PETERS, J. M., GONZALEZ, F. J. & LATRUFFE, N. 1998. Expression of Putative Fatty Acid Transporter Genes Are Regulated by Peroxisome Proliferatoractivated Receptor α and γ Activators in a Tissue- and Inducer-specific Manner. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273, 16710-16714.
- MOVAHED, M. R. & SAITO, Y. 2008. Obesity is associated with left atrial enlargement, E/A reversal and left ventricular hypertrophy. *Exp Clin Cardiol*, 13, 89-91.
- MOYA-CAMARENA, S. Y., HEUVEL, J. P. V., BLANCHARD, S. G., LEESNITZER, L. A. & BELURY, M. A. 1999. Conjugated linoleic acid is a potent naturally occurring ligand and activator of PPAR{alpha}. *J. Lipid Res.*, 40, 1426-1433.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D. 2005. Does alpha-linolenic acid intake reduce the risk of coronary heart disease? A review of the evidence. *Altern Ther Health Med*, **11**, 24-30; quiz 31, 79.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D. & CLARKE, R. 2009. Quantitative effects on cardiovascular risk factors and coronary heart disease risk of replacing partially hydrogenated vegetable oils with other fats and oils. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 63, S22-S33.
- MÜNZBERG, H., BJÖRNHOLM, M., BATES, S. H. & MYERS, M. G., JR. 2005. Leptin receptor action and mechanisms of leptin resistance. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 62, 642-52.

- MUOIO, D. M., MACLEAN, P. S., LANG, D. B., LI, S., HOUMARD, J. A., WAY, J. M., WINEGAR, D. A., CORTON, J. C., DOHM, G. L. & KRAUS, W. E. 2002. Fatty acid homeostasis and induction of lipid regulatory genes in skeletal muscles of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) alpha knock-out mice. Evidence for compensatory regulation by PPAR delta. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 26089-97.
- MURTHY, M. S. & PANDE, S. V. 1987. Malonyl-CoA binding site and the overt carnitine palmitoyltransferase activity reside on the opposite sides of the outer mitochondrial membrane. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 84, 378-82.
- NASCIMBEN, L., INGWALL, J. S., LORELL, B. H., PINZ, I., SCHULTZ, V., TORNHEIM, K. & TIAN, R. 2004. Mechanisms for Increased Glycolysis in the Hypertrophied Rat Heart. *Hypertension*, 44, 662-667.
- NAWATA, T., TAKAHASHI, N., OOIE, T., KANEDA, K., SAIKAWA, T. & SAKATA, T. 2002. Cardioprotection by Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetes and Insulin Against Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury in Rats. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology*, 40, 491-500.
- NEELY, J. R., LIEBERMEISTER, H., BATTERSBY, E. J. & MORGAN, H. E. 1967. Effect of pressure development on oxygen consumption by isolated rat heart. *Am J Physiol*, 212, 804-14.
- NEUBAUER, S. 2007. The failing heart--an engine out of fuel. N Engl J Med, 356, 1140-51.
- NIELSEN, S., GUO, Z., JOHNSON, C. M., HENSRUD, D. D. & JENSEN, M. D. 2004. Splanchnic lipolysis in human obesity. *J Clin Invest*, 113, 1582-8.
- NIU, Y.-G. & EVANS, R. D. 2008. Metabolism of very-low-density lipoprotein and chylomicrons by streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat heart: effects of diabetes and lipoprotein preference. American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology And Metabolism, 295, E1106-E1116.
- NIU, Y.-G., HAUTON, D. & EVANS, R. D. 2004. Utilization of triacylglycerol-rich lipoproteins by the working rat heart: routes of uptake and metabolic fates. *The Journal of Physiology*, 558, 225-237.
- OKERE, I. C., CHANDLER, M. P., MCELFRESH, T. A., RENNISON, J. H., KUNG, T. A., HOIT, B. D., ERNSBERGER, P., YOUNG, M. E. & STANLEY, W. C. 2007. Carnitine palmitoyl transferase-I inhibition is not associated with cardiac hypertrophy in rats fed a high-fat diet. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, 34, 113-119.
- OKERE, I. C., CHANDLER, M. P., MCELFRESH, T. A., RENNISON, J. H., SHAROV, V., SABBAH, H. N., TSERNG, K. Y., HOIT, B. D., ERNSBERGER, P., YOUNG, M. E. & STANLEY, W. C. 2006a. Differential effects of saturated and unsaturated fatty acid diets on cardiomyocyte apoptosis, adipose distribution, and serum leptin. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 291, H38-44.
- OKERE, I. C., CHESS, D. J., MCELFRESH, T. A., JOHNSON, J., RENNISON, J., ERNSBERGER, P., HOIT, B. D., CHANDLER, M. P. & STANLEY, W. C. 2005. High-fat diet prevents cardiac hypertrophy and improves contractile function in the hypertensive dahl salt-sensitive rat. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*, 32, 825-31.
- OKERE, I. C., YOUNG, M. E., MCELFRESH, T. A., CHESS, D. J., SHAROV, V. G., SABBAH, H. N., HOIT, B. D., ERNSBERGER, P., CHANDLER, M. P. & STANLEY, W. C. 2006b. Low carbohydrate/high-fat diet attenuates cardiac hypertrophy, remodeling, and altered gene expression in hypertension. *Hypertension*, 48, 1116-23.
- OLIVEIRA, S. A., JR., OKOSHI, K., LIMA-LEOPOLDO, A. P., LEOPOLDO, A. S., CAMPOS, D. H., MARTINEZ, P. F., OKOSHI, M. P., PADOVANI, C. R., PAI-SILVA, M. D. & CICOGNA, A. C.
   2009. Nutritional and cardiovascular profiles of normotensive and hypertensive rats kept on a high fat diet. *Arquivos brasileiros de cardiologia*, 93, 526-33.
- OLIVIER, C. 2002. Sphingosine in apoptosis signaling. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)* -*Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1585, 153-162.
- OREOPOULOS, A., PADWAL, R., KALANTAR-ZADEH, K., FONAROW, G. C., NORRIS, C. M. & MCALISTER, F. A. 2008. Body mass index and mortality in heart failure: A metaanalysis. *American Heart Journal*, 156, 13-22.

- OSORIO, J. C., STANLEY, W. C., LINKE, A., CASTELLARI, M., DIEP, Q. N., PANCHAL, A. R., HINTZE, T. H., LOPASCHUK, G. D. & RECCHIA, F. A. 2002. Impaired Myocardial Fatty Acid Oxidation and Reduced Protein Expression of Retinoid X Receptor-α in Pacing-Induced Heart Failure. *Circulation*, 106, 606-612.
- OSTRANDER, D. B., SPARAGNA, G. C., AMOSCATO, A. A., MCMILLIN, J. B. & DOWHAN, W. 2001. Decreased Cardiolipin Synthesis Corresponds with Cytochromec Release in Palmitateinduced Cardiomyocyte Apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276, 38061-38067.
- OUWENS, D., BOER, C., FODOR, M., DE GALAN, P., HEINE, R., MAASSEN, J. & DIAMANT, M. 2005. Cardiac dysfunction induced by high-fat diet is associated with altered myocardial insulin signalling in rats. *Diabetologia*, 48, 1229-1237.
- OUWENS, D. M., DIAMANT, M., FODOR, M., HABETS, D. D., PELSERS, M. M., EL HASNAOUI, M., DANG, Z. C., VAN DEN BROM, C. E., VLASBLOM, R., RIETDIJK, A., BOER, C., COORT, S. L., GLATZ, J. F. & LUIKEN, J. J. 2007. Cardiac contractile dysfunction in insulin-resistant rats fed a high-fat diet is associated with elevated CD36-mediated fatty acid uptake and esterification. *Diabetologia*, 50, 1938-48.
- PAJVANI, U. B., DU, X., COMBS, T. P., BERG, A. H., RAJALA, M. W., SCHULTHESS, T., ENGEL, J., BROWNLEE, M. & SCHERER, P. E. 2003. Structure-function studies of the adipocytesecreted hormone Acrp30/adiponectin. Implications for metabolic regulation and bioactivity. J Biol Chem, 278, 9073-85.
- PAJVANI, U. B., HAWKINS, M., COMBS, T. P., RAJALA, M. W., DOEBBER, T., BERGER, J. P., WAGNER, J. A., WU, M., KNOPPS, A., XIANG, A. H., UTZSCHNEIDER, K. M., KAHN, S. E., OLEFSKY, J. M., BUCHANAN, T. A. & SCHERER, P. E. 2004. Complex distribution, not absolute amount of adiponectin, correlates with thiazolidinedione-mediated improvement in insulin sensitivity. J Biol Chem, 279, 12152-62.
- PARK, T.-S., HU, Y., NOH, H.-L., DROSATOS, K., OKAJIMA, K., BUCHANAN, J., TUINEI, J., HOMMA, S., JIANG, X.-C., ABEL, E. D. & GOLDBERG, I. J. 2008. Ceramide is a cardiotoxin in lipotoxic cardiomyopathy. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 49, 2101-2112.
- PARRA, V., EISNER, V., CHIONG, M., CRIOLLO, A., MORAGA, F., GARCIA, A., HÄRTEL, S., JAIMOVICH, E., ZORZANO, A., HIDALGO, C. & LAVANDERO, S. 2008. Changes in mitochondrial dynamics during ceramide-induced cardiomyocyte early apoptosis. *Cardiovascular Research*, **77**, 387-397.
- PASCUAL, M., PASCUAL, D. A., SORIA, F., VICENTE, T., HERNANDEZ, A. M., TEBAR, F. J. & VALDES, M. 2003. Effects of isolated obesity on systolic and diastolic left ventricular function. *Heart*, 89, 1152-6.
- PATERNOSTRO, G., PAGANO, D., GNECCHI-RUSCONE, T., BONSER, R. S. & CAMICI, P. G. 1999. Insulin resistance in patients with cardiac hypertrophy. *Cardiovascular Research*, 42, 246-253.
- PATTEN, R. D. & HALL-PORTER, M. R. 2009. Small Animal Models of Heart Failure. *Circulation: Heart Failure*, 2, 138-144.
- PATTEN, R. D., POURATI, I., ARONOVITZ, M. J., ALSHEIKH-ALI, A., EDER, S., FORCE, T., MENDELSOHN, M. E. & KARAS, R. H. 2008. 17 Beta-estradiol differentially affects left ventricular and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy following myocardial infarction and pressure overload. *J Card Fail*, 14, 245-53.
- PEPE, S. & MCLENNAN, P. L. 2002. Cardiac Membrane Fatty Acid Composition Modulates Myocardial Oxygen Consumption and Postischemic Recovery of Contractile Function. *Circulation*, 105, 2303-2308.
- PETERSON, L. R., WAGGONER, A. D., SCHECHTMAN, K. B., MEYER, T., GROPLER, R. J., BARZILAI,
   B. & DAVILA-ROMAN, V. G. 2004. Alterations in left ventricular structure and function in young healthy obese women: Assessment by echocardiography and tissue Doppler imaging. J Am Coll Cardiol, 43, 1399-1404.
- PHILLIPS, S. A., KUNG, J., CIARALDI, T. P., CHOE, C., CHRISTIANSEN, L., MUDALIAR, S. & HENRY,
   R. R. 2009. Selective regulation of cellular and secreted multimeric adiponectin by antidiabetic therapies in humans. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 297, E767-73.

- PISCHON, T., HANKINSON, S. E., HOTAMISLIGIL, G. S., RIFAI, N., WILLETT, W. C. & RIMM, E. B. 2003. Habitual Dietary Intake of n-3 and n-6 Fatty Acids in Relation to Inflammatory Markers Among US Men and Women. *Circulation*, 108, 155-160.
- PLANAVILA, A., LAGUNA, J. C. & VAZQUEZ-CARRERA, M. 2005. Nuclear factor-kappaB activation leads to down-regulation of fatty acid oxidation during cardiac hypertrophy. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 17464-71.
- POWELL, B. D., REDFIELD, M. M., BYBEE, K. A., FREEMAN, W. K. & RIHAL, C. S. 2006. Association of obesity with left ventricular remodeling and diastolic dysfunction in patients without coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol*, 98, 116-20.
- POWELL, D. J., HAJDUCH, E., KULAR, G. & HUNDAL, H. S. 2003. Ceramide disables 3phosphoinositide binding to the pleckstrin homology domain of protein kinase B (PKB)/Akt by a PKCzeta-dependent mechanism. *Mol Cell Biol*, 23, 7794-808.
- PREIS, S. R., MASSARO, J. M., ROBINS, S. J., HOFFMANN, U., VASAN, R. S., IRLBECK, T., MEIGS, J. B., SUTHERLAND, P., D'AGOSTINO, R. B., SR., O'DONNELL, C. J. & FOX, C. S. 2010.
   Abdominal subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue and insulin resistance in the Framingham heart study. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 18, 2191-8.
- PUIGSERVER, P. & SPIEGELMAN, B. M. 2003. Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-{gamma} Coactivator 1{alpha} (PGC-1{alpha}): Transcriptional Coactivator and Metabolic Regulator. *Endocr Rev*, 24, 78-90.
- PUIGSERVER, P., WU, Z., PARK, C. W., GRAVES, R., WRIGHT, M. & SPIEGELMAN, B. M. 1998. A Cold-Inducible Coactivator of Nuclear Receptors Linked to Adaptive Thermogenesis. *Cell*, 92, 829-839.
- PURDHAM, D. M., ZOU, M.-X., RAJAPUROHITAM, V. & KARMAZYN, M. 2004. Rat heart is a site of leptin production and action. *American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 287, H2877-H2884.
- PUTHANVEETIL, P., WANG, Y., ZHANG, D., WANG, F., KIM, M. S., INNIS, S., PULINILKUNNIL, T., ABRAHANI, A. & RODRIGUES, B. 2011. Cardiac triglyceride accumulation following acute lipid excess occurs through activation of a FoxO1–iNOS–CD36 pathway. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 51, 352-363.
- QANUD, K., MAMDANI, M., PEPE, M., KHAIRALLAH, R. J., GRAVEL, J., LEI, B., GUPTE, S. A., SHAROV, V. G., SABBAH, H. N., STANLEY, W. C. & RECCHIA, F. A. 2008. Reverse changes in cardiac substrate oxidation in dogs recovering from heart failure. *American Journal* of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology, 295, H2098-H2105.
- QI, Y., TAKAHASHI, N., HILEMAN, S. M., PATEL, H. R., BERG, A. H., PAJVANI, U. B., SCHERER, P. E. & AHIMA, R. S. 2004. Adiponectin acts in the brain to decrease body weight. *Nat Med*, 10, 524-9.
- RABEN, A., VASILARAS, T. H., MOLLER, A. C. & ASTRUP, A. 2002. Sucrose compared with artificial sweeteners: different effects on ad libitum food intake and body weight after 10 wk of supplementation in overweight subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 76, 721-9.
- RABKIN, S. W. & LODHA, P. 2009. Stearic acid-induced cardiac lipotoxicity is independent of cellular lipid and is mitigated by the fatty acids oleic and capric acid but not by the PPAR agonist troglitazone. *Experimental Physiology*, 94, 877-887.
- RAHER, M. J., THIBAULT, H. B., BUYS, E. S., KURUPPU, D., SHIMIZU, N., BROWNELL, A.-L., BLAKE, S. L., RIEUSSET, J., KANEKI, M., DERUMEAUX, G., PICARD, M. H., BLOCH, K. D. & SCHERRER-CROSBIE, M. 2008. A short duration of high-fat diet induces insulin resistance and predisposes to adverse left ventricular remodeling after pressure overload. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 295, H2495-H2502.
- RAHMOUNI, K., MORGAN, D. A., MORGAN, G. M., MARK, A. L. & HAYNES, W. G. 2005. Role of selective leptin resistance in diet-induced obesity hypertension. *Diabetes*, 54, 2012-8.
- RAJAPUROHITAM, V., GAN, X. T., KIRSHENBAUM, L. A. & KARMAZYN, M. 2003. The obesityassociated peptide leptin induces hypertrophy in neonatal rat ventricular myocytes. *Circ Res*, 93, 277-9.

- RAJAPUROHITAM, V., JAVADOV, S., PURDHAM, D. M., KIRSHENBAUM, L. A. & KARMAZYN, M. 2006. An autocrine role for leptin in mediating the cardiomyocyte hypertrophic effects of angiotensin II and endothelin-1. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology,* 41, 265-274.
- RAME, J. & DRIES, D. 2007. Heart failure and cardiac hypertrophy. *Current Treatment Options in Cardiovascular Medicine*, 9, 289-301.
- RANDLE, P. J. 1986. Fuel selection in animals. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 14, 799-806.
- RANDLE, P. J. 1998. Regulatory interactions between lipids and carbohydrates: the glucose fatty acid cycle after 35 years. *Diabetes Metab Rev*, 14, 263-83.
- RATH, G., SCHNEIDER, C., LANGLOIS, B., SARTELET, H., MORJANI, H., BTAOURI, H. E., DEDIEU, S.
   & MARTINY, L. 2009. De novo ceramide synthesis is responsible for the anti-tumor properties of camptothecin and doxorubicin in follicular thyroid carcinoma. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 41, 1165-72.
- REAVEN, G. M., HOLLENBECK, C., JENG, C. Y., WU, M. S. & CHEN, Y. D. 1988. Measurement of plasma glucose, free fatty acid, lactate, and insulin for 24 h in patients with NIDDM. *Diabetes*, 37, 1020-1024.
- RELLING, D. P., ESBERG, L. B., FANG, C. X., JOHNSON, W. T., MURPHY, E. J., CARLSON, E. C., SAARI, J. T. & REN, J. 2006. High-fat diet-induced juvenile obesity leads to cardiomyocyte dysfunction and upregulation of Foxo3a transcription factor independent of lipotoxicity and apoptosis. *J Hypertens*, 24, 549-61.
- REN, J., ZHU, B.-H., RELLING, D. P., ESBERG, L. B. & CEYLAN-ISIK, A. F. 2008. High-fat Dietinduced Obesity Leads to Resistance to Leptin-induced Cardiomyocyte Contractile Response. *Obesity*, 16, 2417-2423.
- RENNISON, J. H., MCELFRESH, T. A., CHEN, X., ANAND, V. R., HOIT, B. D., HOPPEL, C. L. & CHANDLER, M. P. 2009. Prolonged exposure to high dietary lipids is not associated with lipotoxicity in heart failure. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 46, 883-890.
- RESZKO, A. E., KASUMOV, T., DAVID, F., JOBBINS, K. A., THOMAS, K. R., HOPPEL, C. L., BRUNENGRABER, H. & DES ROSIERS, C. 2004. Peroxisomal Fatty Acid Oxidation Is a Substantial Source of the Acetyl Moiety of Malonyl-CoA in Rat Heart. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279, 19574-19579.
- RIEDIGER, N., OTHMAN, R., FITZ, E., PIERCE, G., SUH, M. & MOGHADASIAN, M. 2008. Low n-6:n-3 fatty acid ratio, with fish- or flaxseed oil, in a high fat diet improves plasma lipids and beneficially alters tissue fatty acid composition in mice. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 47, 153-160.
- RIVELLESE, A. A., MAFFETTONE, A., VESSBY, B., UUSITUPA, M., HERMANSEN, K., BERGLUND, L., LOUHERANTA, A., MEYER, B. J. & RICCARDI, G. 2003. Effects of dietary saturated, monounsaturated and n-3 fatty acids on fasting lipoproteins, LDL size and postprandial lipid metabolism in healthy subjects. *Atherosclerosis*, 167, 149-158.
- ROBERT, P., TSUI, P., LAVILLE, M. P., LIVI, G. P., SARAU, H. M., BRIL, A. & BERREBI-BERTRAND, I. 2001. EDG1 receptor stimulation leads to cardiac hypertrophy in rat neonatal myocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 33, 1589-606.
- ROE, C. R., SWEETMAN, L., ROE, D. S., DAVID, F. & BRUNENGRABER, H. 2002. Treatment of cardiomyopathy and rhabdomyolysis in long-chain fat oxidation disorders using an anaplerotic odd-chain triglyceride. *J Clin Invest*, 110, 259-69.
- RONCAL-JIMENEZ, C. A., LANASPA, M. A., RIVARD, C. J., NAKAGAWA, T., SANCHEZ-LOZADA, L.
   G., JALAL, D., ANDRES-HERNANDO, A., TANABE, K., MADERO, M., LI, N., CICERCHI, C.,
   MC FANN, K., SAUTIN, Y. Y. & JOHNSON, R. J. 2011. Sucrose induces fatty liver and
   pancreatic inflammation in male breeder rats independent of excess energy intake.
   *Metabolism*, 60, 1259-1270.
- ROSE, M., BALAKUMAR, P. & SINGH, M. 2007. Ameliorative effect of combination of fenofibrate and rosiglitazone in pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy in rats. *Pharmacology*, 80, 177-84.

- ROSENBLATT-VELIN, N., MONTESSUIT, C., PAPAGEORGIOU, I., TERRAND, J. & LERCH, R. 2001. Postinfarction heart failure in rats is associated with upregulation of GLUT-1 and downregulation of genes of fatty acid metabolism. *Cardiovascular Research*, 52, 407-416.
- RUIZ-GUTIERREZ, V., PEREZ-ESPINOSA, A., VAZQUEZ, C. M. & SANTA-MARIA, C. 1999. Effects of dietary fats (fish, olive and high-oleic-acid sunflower oils) on lipid composition and antioxidant enzymes in rat liver. *Br J Nutr*, 82, 233-41.
- RUSSELL, L. K., MANSFIELD, C. M., LEHMAN, J. J., KOVACS, A., COURTOIS, M., SAFFITZ, J. E., MEDEIROS, D. M., VALENCIK, M. L., MCDONALD, J. A. & KELLY, D. P. 2004. Cardiac-Specific Induction of the Transcriptional Coactivator Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor {gamma} Coactivator-1{alpha} Promotes Mitochondrial Biogenesis and Reversible Cardiomyopathy in a Developmental Stage-Dependent Manner. *Circ Res*, 94, 525-533.
- RUSSELL, R. R., 3RD, MRUS, J. M., MOMMESSIN, J. I. & TAEGTMEYER, H. 1992. Compartmentation of hexokinase in rat heart. A critical factor for tracer kinetic analysis of myocardial glucose metabolism. *J Clin Invest*, 90, 1972-7.
- RYU, M. H. & CHA, Y. S. 2003. The effects of a high-fat or high-sucrose diet on serum lipid profiles, hepatic acyl-CoA synthetase, carnitine palmitoyltransferase-I, and the acetyl-CoA carboxylase mRNA levels in rats. *J Biochem Mol Biol*, 36, 312-8.
- SAAD, M. F., DAMANI, S., GINGERICH, R. L., RIAD-GABRIEL, M. G., KHAN, A., BOYADJIAN, R., JINAGOUDA, S. D., EL-TAWIL, K., RUDE, R. K. & KAMDAR, V. 1997. Sexual Dimorphism in Plasma Leptin Concentration. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 82, 579-584.
- SACK, M. N., DISCH, D. L., ROCKMAN, H. A. & KELLY, D. P. 1997. A role for Sp and nuclear receptor transcription factors in a cardiac hypertrophic growth program. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 94, 6438-6443.
- SACK, M. N., RADER, T. A., PARK, S., BASTIN, J., MCCUNE, S. A. & KELLY, D. P. 1996. Fatty Acid Oxidation Enzyme Gene Expression Is Downregulated in the Failing Heart. *Circulation*, 94, 2837-2842.
- SACKS, H. S. & FAIN, J. N. 2007. Human epicardial adipose tissue: A review. American Heart Journal, 153, 907-917.
- SADDOUGHI, S. A., GARRETT-MAYER, E., CHAUDHARY, U., O'BRIEN, P. E., AFRIN, L. B., DAY, T. A., GILLESPIE, M. B., SHARMA, A. K., WILHOIT, C. S., BOSTICK, R., SENKAL, C. E., HANNUN, Y. A., BIELAWSKI, J., SIMON, G. R., SHIRAI, K. & OGRETMEN, B. 2011. Results of a phase II trial of gemcitabine plus doxorubicin in patients with recurrent head and neck cancers: serum C-ceramide as a novel biomarker for monitoring response. *Clin Cancer Res*, 17, 6097-105.
- SADER, S., NIAN, M. & LIU, P. 2003. Leptin. Circulation, 108, 644-646.
- SAEEDI, R., GRIST, M., WAMBOLT, R. B., BESCOND-JACQUET, A., LUCIEN, A. & ALLARD, M. F. 2005. Trimetazidine normalizes postischemic function of hypertrophied rat hearts. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 314, 446-54.
- SAHU, A. 2003. Leptin signaling in the hypothalamus: emphasis on energy homeostasis and leptin resistance. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, 24, 225-53.
- SAHU, A. & METLAKUNTA, A. S. 2005. Hypothalamic phosphatidylinositol 3-kinasephosphodiesterase 3B-cyclic AMP pathway of leptin signalling is impaired following chronic central leptin infusion. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **17**, 720-6.
- SAMBANDAM, N., LOPASCHUK, G. D., BROWNSEY, R. W. & ALLARD, M. F. 2002. Energy metabolism in the hypertrophied heart. *Heart Fail Rev*, **7**, 161-73.
- SAMPLE, J., CLELAND, J. G. & SEYMOUR, A. M. 2006. Metabolic remodeling in the aging heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 40, 56-63.
- SASSON, Z., RASOOLY, Y., GUPTA, R. & RASOOLY, I. 1996. Left atrial enlargement in healthy obese: prevalence and relation to left ventricular mass and diastolic function. *Can J Cardiol*, 12, 257-63.

- SCHAAP, F. G., BINAS, B., DANNEBERG, H., VAN DER VUSSE, G. J. & GLATZ, J. F. 1999. Impaired long-chain fatty acid utilisation by cardiac myocytes isolated from mice lacking the heart-type fatty acid binding protein gene. *Circ Res*, 85, 329-37.
- SCHAFFER, J. E. 2003. Lipotoxicity: when tissues overeat. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 14, 281-287.
- SCHAFTINGEN, E. V. & HERS, H.-G. 1981. Phosphofructokinase 2 the enzyme that forms fructose 2,6-bisphosphate from fructose 6-phosphate and ATP. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 101, 1078-1084.
- SCHAUB, M. C., HEFTI, M. A., HARDER, B. A. & EPPENBERGER, H. M. 1997. Various hypertrophic stimuli induce distinct phenotypes in cardiomyocytes. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 75, 901-920.
- SCHÖNFELD, P., DYMKOWSKA, D. & WOJTCZAK, L. 2009. Acyl-CoA-induced generation of reactive oxygen species in mitochondrial preparations is due to the presence of peroxisomes. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, **47**, 503-509.
- SCHRAUWEN, P., SARIS, W. H. M. & HESSELINK, M. K. C. 2001. An alternative function for human uncoupling protein 3: protection of mitochondria against accumulation of nonesterified fatty acids inside the mitochondrial matrix. *The FASEB Journal*, 15, 2497-2502.
- SCHROEDER, M. A., COCHLIN, L. E., HEATHER, L. C., CLARKE, K., RADDA, G. K. & TYLER, D. J. 2008. In vivo assessment of pyruvate dehydrogenase flux in the heart using hyperpolarized carbon-13 magnetic resonance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105, 12051-12056.
- SEKIKAWA, A., CURB, J. D., UESHIMA, H., EL-SAED, A., KADOWAKI, T., ABBOTT, R. D., EVANS, R.
  W., RODRIGUEZ, B. L., OKAMURA, T., SUTTON-TYRRELL, K., NAKAMURA, Y., MASAKI, K.,
  EDMUNDOWICZ, D., KASHIWAGI, A., WILLCOX, B. J., TAKAMIYA, T., MITSUNAMI, K.-I.,
  SETO, T. B., MURATA, K., WHITE, R. L., KULLER, L. H. & FOR THE ERA JUMP STUDY
  GROUP 2008. Marine-Derived n-3 Fatty Acids and Atherosclerosis in Japanese,
  Japanese-American, and White Men: A Cross-Sectional Study. J Am Coll Cardiol, 52, 417-424.
- SENKAL, C. E., PONNUSAMY, S., ROSSI, M. J., BIALEWSKI, J., SINHA, D., JIANG, J. C., JAZWINSKI, S. M., HANNUN, Y. A. & OGRETMEN, B. 2007. Role of human longevity assurance gene 1 and C18-ceramide in chemotherapy-induced cell death in human head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 6, 712-722.
- SEPPÄLÄ-LINDROOS, A., VEHKAVAARA, S., HÄKKINEN, A.-M., GOTO, T., WESTERBACKA, J., SOVIJÄRVI, A., HALAVAARA, J. & YKI-JÄRVINEN, H. 2002. Fat Accumulation in the Liver Is Associated with Defects in Insulin Suppression of Glucose Production and Serum Free Fatty Acids Independent of Obesity in Normal Men. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 87, 3023-3028.
- SEYMOUR, A.-M. L. & CHATHAM, J. C. 1997. The Effects of Hypertrophy and Diabetes on Cardiac Pyruvate Dehydrogenase Activity. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 29, 2771-2778.
- SEYMOUR, A.-M. L., ELDAR, H. & RADDA, G. K. 1990. Hyperthyroidism results in increased glycolytic capacity in the rat heart. A 31P-NMR study. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*) *Molecular Cell Research*, 1055, 107-116.
- SHAPIRO, A., MU, W., RONCAL, C., CHENG, K.-Y., JOHNSON, R. J. & SCARPACE, P. J. 2008. Fructose-induced leptin resistance exacerbates weight gain in response to subsequent high-fat feeding. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 295, R1370-R1375.
- SHAPIRO, L. M. 1984. Physiological left ventricular hypertrophy. *British heart journal*, 52, 130-5.
- SHARMA, N., OKERE, I. C., BARROWS, B. R., LEI, B., DUDA, M. K., YUAN, C. L., PREVIS, S. F., SHAROV, V. G., AZIMZADEH, A. M., ERNSBERGER, P., HOIT, B. D., SABBAH, H. & STANLEY, W. C. 2008. High-sugar diets increase cardiac dysfunction and mortality in

hypertension compared to low-carbohydrate or high-starch diets. *J Hypertens*, 26, 1402-10.

- SHARMA, N., OKERE, I. C., DUDA, M. K., JOHNSON, J., YUAN, C. L., CHANDLER, M. P., ERNSBERGER, P., HOIT, B. D. & STANLEY, W. C. 2007. High Fructose Diet Increases Mortality in Hypertensive Rats Compared to a Complex Carbohydrate or High Fat Diet. American Journal of Hypertension, 20, 403-409.
- SHARMA, S., ADROGUE, J. V., GOLFMAN, L., URAY, I., LEMM, J., YOUKER, K., NOON, G. P., FRAZIER, O. H. & TAEGTMEYER, H. 2004. Intramyocardial lipid accumulation in the failing human heart resembles the lipotoxic rat heart. *FASEB J*, 18, 1692-700.
- SHEK, E. W., BRANDS, M. W. & HALL, J. E. 1998. Chronic leptin infusion increases arterial pressure. *Hypertension*, 31, 409-14.
- SHIOJIMA, I., SATO, K., IZUMIYA, Y., SCHIEKOFER, S., ITO, M., LIAO, R., COLUCCI, W. S. & WALSH, K. 2005. Disruption of coordinated cardiac hypertrophy and angiogenesis contributes to the transition to heart failure. J Clin Invest, 115, 2108-18.
- SHIOJIMA, I., YEFREMASHVILI, M., LUO, Z., KUREISHI, Y., TAKAHASHI, A., TAO, J., ROSENZWEIG, A., KAHN, C. R., ABEL, E. D. & WALSH, K. 2002. Akt signaling mediates postnatal heart growth in response to insulin and nutritional status. J Biol Chem, 277, 37670-7.
- SIDANA, J., ARONOW, W. S., RAVIPATI, G., DI STANTE, B., MCCLUNG, J. A., BELKIN, R. N. & LEHRMAN, S. G. 2005. Prevalence of moderate or severe left ventricular diastolic dysfunction in obese persons with obstructive sleep apnea. *Cardiology*, 104, 107-9.
- SILVA, L. C., DE ALMEIDA, R. F. M., CASTRO, B. M., FEDOROV, A. & PRIETO, M. 2007. Ceramide-Domain Formation and Collapse in Lipid Rafts: Membrane Reorganization by an Apoptotic Lipid. *Biophysical journal*, 92, 502-516.
- SIMOPOULOS, A. P. 2002. The importance of the ratio of omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acids. *Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy = Biomedecine & pharmacotherapie*, 56, 365-79.
- SIMOPOULOS, A. P. 2006. Evolutionary aspects of diet, the omega-6/omega-3 ratio and genetic variation: nutritional implications for chronic diseases. *Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy = Biomedecine & pharmacotherapie*, 60, 502-7.
- SIMOPOULOS, A. P. 2008. The Importance of the Omega-6/Omega-3 Fatty Acid Ratio in Cardiovascular Disease and Other Chronic Diseases. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 233, 674-688.
- SISKIND, L. J. 2005. Mitochondrial ceramide and the induction of apoptosis. *J Bioenerg Biomembr*, **37**, 143-53.
- SISKIND, L. J. & COLOMBINI, M. 2000. The lipids C2- and C16-ceramide form large stable channels. Implications for apoptosis. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 38640-4.
- SISKIND, L. J., KOLESNICK, R. N. & COLOMBINI, M. 2002. Ceramide channels increase the permeability of the mitochondrial outer membrane to small proteins. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 26796-803.
- SISKIND, L. J., KOLESNICK, R. N. & COLOMBINI, M. 2006. Ceramide forms channels in mitochondrial outer membranes at physiologically relevant concentrations. *Mitochondrion*, 6, 118-125.
- SISTA, A. K., O'CONNELL, M. K., HINOHARA, T., OOMMEN, S. S., FENSTER, B. E., GLASSFORD, A. J., SCHWARTZ, E. A., TAYLOR, C. A., REAVEN, G. M. & TSAO, P. S. 2005. Increased aortic stiffness in the insulin-resistant Zucker fa/fa rat. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart* and Circulatory Physiology, 289, H845-H851.
- SKEAFF, C. M. & MILLER, J. 2009. Dietary fat and coronary heart disease: summary of evidence from prospective cohort and randomised controlled trials. *Ann Nutr Metab*, 55, 173-201.
- SKRZYPIEC-SPRING, M., GROTTHUS, B., SZELĄG, A. & SCHULZ, R. 2007. Isolated heart perfusion according to Langendorff—Still viable in the new millennium. *Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods*, 55, 113-126.

- SOLI, A. H., KAHN, C. R., NEVILLE, D. M., JR. & ROTH, J. 1975. Insulin receptor deficiency in genetic and acquired obesity. *J Clin Invest*, 56, 769-80.
- SOROKINA, N., O'DONNELL, J. M., MCKINNEY, R. D., POUND, K. M., WOLDEGIORGIS, G., LANOUE, K. F., BALLAL, K., TAEGTMEYER, H., BUTTRICK, P. M. & LEWANDOWSKI, E. D. 2007. Recruitment of compensatory pathways to sustain oxidative flux with reduced carnitine palmitoyltransferase I activity characterizes inefficiency in energy metabolism in hypertrophied hearts. *Circulation*, 115, 2033-41.
- SPARAGNA, G. C., HICKSON-BICK, D. L., BUJA, L. M. & MCMILLIN, J. B. 2000. A metabolic role for mitochondria in palmitate-induced cardiac myocyte apoptosis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 279, H2124-32.
- SPIEGELMAN, B. M. 1998. PPAR-gamma: adipogenic regulator and thiazolidinedione receptor. *Diabetes*, 47, 507-514.
- SPIEKERKOETTER, U. 2010. Mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation disorders: clinical presentation of long-chain fatty acid oxidation defects before and after newborn screening. *Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease*, 33, 527-532.
- SPINALE, F. G. 2007. Myocardial Matrix Remodeling and the Matrix Metalloproteinases: Influence on Cardiac Form and Function. *Physiol. Rev.*, 87, 1285-1342.
- SRINIVASAN, K., PATOLE, P. S., KAUL, C. L. & RAMARAO, P. 2004. Reversal of glucose intolerance by by pioglitazone in high fat diet-fed rats. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol,* 26, 327-33.
- STAELS, B., DALLONGEVILLE, J., AUWERX, J., SCHOONJANS, K., LEITERSDORF, E. & FRUCHART, J.-C. 1998. Mechanism of Action of Fibrates on Lipid and Lipoprotein Metabolism. *Circulation*, 98, 2088-2093.
- STANHOPE, K. L., SCHWARZ, J. M., KEIM, N. L., GRIFFEN, S. C., BREMER, A. A., GRAHAM, J. L., HATCHER, B., COX, C. L., DYACHENKO, A., ZHANG, W., MCGAHAN, J. P., SEIBERT, A., KRAUSS, R. M., CHIU, S., SCHAEFER, E. J., AI, M., OTOKOZAWA, S., NAKAJIMA, K., NAKANO, T., BEYSEN, C., HELLERSTEIN, M. K., BERGLUND, L. & HAVEL, P. J. 2009. Consuming fructose-sweetened, not glucose-sweetened, beverages increases visceral adiposity and lipids and decreases insulin sensitivity in overweight/obese humans. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 119, 1322-1334.
- STANLEY, B. G. & LEIBOWITZ, S. F. 1985. Neuropeptide Y injected in the paraventricular hypothalamus: a powerful stimulant of feeding behavior. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 82, 3940-3943.
- STANLEY, W. C. 1991. Myocardial lactate metabolism during exercise. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 23, 920-924.
- STANLEY, W. C., RECCHIA, F. A. & LOPASCHUK, G. D. 2005. Myocardial Substrate Metabolism in the Normal and Failing Heart. *Physiological Reviews*, 85, 1093-1129.
- STEINBUSCH, L. K. M., LUIKEN, J. J. F. P., VLASBLOM, R., CHABOWSKI, A., HOEBERS, N. T. H., COUMANS, W. A., VROEGRIJK, I. O. C. M., VOSHOL, P. J., OUWENS, D. M., GLATZ, J. F. C. & DIAMANT, M. 2011. Absence of fatty acid transporter CD36 protects against Western-type diet-related cardiac dysfunction following pressure overload in mice. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 301, E618-E627.
- STIBAN, J., CAPUTO, L. & COLOMBINI, M. 2008. Ceramide synthesis in the endoplasmic reticulum can permeabilize mitochondria to proapoptotic proteins. *J Lipid Res*, 49, 625-34.
- STREMMEL, W. 1988. Fatty acid uptake by isolated rat heart myocytes represents a carriermediated transport process. *J Clin Invest*, 81, 844-52.
- SUGDEN, M. C. & HOLNESS, M. J. 2003. Recent advances in mechanisms regulating glucose oxidation at the level of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex by PDKs. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology And Metabolism,* 284, E855-E862.
- SUMIYOSHI, M., SAKANAKA, M. & KIMURA, Y. 2006. Chronic Intake of High-Fat and High-Sucrose Diets Differentially Affects Glucose Intolerance in Mice. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 136, 582-587.

- SUNG, M. M., KOONEN, D. P., SOLTYS, C. L., JACOBS, R. L., FEBBRAIO, M. & DYCK, J. R. 2011. Increased CD36 expression in middle-aged mice contributes to obesity-related cardiac hypertrophy in the absence of cardiac dysfunction. J Mol Med (Berl), 89, 459-69.
- SUZUKI, S., WILSON-KUBALEK, E. M., WERT, D., TSAO, T. S. & LEE, D. H. 2007. The oligomeric structure of high molecular weight adiponectin. *FEBS Lett*, 581, 809-14.
- SWARBRICK, M. M., STANHOPE, K. L., ELLIOTT, S. S., GRAHAM, J. L., KRAUSS, R. M., CHRISTIANSEN, M. P., GRIFFEN, S. C., KEIM, N. L. & HAVEL, P. J. 2008. Consumption of fructose-sweetened beverages for 10 weeks increases postprandial triacylglycerol and apolipoprotein-B concentrations in overweight and obese women. *Br J Nutr*, 100, 947-52.
- SWEENEY, G. 2002. Leptin signalling. Cell Signal, 14, 655-63.
- TAEGTMEYER, H. & SALAZAR, R. 2004. Myocardial Metabolism: A new target for the treatment of heart disease? *Current Hypertension Reports*, 6, 414-415.

TARTAGLIA, L. A. 1997. The Leptin Receptor. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 272, 6093-6096.

- THE NHS INFORMATION CENTRE, L. S. 2011. Statistics on obesity, physical activity and diet: England, 2011.
- TIKELLIS, C., THOMAS, M. C., HARCOURT, B. E., COUGHLAN, M. T., PETE, J., BIALKOWSKI, K., TAN, A., BIERHAUS, A., COOPER, M. E. & FORBES, J. M. 2008. Cardiac inflammation associated with a Western diet is mediated via activation of RAGE by AGEs. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology And Metabolism*, 295, E323-E330.
- TILL, M., KOLTER, T. & ECKEL, J. 1997. Molecular mechanisms of contraction-induced translocation of GLUT4 in isolated cardiomyocytes. *Am J Cardiol*, 80, 85A-89A.
- TREUTER, E., ALBREKTSEN, T., JOHANSSON, L., LEERS, J. & GUSTAFSSON, J.-A. 1998. A Regulatory Role for RIP140 in Nuclear Receptor Activation. *Mol Endocrinol*, 12, 864-881.
- TU, W., ECKERT, G. J., DIMEGLIO, L. A., YU, Z., JUNG, J. & PRATT, J. H. 2011. Intensified effect of adiposity on blood pressure in overweight and obese children. *Hypertension*, 58, 818-24.
- TULLOCH-REID, M. K., HANSON, R. L., SEBRING, N. G., REYNOLDS, J. C., PREMKUMAR, A., GENOVESE, D. J. & SUMNER, A. E. 2004. Both Subcutaneous and Visceral Adipose Tissue Correlate Highly with Insulin Resistance in African Americans[ast][ast]. *Obesity*, 12, 1352-1359.
- UNGER, R. H. 2005. Hyperleptinemia. *Hypertension*, 45, 1031-1034.
- UNGER, R. H. & ORCI, L. 2002. Lipoapoptosis: its mechanism and its diseases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids,* 1585, 202-212.
- UNGER, R. H., ZHOU, Y. T. & ORCI, L. 1999. Regulation of fatty acid homeostasis in cells: novel role of leptin. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, 96, 2327-2332.
- URETSKY, S., MESSERLI, F. H., BANGALORE, S., CHAMPION, A., COOPER-DEHOFF, R. M., ZHOU, Q. & PEPINE, C. J. 2007. Obesity paradox in patients with hypertension and coronary artery disease. *Am J Med*, 120, 863-70.
- UTRIAINEN, T., TAKALA, T., LUOTOLAHTI, M., RÖNNEMAA, T., LAINE, H., RUOTSALAINEN, U., HAAPARANTA, M., NUUTILA, P. & YKI-JÄRVINEN, H. 1998. Insulin resistance characterizes glucose uptake in skeletal muscle but not in the heart in NIDDM. *Diabetologia*, 41, 555-559.
- VAN BILSEN, M., DE VRIES, J. E. & VAN DER VUSSE, G. J. 1997. Long-term effects of fatty acids on cell viability and gene expression of neonatal cardiac myocytes. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids,* 57, 39-45.
- VAN DEN BERGH, A., VANDERPER, A., VANGHELUWE, P., DESJARDINS, F., NEVELSTEEN, I., VERRETH, W., WUYTACK, F., HOLVOET, P., FLAMENG, W., BALLIGAND, J. L. & HERIJGERS, P. 2008. Dyslipidaemia in type II diabetic mice does not aggravate contractile impairment but increases ventricular stiffness. *Cardiovasc Res*, 77, 371-9.

- VAN DEN HOEK, A. M., TEUSINK, B., VOSHOL, P. J., HAVEKES, L. M., ROMIJN, J. A. & PIJL, H. 2008. Leptin Deficiency Per Se Dictates Body Composition and Insulin Action in ob/ob Mice. Journal of Neuroendocrinology, 20, 120-127.
- VAN DER LEE, K. A., VORK, M. M., DE VRIES, J. E., WILLEMSEN, P. H., GLATZ, J. F., RENEMAN, R.
   S., VAN DER VUSSE, G. J. & VAN BILSEN, M. 2000. Long-chain fatty acid-induced changes in gene expression in neonatal cardiac myocytes. *J Lipid Res*, 41, 41-7.
- VAN DER VUSSE, G. J., VAN BILSEN, M. & GLATZ, J. F. C. 2000. Cardiac fatty acid uptake and transport in health and disease. *Cardiovascular Research*, 45, 279-293.
- VAN HEEK, M., COMPTON, D. S., FRANCE, C. F., TEDESCO, R. P., FAWZI, A. B., GRAZIANO, M. P., SYBERTZ, E. J., STRADER, C. D. & DAVIS, H. R., JR. 1997. Diet-induced obese mice develop peripheral, but not central, resistance to leptin. *J Clin Invest*, 99, 385-90.
- VAN LOON, L. J. C., KRUIJSHOOP, M., MENHEERE, P. P. C. A., WAGENMAKERS, A. J. M., SARIS,
  W. H. M. & KEIZER, H. A. 2003. Amino Acid Ingestion Strongly Enhances Insulin Secretion in Patients With Long-Term Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 26, 625-630.
- VAN ROERMUND, C. W. T., HETTEMA, E. H., VAN DEN BERG, M., TABAK, H. F. & WANDERS, R. J.
   A. 1999. Molecular characterization of carnitine-dependent transport of acetyl-CoA from peroxisomes to mitochondria in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and identification of a plasma membrane carnitine transporter, Agp2p. *EMBO J*, 18, 5843-5852.
- VAN TOL, A., ZOCK, P. L., VAN GENT, T., SCHEEK, L. M. & KATAN, M. B. 1995. Dietary trans fatty acids increase serum cholesterylester transfer protein activity in man. *Atherosclerosis*, 115, 129-34.
- VASANJI, Z., CANTOR, E. J. F., JURIC, D., MOYEN, M. & NETTICADAN, T. 2006. Alterations in cardiac contractile performance and sarcoplasmic reticulum function in sucrose-fed rats is associated with insulin resistance. *American Journal of Physiology Cell Physiology*, 291, C772-C780.
- VENTURA-CLAPIER, R., GARNIER, A. & VEKSLER, V. 2008. Transcriptional control of mitochondrial biogenesis: the central role of PGC-1alpha. *Cardiovasc Res*, 79, 208-17.
- VISWAKARMA, N., JIA, Y., BAI, L., VLUGGENS, A., BORENSZTAJN, J., XU, J. & REDDY, J. K. 2010. Coactivators in PPAR-Regulated Gene Expression. *PPAR Res*, 2010
- WAJCHENBERG, B. L. 2000. Subcutaneous and Visceral Adipose Tissue: Their Relation to the Metabolic Syndrome. *Endocrine Reviews*, 21, 697-738.
- WAMBOLT, R. B., HENNING, S. L., ENGLISH, D. R., DYACHKOVA, Y., LOPASCHUK, G. D. & ALLARD, M. F. 1999. Glucose utilization and glycogen turnover are accelerated in hypertrophied rat hearts during severe low-flow ischemia. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 31, 493-502.
- WANDERS, R. J. A. 2004. Peroxisomes, lipid metabolism, and peroxisomal disorders. *Molecular Genetics and Metabolism*, 83, 16-27.
- WANG, J., ZHEN, L., KLUG, M. G., WOOD, D., WU, X. & MIZRAHI, J. 2000. Involvement of caspase 3- and 8-like proteases in ceramide-induced apoptosis of cardiomyocytes. *Journal of Cardiac Failure*, 6, 243-249.
- WANG, X., REN, B., LIU, S., SENTEX, E., TAPPIA, P. S. & DHALLA, N. S. 2003. Characterization of cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure due to volume overload in the rat. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 94, 752-763.
- WATANABE, K., FUJII, H., TAKAHASHI, T., KODAMA, M., AIZAWA, Y., OHTA, Y., ONO, T.,
  HASEGAWA, G., NAITO, M., NAKAJIMA, T., KAMIJO, Y., GONZALEZ, F. J. & AOYAMA, T.
  2000. Constitutive regulation of cardiac fatty acid metabolism through peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha associated with age-dependent cardiac toxicity. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 22293-9.
- WATANABE, K., SEKIYA, M., TSURUOKA, T., FUNADA, J.-I. & KAMEOKA, H. 1999. Effect of insulin resistance on left ventricular hypertrophy and dysfunction in essential hypertension. *Journal of Hypertension*, **17**, **1153**-1160.

- WATT, M. J., STEINBERG, G. R., CHEN, Z.-P., KEMP, B. E. & FEBBRAIO, M. A. 2006. Fatty acids stimulate AMP-activated protein kinase and enhance fatty acid oxidation in L6 myotubes. *The Journal of Physiology*, 574, 139-147.
- WEBER, K. T., BRILLA, C. G. & JANICKI, J. S. 1993. Myocardial fibrosis: functional significance and regulatory factors. *Cardiovascular Research*, **27**, 341-348.
- WEBER, K. T., JANICKI, J. S., PICK, R., CAPASSO, J. & ANVERSA, P. 1990. Myocardial fibrosis and pathologic hypertrophy in the rat with renovascular hypertension. *The American journal of cardiology*, 65, 1-7.
- WEBER, K. T., JANICKI, J. S., SHROFF, S. G., PICK, R., CHEN, R. M. & BASHEY, R. I. 1988. Collagen remodeling of the pressure-overloaded, hypertrophied nonhuman primate myocardium. *Circ Res*, 62, 757-65.
- WEI, H. & VANDER HEIDE, R. S. 2010. Ischemic preconditioning and heat shock activate Akt via a focal adhesion kinase-mediated pathway in Langendorff-perfused adult rat hearts. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 298, H152-H157.
- WILSON, C. R., TRAN, M. K., SALAZAR, K. L., YOUNG, M. E. & TAEGTMEYER, H. 2007. Western diet, but not high fat diet, causes derangements of fatty acid metabolism and contractile dysfunction in the heart of Wistar rats. *Biochem J*, 406, 457-467.
- WOLFE, M., SAWYER, J., MORGAN, T., BULLOCK, B. & RUDEL, L. 1994. Dietary polyunsaturated fat decreases coronary artery atherosclerosis in a pediatric-aged population of African green monkeys. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology,* 14, 587-597.
- WOODIWISS, A. J. & NORTON, G. R. 1995. Exercise-induced cardiac hypertrophy is associated with an increased myocardial compliance. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 78, 1303-1311.
- WOODS, S. C., D'ALESSIO, D. A., TSO, P., RUSHING, P. A., CLEGG, D. J., BENOIT, S. C., GOTOH, K., LIU, M. & SEELEY, R. J. 2004. Consumption of a high-fat diet alters the homeostatic regulation of energy balance. *Physiology & Behavior*, 83, 573-578.
- WRIGHT, J. D. & WANG, C. Y. 2010. Trends in intake of energy and macronutrients in adults from 1999-2000 through 2007-2008. *NCHS Data Brief*, 1-8.
- WRIGHT, J. J., KIM, J., BUCHANAN, J., BOUDINA, S., SENA, S., BAKIRTZI, K., ILKUN, O., THEOBALD, H. A., COOKSEY, R. C., KANDROR, K. V. & ABEL, E. D. 2009. Mechanisms for increased myocardial fatty acid utilization following short-term high-fat feeding. *Cardiovasc Res*, 82, 351-60.
- WU, P., SATO, J., ZHAO, Y., JASKIEWICZ, J., POPOV, K. M. & HARRIS, R. A. 1998. Starvation and diabetes increase the amount of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase isoenzyme 4 in rat heart. *Biochem. J.*, 329, 197-201.
- WUEEST, S., RAPOLD, R. A., RYTKA, J. M., SCHOENLE, E. J. & KONRAD, D. 2009. Basal lipolysis, not the degree of insulin resistance, differentiates large from small isolated adipocytes in high-fat fed mice. *Diabetologia*, 52, 541-6.
- YAGYU, H., CHEN, G., YOKOYAMA, M., HIRATA, K., AUGUSTUS, A., KAKO, Y., SEO, T., HU, Y., LUTZ, E. P., MERKEL, M., BENSADOUN, A., HOMMA, S. & GOLDBERG, I. J. 2003.
   Lipoprotein lipase (LpL) on the surface of cardiomyocytes increases lipid uptake and produces a cardiomyopathy. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 111, 419-426.
- YAMAUCHI, T., KAMON, J., MINOKOSHI, Y., ITO, Y., WAKI, H., UCHIDA, S., YAMASHITA, S., NODA, M., KITA, S., UEKI, K., ETO, K., AKANUMA, Y., FROGUEL, P., FOUFELLE, F., FERRE, P., CARLING, D., KIMURA, S., NAGAI, R., KAHN, B. B. & KADOWAKI, T. 2002.
  Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMPactivated protein kinase. *Nat Med*, 8, 1288-95.
- YAMAUCHI, T., KAMON, J., WAKI, H., TERAUCHI, Y., KUBOTA, N., HARA, K., MORI, Y., IDE, T., MURAKAMI, K., TSUBOYAMA-KASAOKA, N., EZAKI, O., AKANUMA, Y., GAVRILOVA, O., VINSON, C., REITMAN, M. L., KAGECHIKA, H., SHUDO, K., YODA, M., NAKANO, Y., TOBE, K., NAGAI, R., KIMURA, S., TOMITA, M., FROGUEL, P. & KADOWAKI, T. 2001. The fatderived hormone adiponectin reverses insulin resistance associated with both lipoatrophy and obesity. *Nat Med*, 7, 941-6.

- YAN, J., YOUNG, M. E., CUI, L., LOPASCHUK, G. D., LIAO, R. & TIAN, R. 2009. Increased glucose uptake and oxidation in mouse hearts prevent high fatty acid oxidation but cause cardiac dysfunction in diet-induced obesity. *Circulation*, 119, 2818-28.
- YANAGI, N., MARUYAMA, T., ARITA, M., KAJI, Y. & NIHO, Y. 2001. Alterations in electrical and mechanical activity in Langendorff-perfused guinea pig hearts exposed to decreased external sodium concentration with or without hypotonic insult. *Pathophysiology*, 7, 251-261.
- YAQOOB, P., SHERRINGTON, E. J., JEFFERY, N. M., SANDERSON, P., HARVEY, D. J., NEWSHOLME, E. A. & CALDER, P. C. 1995. Comparison of the effects of a range of dietary lipids upon serum and tissue lipid composition in the rat. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 27, 297-310.
- YILMAZ, C., RAVIKUMAR, P., BELLOTTO, D. J., UNGER, R. H. & HSIA, C. C. 2010. Fatty diabetic lung: functional impairment in a model of metabolic syndrome. *J Appl Physiol*, 109, 1913-9.
- YIN, F. C., SPURGEON, H. A., RAKUSAN, K., WEISFELDT, M. L. & LAKATTA, E. G. 1982. Use of tibial length to quantify cardiac hypertrophy: application in the aging rat. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 243, H941-947.
- YOUNG, L. H., RENFU, Y., RUSSELL, R., HU, X., CAPLAN, M., REN, J., SHULMAN, G. I. & SINUSAS, A. J. 1997. Low-Flow Ischemia Leads to Translocation of Canine Heart GLUT-4 and GLUT-1 Glucose Transporters to the Sarcolemma In Vivo. *Circulation*, 95, 415-422.
- YOUNG, M. E., GOODWIN, G. W., YING, J., GUTHRIE, P., WILSON, C. R., LAWS, F. A. & TAEGTMEYER, H. 2001. Regulation of cardiac and skeletal muscle malonyl-CoA decarboxylase by fatty acids. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology And Metabolism,* 280, E471-E479.
- YU, C., CHEN, Y., CLINE, G. W., ZHANG, D., ZONG, H., WANG, Y., BERGERON, R., KIM, J. K., CUSHMAN, S. W., COONEY, G. J., ATCHESON, B., WHITE, M. F., KRAEGEN, E. W. & SHULMAN, G. I. 2002a. Mechanism by Which Fatty Acids Inhibit Insulin Activation of Insulin Receptor Substrate-1 (IRS-1)-associated Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Activity in Muscle. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 50230-50236.
- YU, C., MARKAN, K., TEMPLE, K. A., DEPLEWSKI, D., BRADY, M. J. & COHEN, R. N. 2005. The nuclear receptor corepressors NCoR and SMRT decrease peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma transcriptional activity and repress 3T3-L1 adipogenesis. J Biol Chem, 280, 13600-5.
- YU, J. G., JAVORSCHI, S., HEVENER, A. L., KRUSZYNSKA, Y. T., NORMAN, R. A., SINHA, M. & OLEFSKY, J. M. 2002b. The effect of thiazolidinediones on plasma adiponectin levels in normal, obese, and type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes*, 51, 2968-74.
- ZAPOLSKA-DOWNAR, D., KOSMIDER, A. & NARUSZEWICZ, M. 2005. Trans fatty acids induce apoptosis in human endothelial cells. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 56, 611-25.
- ZHANG, D. X., FRYER, R. M., HSU, A. K., ZOU, A.-P., GROSS, G. J., CAMPBELL, W. B. & LI, P.-L. 2001. Production and metabolism of ceramide in normal and ischemic-reperfused myocardium of rats. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 96, 267-274.
- ZHENG, S., HOOS, L., COOK, J., TETZLOFF, G., DAVIS JR, H., VAN HEEK, M. & HWA, J. J. 2008. Ezetimibe improves high fat and cholesterol diet-induced non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in mice. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 584, 118-124.
- ZHOU, Y.-T., GRAYBURN, P., KARIM, A., SHIMABUKURO, M., HIGA, M., BAETENS, D., ORCI, L. & UNGER, R. H. 2000. Lipotoxic heart disease in obese rats: Implications for human obesity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97, 1784-1789.
- ZIERATH, J. R., HOUSEKNECHT, K. L., GNUDI, L. & KAHN, B. B. 1997. High-fat feeding impairs insulin-stimulated GLUT4 recruitment via an early insulin-signaling defect. *Diabetes*, 46, 215-223.